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Chapter 2 – resources beyond the Financial Accounting Research System (fars) 

TEACHING NOTES FOR INSTRUCTOR TO GUIDE DISCUSSION: 

Researching Accounting and Business Issues
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Introduction

This Discussion Guide is a resource for instructors, providing an overview of the materials in Chapter 2. Ideas are highlighted for initiating discussion related to each of the Exercises A through F. An important message is that many resources are accessible on the Internet and in university and public libraries that augment FARS and can be valuable when exploring a research question. 

Note that resources often go by different names over time, since one company may sell a database to another. For example, COMPUSTAT is a well-known resource for financial information but has at various times been associated with Standard & Poor's and a variety of PC versions, including "Standard & Poor's Research Insight Compustat PC." Universities may subscribe to such services as ReferenceUSA -- an infoUSA Company with details on Business (more than 14 million U.S. businesses), Canadian Business, and International Business. Quick searches can be performed and customized to focus on SIC codes, certain sizes of business, and various details on financial health, as examples.  Mergent Online has detailed information on 11,000 U.S. public companies. Thomson One Banker provides corporate, industry, and market financials.  Value Line Investment Survey and Analyzer describes approximately 1,700 stocks and over 90 industries, alongside the stock market and the economy. Dun's Regional Business Directory reflects the composition of local industry.  Information is accessible on both private and public companies. 

Encourage students to explore the resources to which they have access for analysis and integrate them into assignments in Chapter 2. Also point out to the students how valuable these tools will be throughout the business curriculum. Numerous Internet sources exist for financial information, including The Annual Reports Library at http://zpub.com/sf/arl/ that has been on the web since December 1997, but practically speaking, many company and organization web sites permit their annual reports to be accessed and downloaded in pdf files. 

Overview

Chapter 2 provides an overview of key resources that are relevant when researching accounting and business issues. Attention is accorded to hard-copy resources, the Internet, search engines, various web sites, software tools, key regulators' sites, and special-purpose databases. Blogs and Wikipedia are described to make students aware of how such resources differ from traditional published media.  (Note that in December 2006, the SEC was described as contemplating the role of blogs as information resources of use in the marketplace. Action was taken to permit certain distribution of information by registrants via the Internet. These are developments to watch!) 

Chapter 2 then sets forth a case involving a small company that had an initial public offering, and as a public company was the subject of a SEC matter related to its revenue recognition. Related exercises focus on how literature searches, search engines, Internet resources, EDGAR, and PCAOB sites, as well as special-purpose databases including FARS can provide information relevant to understanding the case setting and analyzing targeted questions. Exercise F tests students' ability to identify an acronym. Some of these acronyms are displayed within Chapters 1 and 2, but many will require that the student use the Internet to solve the crossword puzzle assignment "backwards."  

Instructors will want to point out that acronyms change over time as organizations change their names. As one example, the AIMR represented Association for Investment Management and Research but in May 2004, the AIMR was renamed the CFA Institute, where CFA relates to Chartered Financial Analysts. In December 2006, the NYSE merged with Euronet. 

Intermittently you will see a subhead label "IDEA:" within these Teaching Notes. These subheads are uniform, to facilitate your use of "find" capabilities in your word-processing software, for easily reviewing additional ideas of approaches to discussing issues that tie to recent events affecting the area on which the assignments are focusing or suggestions for effective approaches to elaborating on a particular topic.

Ideas for Initiating Discussion on Exercises A through F

•Exercise A - Perform Literature Searches
1. Locate any media coverage concerning TenFold Corporation and, in particular, the enforcement proceedings to which the December 2005 announcement relates. Based on your reading of the articles, explain the nature of the allegations that TenFold Corporation and its officers faced. 

At the sec.gov site, the enforcement release can be accessed.
This resource describes the various allegations. 


"U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C.

Litigation Release No. 17852 / November 20, 2002 

Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 1669 / November 20, 2002 

Securities and Exchange Commission v. TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton, Case No. 02-2284 JDB (D.D.C.)

The Securities and Ex[c]hange Commission (the "Commission") announced today that it filed a civil action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia against TenFold Corporation ("TenFold"), a software development company based in Draper, Utah, and four of TenFold's former officers or employees. In its complaint, the Commission alleges that TenFold, Gary D. Kennedy (TenFold's former president and CEO), Robert P. Hughes (TenFold's former CFO), Stanley G. Hanks (TenFold's former controller), and Wynn K. Clayton (the former controller of TenFold's insurance subsidiary) fraudulently misrepresented or failed to disclose important information about TenFold's contracts, operations, and earnings in certain of TenFold's 1999 and 2000 filings with the Commission. According to the complaint, each of the individual defendants also sold TenFold stock in February 2000, collectively reaping significant unjust profits. TenFold has consented to the entry of an injunction against it. 

Specifically, the Commission alleges that TenFold, Kennedy, and Hughes fraudulently failed to disclose the nature of two unusual transactions in TenFold's registration statement for its May 1999 initial public offering ("IPO"). For one of these transactions, TenFold allegedly manipulated the terms of a contract to recognize a significant portion of revenue earlier than it otherwise would have. Because of this acceleration of revenue, TenFold showed a profit rather than a loss in 1998, the year preceding its IPO. For the second transaction, TenFold agreed to allot an unusually large number of shares in its IPO to a significant customer in return for the customer's agreement to delete contractual language that restricted TenFold's ability to recognize revenue. As a result, TenFold was again able to accelerate its revenue recognition and show a profit rather than a loss, this time for the first quarter of 1999, the period immediately preceding its IPO. 

The Commission also alleges that TenFold, Kennedy, Hughes, and Hanks fraudulently failed to disclose in TenFold's 1999 annual report and first quarter 2000 quarterly report the ongoing and pervasive problems TenFold was experiencing with completing its large software development contracts. Among other things, TenFold allegedly misled investors by listing in these filings numerous risks as possible outcomes, rather than disclosing that many of these outcomes were actually occurring at the time of the filing. The Commission further claims that TenFold, Kennedy, and Hughes made false or misleading statements in a February 2000 telephone conference with analysts when they discussed TenFold's operations and financial results for the fourth quarter of 1999 and the 1999 fiscal year. 

According to the complaint, TenFold, through Kennedy, Hughes, Hanks, and Clayton, also materially overstated TenFold's earnings in press releases and filings related to TenFold's fourth quarter of 1999, 1999 fiscal year, and first quarter of 2000. These overstatements resulted from TenFold's use of incorrect data to calculate revenue recognized on three large projects. The Commission alleges that each of the individual defendants knew that this data was wrong and is responsible for the fraudulent financial reporting. The Commission further alleges that Hughes provided misleading information to TenFold's independent auditor when the firm audited TenFold's 1999 financial statements. 

In addition to fraud charges under Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, the Commission has charged TenFold with violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-13 and 13b2-1 thereunder. The Commission has charged Kennedy and Hughes with violations or aiding and abetting violations of the same provisions, except that Kennedy is not charged with violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, and Hughes is charged with violating Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act. Hanks and Clayton are also charged with violating or aiding and abetting violations of the same provisions alleged to have been violated by TenFold, except that they are not charged with violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act. The Commission seeks a final judgment enjoining the individual defendants from future violations of the provisions alleged to have been violated by each, ordering them to disgorge ill-gotten gains, and imposing civil monetary penalties. The Commission also seeks an order barring Kennedy and Hughes from serving as an officer or director of a public company. 

Simultaneously with the filing of the complaint, TenFold consented to the entry of a permanent injunction against future violations of the provisions it is alleged to have violated, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-13 and 13b2-1 thereunder. 

 SEC Complaint in this matter

http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17852.htm

Home | Previous Page

Modified: 11/21/2002"

By accessing NYTimes.com, one can obtain previews of articles on the 2005 events associated with the matter, such as: 

"S.E.C. Drops Case Against Software Executives" by Jenny Anderson on December 20, 2005 (Tuesday), Late Edition - Final, Section C, Page 4, Column 6, 551 words. The article reports that the SEC had dropped the lawsuit against TenFold Corp.'s former President and Chief Executive.

Related searches are suggested at the web site. 

The New York Times site has a Securities and Exchange Commission, U.S. category that can be searched. If this is done using the search phrase 'tenfold corporation' the following result appears (as of August 20, 2006):

"… Times Topics > Organizations > S > Securities And Exchange Commission E-MAIL Save Securities and Exchange Commission, U.S. Your search for tenfold corporation in Securities and Exchange Commission, U.S. returned 5 articles

ARTICLES ABOUT THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Page: 1 Newest First | Oldest First | Closest Match  S.E.C. Drops Case Against Software Executives

By JENNY ANDERSON

After more than five years of investigation, the Securities and Exchange Commission has dropped a lawsuit against the former president of the TenFold Corporation.

December 20, 2005 Business News

MORE ON SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND: ACCOUNTING AND ACCOUNTANTS, SECURITIES AND COMMODITIES VIOLATIONS, SUITS AND LITIGATION, KENNEDY, GARY, HUGHES, ROBERT P, HANKS, STANLEY G, TENFOLD CORP On Wall St., a Trade Dispute."

An August 2006 search of Forbes.com yielded the result:

 "Your search for tenfold corporation produced the following results: Forbes.com: 13  |  Other News Sources: 23" accompanied by the message: "Find information on Tenfold Corporation with operations and products, financials, officers, competitors and more at Hoover's." 

A search of findlaw.com will identify:

"<li>[11/20] 

<a href="http://classaction.findlaw.com/cases/securities/sec/sec1/files/2002/lr17852.html">LR-17852 TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton</a></li>."

Details on the case are likewise accessible. The following displays the way the Internet explorer produces information. This permits instructors to discuss the html format and the challenges in retaining information downloaded for report writing purposes.

"<!-- #include virtual="/includes.findlaw/hotspots_top.html" -->

<img src="http://images.findlaw.com/shared/spacer.gif" width="150" height="1"> 

<p>&nbsp;<font size=2><a href="/index.html">Home</a> &gt; <a href="/cases/securities/index.html">Securities</a> &gt; <a href="/cases/securities/sec/index.html">SEC Resources</a> &gt; </font></p>

<table cellpadding=5 width=100%>

<tr><td class="text">

<TITLE>FindLaw Class Action and Mass Tort Center: Securities: SEC Resources: </TITLE>

<!-- Begin text -->

<center><h3>U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

<br>Washington, D.C.</h3></center>

<h4>Litigation Release No.  17852 / November 20, 2002

</h4>

<P><h3>Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 1669 / November 20, 2002

<P><i>Securities and Exchange Commission v. TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton</i>, Case No.  02-2284 JDB (D.D.C.)</h3>

  <P>The Securities and Exhange Commission (the &quot;Commission&quot;) announced today that it filed a civil action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia against TenFold Corporation (&quot;TenFold&quot;), a software development company based in Draper, Utah, and four of TenFold's former officers or employees. … Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-13 and 13b2-1 thereunder. 

<P>

&nbsp;

<P>

<P>

<IMG SRC="http://www.sec.gov//images/arrowright_dkblue.gif" WIDTH=10 HEIGHT=9 ALT="" BORDER="0">  <A href="http://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp17852.htm">SEC Complaint in this matter</A></P>

</td></tr>

</table>

<br><br>

<!-- Left Content: End -->"

While search engines are discussed in a separate exercise, by using the "top 5" search engine resource and entering "tenfold corporation accounting litigation" the links provided include the following:

" Web  Results 1 - 10 of about 34,700 for tenfold corporation accounting litigation sec. (0.27 seconds)  

TenFold Corporation, et al.: Lit. Rel. No. 17852 / November 20, 2002TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton, ... http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17852.htm ...

ftp.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17852.htm - 9k - Cached - Similar pages 

Keker & Van Nest LLPIn Re Enron Securities Litigation, H-01-324 (SD Texas) and related cases. We represent the former Chief Financial Officer of TenFold Corporation in SEC v. ...

www.kvn.com/prac_securities.php - 23k - Cached - Similar pages 

US Securities And Exchange Commission - The New York Times ...Your search for SUITS AND LITIGATION in Securities and Exchange Commission, ... dropped a lawsuit against the former president of the TenFold Corporation. ...

topics.nytimes.com/.../index.html?query=SUITS%20AND%20LITIGATION&field=des&match=exact - 59k - Cached - Similar pages 

Accounting and Accountants - News - Times Topics - The New York ...MORE ON ACCOUNTING AND ACCOUNTANTS AND: SUITS AND LITIGATION, ... Commission has dropped a lawsuit against the former president of the TenFold Corporation. ...

topics.nytimes.com/top/reference/timestopics/subjects/a/accounting_and_accountants/index.html?query=SECUR... - 62k - Aug 18, 2006 - Cached - Similar pages

[ More results from topics.nytimes.com ] 

Securities Litigation News - 11/08/2002New SEC Enforcement Division Litigation Releases, Administrative Proceeding ... TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, ...

www.cybersecuritieslaw.com/hot_issues/archive/sec_update11-22-02.htm - 23k - Cached - Similar pages 

Securities Litigation News - 11/08/2002TenFold Corp. Reportedly Settles Lawsuit Filed by SEC in DDC Alleging Company "Failed to ... Investors Should Pay Attention To Accounting Reform Moves, ...

www.cybersecuritieslaw.com/hot_issues/archive/sec_update11-21-02.htm - 15k - Cached - Similar pages 

SEC Drops Case Against TenFold Execs - - CFO.comIn the second, the SEC alleged, TenFold allot an unusually large number of ... was based on new evidence that emerged during the course of the litigation, ...

www.cfo.com/article.cfm/5327329/c_5327347?f=TodayInFinance_Inside - 51k - Cached - Similar pages 

Securities Regulation & Law Report Index-SummarySpecial litigation committee's motion to stay books and records inspection action pending probe, ... TenFold Corp. execs, SEC charges dropped (DDC), 26 ...

www.bna.com/current/srl/topr.htm - 27k - Cached - Similar pages 

Press releaseOf the seven named customer litigation matters reported in the 2000 Form 10-K, ... TenFold Corporation (Nasdaq: TENF) is a provider of the Universal ...

www.10fold.com/pressrelease.htm?Row=R3670 - 23k - Cached - Similar pages 

e-Corporate Compliance NewsHowever, last week the SEC’s five commissioners ordered that charges be dropped against former TenFold president and CEO Gary D. Kennedy, former CFO Robert ...

www.corporatecompliance.org/CCN/ccn_vII47.htm - 17k - Cached - Similar pages"
Recap: The SEC release makes reference to the disclosure of contracts, the acceleration of revenue, the allotment of shares on an initial public offering (IPO), false or  misleading conference calls, and problems with the completion of software development.

2. Perform a literature search to identify related articles on TenFold Corporation surrounding the events described, as well as related to performance by the company in the aftermath of this media coverage. Provide citations for what you deem to be particularly useful articles for your research effort. Was a restatement considered or recorded by TenFold Corporation? How does the setting compare or contrast with the various restatements reflected in the GAO reports? Explain why you believe the events unfolded in the manner you recount, particularly the dismissal of the case on the eve of trial.

The excite.com site is an example of where TENFOLD CORP (OTC BB) can be searched to identify Recent Headlines.  

A search on the Internet can lead to identification of the SEC NEWS DIGEST, Issue 2005-244 (December 21, 2005) which states: 

"COMMISSION VOLUNTARILY DISMISSES ALL CLAIMS AGAINST FORMER OFFICERS OF TENFOLD CORPORATION

   The Commission announced that on December 19 the U.S.  District Court for the District of Utah entered an order dismissing with prejudice all remaining claims in this action against defendants Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks and Wynn K. Clayton.  The District Court's order was based upon the Commission's motion to voluntarily dismiss its claims against these defendants.  For further information, see Litigation Release No. 17852 (Nov. 20, 2002). [SEC v. TenFold Corp., et al., (D. Utah 2:03-CV-00442 TC)] (LR-19504)"

The company's web site has a number of press releases available, reporting diverse events.

TenFold's 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 provides the following exposition which includes mention of no restatement being required by the SEC:

" Business History 
 

We founded TenFold in 1993. We spent the first several years primarily developing our patented EnterpriseTenFold technology. In 1996, we began using EnterpriseTenFold to build applications for customers. In 1999, we completed our initial public offering. In 1999 and early 2000, we tested a new business model which included selling large custom application development projects with a unique-in-the-industry “money-back guarantee”, and simultaneously structuring the company to launch and build on an accelerated time frame, eight separate vertical market facing applications product companies. Beginning in 2000, we experienced several difficult quarters and faced significant financial, legal, and operational issues. We incurred substantial, increasing losses from operations in the last three quarters of 2000. 
 

Starting in the second half of 2000 and continuing through today, we have taken steps to refocus TenFold to its roots as a software applications platform technology company, deal with the liabilities that arose as a result of the interim business model, and restore the company to sound business health. 
 

During 2001, we refocused TenFold back to being a technology company. We significantly reduced our operating costs, improved customer satisfaction, and sold additional products and services to existing customers. We suffered a setback following the events of September 11, 2001, after which we lost two of our largest customers and restructured TenFold again. In November 2001, we entered into an expanded relationship with Allstate Insurance Company (“Allstate”), which represented our first significant transaction under our new business model. 
 

During 2002, we continued our business turnaround. We significantly reduced quarterly cash outflows by renegotiating several major property leases, retiring our entire bank debt at a significant discount and, continuing operational restructuring to better align capacity with cash flow. We continued to settle litigation matters related to our prior business model, entered into an agreement to settle a shareholder lawsuit that subsequently settled in 2003; and, concluded a settlement with the Securities and Exchange Commission without paying any fine or civil penalty or needing to restate our financial statements. 
 

We established strategic distribution alliances and value added resellers (“VAR”) relationships to accelerate and broaden market distribution of EnterpriseTenFold at a significantly lower cost and greater speed than we could achieve on our own. We entered into distribution relationships with Perot Systems Corporation, Sapient Corporation and youDevise Limited (a UK company). We established VAR relationships with PCX Systems, LLC (a subsidiary of Cedars-Sinai Medical Center), Vertex (a UK-based utility sector customer management and billing company), and Redi2. In late 2002, Vertex completed its first sale of a TenFold-powered application. 
 

In 2003, we continued our business turnaround. We strengthened our balance sheet by retiring our remaining equipment leasing debt at a substantial discount in February 2003, and in that same month obtained an investment of $700,000 by Robert W. Felton, a long-time TenFold director. In December 2003, we closed a private placement of 5 million shares of restricted common stock, with no warrants, which we sold at $2.00 per share (before related fees and expenses). 
 

During Q3 2003, we began shipping our first major new product, Tsunami (a single user PC version of EnterpriseTenFold), which we make available free of charge over the internet to any person who wants to try it, and we announced the release of the next generation of our EnterpriseTenFold product. 
 

We continued to build sales and marketing processes to prepare for our emergence as a growth technology company through three complementary sales and marketing related initiatives. We continued to develop relationships with VAR’s, systems integrators and software distributors. We prototyped a tactical sales model based on small, initial proof of concept projects to introduce new customers to TenFold. We encouraged developers to install our free-of-charge, single-user version to prove our TenFold technology claims for themselves."
The 10-K For the year ended December 31, 2005 (filed 3/31/2006) includes the following account of litigation:

"We are involved in one litigation matter and in settlement discussions with our prior CEO, and may in the future be involved in further litigation or disputes that may be costly and time-consuming, and if we suffer adverse outcomes, our operating results could suffer.
We are involved in a class action suit against more than 300 issuers involving the underwriters of those issuers’ initial public offerings. Although we currently expect to resolve this matter without significant cost to TenFold, we may in the future face other litigation or disputes with customers, employees, business partners, stockholders, or other third parties. Such litigation or disputes could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources that would harm our business. An unfavorable outcome of this matter may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. 
For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized estimated severance related charges related to the departure of our prior CEO totaling $670,000, including an estimated option modification charge of $157,000; which represents our best estimate as the separation terms have not been finalized. The parties are in settlement discussions but a settlement has not been reached. An unfavorable outcome of this matter could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. 
See Note 9 “Legal Proceedings and Contingencies” of Notes to Financial Statements for more information concerning our litigation and disputes." 
Proceeding to Note 9, the following discussion appears:

"9. Legal Proceedings and Contingencies 

Unresolved Stockholder Matter 

On November 6, 2001, a class action complaint alleging violations of the federal securities laws was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants TenFold, certain of our officers and directors, and certain underwriters of our initial public offering. An amended complaint was filed on April 24, 2002. TenFold and certain of our officers and directors are named in the suit pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act 1934 on the basis of an alleged failure to disclose the underwriters’ alleged compensation and manipulative practices. Similar complaints have been filed against over 300 other issuers that have had initial public offerings since 1998. The individual officer and director defendants entered into tolling agreements and, pursuant to a Court Order dated October 9, 2002, were dismissed from the litigation without prejudice. On February 19, 2003, the Court granted a Motion to Dismiss the Rule 10b-5 claims against 116 defendants, including TenFold. On June 27, 2003, our Board of Directors approved a proposed partial settlement with the plaintiffs in this matter. The settlement would provide, among other things, a release of TenFold and of the individual defendants for the alleged wrongful conduct in the Amended Complaint. We agreed to undertake other responsibilities under the partial settlement, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release certain potential claims we may have against our underwriters. In June 2004, a motion for preliminary approval of the settlement was filed with the Court. The underwriters filed a memorandum with the Court opposing preliminary approval of the settlement. The court granted preliminary approval of the settlement on February 15, 2005, subject to certain modifications. On August 31, 2005, the court issued a preliminary order further approving the modifications to the settlement and certifying the settlement classes. The court also appointed the Notice Administrator for the settlement and ordered that notice of the settlement be distributed to all settlement class members beginning on November 15, 2005. The settlement fairness hearing has been set for April 24, 2006. Following the hearing, if the court determines that the settlement is fair to the class members, the settlement will be approved. There can be no assurance that this proposed settlement would be approved and implemented in its current form, or at all. Any direct financial impact of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by our insurers. At this point, we do not believe that this lawsuit will have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. Accordingly, no related losses have been provided for in our accompanying financial statements."

TenFold Corporation's 8-K dated January 9, 2006 and accessible at the sec.gov site stated:

"Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers 

Effective January 4, 2006, the Board of Directors of TenFold Corporation appointed Mr. Robert P. Hughes as its Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Mr. Hughes, age 46, has served as TenFold’s Chief of Staff since November 2005. He has also served as its Senior Vice President Finance since December 2000 and its Chief Accounting Officer since May 2003. From September 2000 until December 2000 he served as Chief Financial Officer of a TenFold subsidiary. From February 1995 until August 2000, he served as TenFold’s Chief Financial Officer. 
 
In connection with his earlier employment with TenFold, Mr. Hughes was one of several defendants named in a civil action filed by the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2002 alleging certain violations of federal securities laws. On December 16, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss all of its claims against Mr. Hughes and the other defendants. On December 19, 2005, the United States District Court for the District of Utah entered an order dismissing with prejudice all claims in this action. Case Number: 2:03cv442 TC D.Utah." 
Note: The GAO database includes a company from the SIC 7371 named LEVEL 8 SYS INC. Its sales were $22.659 million, cost of sales $26.889 million, gross profit -$4.23 million, SGA expense $33.877 million, Basic EPS Including Extraordinary Items -$6.65 and total assets of $35.744 million. See United States General Accounting Office (GAO), Report to the Chairman, Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs, U.S. Senate, Financial Statement Restatements--Trends, Market Impacts, Regulatory Responses, and Remaining Challenges (October 2002), GAO-03-138. Data published by the Government Accountability Office (GAO) details 919 restatements from 1997 to June of 2002. The GAO reported the reason for restating their financial statements, identifying nine categories. Those entities for which management moves are also cited in the media coverage of restatements tend to be more often associated with revenue recognition, acquisitions, in-process research and development  (IPRD), restructuring, and related parties -- highly judgmental areas of practice. They are less often associated with securities, costs and expenses, or reclassifications. In December 1999, the SEC issued SAB No. 101 on Revenue Recognition -- widely cited as a key reason for restatements but arguably different in kind. Although the GAO report explicitly states that it decided to include such restatements since the SEC contends its SAB did not alter but merely clarified existing guidance (GAO 2002: 5, fn 6), that is not a widely held belief in the profession. The following discussion of SAB 101 needs to be placed within the then existing body of pronouncements. Note that FAS 154 has succeeded then applicable APB 20 and that Preliminary Views documents have emerged associated with the Conceptual Framework. Yet, the following discussion should prove useful background for class discussion of the historical perspective.

Certain aspects of the SAB draw on positions found in the FASB's Concepts Statements. Those Statements were promulgated after certain practices that are at odds with various provisions of those Statements had been developed and were already being widely applied. The Concepts Statements are not at a higher level of GAAP than widely recognized and prevalent practice; consequently established practice did not change… in some instances practice has evaluated the effect of a customer acceptance clause on a probability basis, and when acceptance has been deemed probable, the presence of such a clause has been deemed to have no effect on the timing of revenue recognition. The SAB, on the other hand, draws on the Concepts Statements' discussion… and concludes…satisfaction…is often necessary to demonstrate that the earnings process is complete."

SAB 101, Topic 13A, Question 1 describes the circumstance: 

"Facts: Company has product available to ship to customers prior to the end of its current fiscal quarter. Customer Beta places an order for the product, and Company A delivers the product prior to the end of its current fiscal quarter. Company A's normal and customary business practice for this class of customer is to enter into a written sales agreement that requires the signatures of the authorized representatives of the Company and its customer to be binding. Company A prepares a written sales agreement, and its authorized representative signs the agreement before the end of the quarter. However, Customer Beta does not sign the agreement because Customer Beta is awaiting the requisite approval by its legal department. Customer Beta's purchasing department has orally agreed to the sale and stated that it is highly likely the contract will be approved the first week of Company A's next fiscal quarter. 

Question: May Company A recognize the revenue in the current fiscal quarter for the sale of the product to Customer Beta when (1) the product is delivered by the end of its current fiscal quarter and (2) the final written sales agreement is executed by Customer Beta's authorized representative within a few days after the end of the current fiscal quarter?

Interpretive Response: No. Generally the staff believes that, in view of Company A's business practice of requiring a written sales agreement for this class of customer, persuasive evidence of an arrangement would require a final agreement that has been executed by the properly authorized personnel of the customer. In the staff's view, Customer Beta's execution of the sales agreement after the end of the quarter causes the transaction to be considered a transaction of the subsequent period. Further, if an arrangement is subject to subsequent approval (e.g., by the management committee or board of directors) or execution of another agreement, revenue recognition would be inappropriate until that subsequent approval or agreement is complete.

Customary business practices and processes for documenting sales transactions vary among companies and industries. Business practices and processes may also vary within individual companies (e.g., based on the class of customer, nature of product or service, or other distinguishable factors). If a company does not have a standard or customary business practice of relying on written contracts to document a sales arrangement, it usually would be expected to have other forms of written or electronic evidence to document the transaction. For example, a company may not use written contracts but instead may rely on binding purchase orders from third parties or on-line authorizations that include the terms of the sale and that are binding on the customer. In that situation, that documentation could represent persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

The staff is aware that sometimes a customer and seller enter into "side" agreements to a master contract that effectively amend the master contract. Registrants should ensure that appropriate policies, procedures, and internal controls exist and are properly documented so as to provide reasonable assurances that sales transactions, including those affected by side agreements, are properly accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to ensure compliance with Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (i.e., the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act). Side agreements could include cancellation, termination, or other provisions that affect revenue recognition. The existence of a subsequently executed side agreement may be an indicator that the original agreement was not final and revenue recognition was not appropriate." 

SAB 101 in its footnotes (#40) states:

"40. Paragraph 8 of SFAS No. 48 notes various factors that may impair the ability to make a reasonable estimate of returns, including the lack of sufficient historical experience. The staff typically expects that the historical experience be based on the particular registrant's historical experience for a service and/or a class of customer. In general, the staff typically expects a start-up company, a company introducing new services, or a company introducing services to a new class of customer to have at least two years of experience to be able to make reasonable and reliable estimates."

The amendment to Question 2 of Section B of Topic 13 of the Staff Accounting Bulletin Series appeared in SAB 101A:

"Question: Will the staff expect retroactive changes by registrants to comply with the accounting described in this bulletin?

Interpretive Response: All registrants are expected to apply the accounting and disclosures described in this bulletin. The staff, however, will not object if registrants that have not applied this accounting do not restate prior financial statements provided they report a change in accounting principle in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, no later than the first fiscal quarter of the fiscal year beginning after December 15, 1999, except that registrants with fiscal years that beginning between December 16, 1999 and March 15, 2000, may report a change in accounting principle no later than their second fiscal quarter of the fiscal year beginning after December 15, 1999 in accordance with FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. In periods subsequent to transition, registrants should disclose the amount of revenue (if material to income before income taxes) recognized in those periods that was included in the cumulative effect adjustment. If a registrant files financial statements with the Commission before applying the guidance in this bulletin, disclosures similar to those described in Staff Accounting Bulleting Topic 1-M, Disclosure of the Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards Will Have on the Financial Statements of a Registrant When Adopted in a Future Period, should be provided. With regard to question 10 of Topic 13-A and Topic 8-A regarding income statement presentation, the staff would normally expect retroactive application to all periods presented unless the effect of applying the guidance herein is immaterial.

However, if registrants have not previously complied with generally accepted accounting principles, for example, by recording revenue for products prior to delivery that did not comply with the applicable bill-and-hold guidance, those registrants should apply the guidance in APB Opinion No. 20 for the correction of an error.SAB 101A, Footnote 1 In addition, registrants should be aware that the Commission may take enforcement action where a registrant in prior financial statements has violated the antifraud or disclosure provisions of the securities laws with respect to revenue recognition.

SAB 101A, Footnote 1--APB Opinion No. 20, par. 13 and par. 36-37 describe and provide the accounting and disclosure requirements applicable to the correction of an error in previously issued financial statements. Because the term "error" as used in APB Opinion No. 20 includes "oversight or misuse of facts that existed at the time that the financial statements were prepared," that term includes both unintentional errors as well as intentional fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets as described in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit."

SAB No. 101B, dated June 26, 2000, stated in its summary:

"Since the issuance of SAB 101 and SAB101A, the staff has continued to receive requests from a number of groups asking for additional time to determine the effect, if any, on registrant's revenue recognition practices. This staff accounting bulletin delays the implementation date of SAB 101 until no later than the fourth fiscal quarter of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1999." 

The timeline for the original issuance of SAB 101 and its related amendments and frequently asked questions (FAQs) follows:

[image: image2.wmf]TIMELINE OF REVENUE RECOGNITION GUIDANCE ASSOCIATED WITH SOFTWARE

ARB No. 45

|

Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts

|

issued October 1955; effective October 1955

FAS No. 48

|

Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists

|

issued June 1981

SOP 81-1

|

Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts

|

issued July 1981

FASB Concepts Statement No. 5

|

Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises

|

issued December 1984

FASB Concepts Statement No. 6

|

Elements of Financial Statements a replacement of FASB Concepts Statement No. 3 

|

issued December 1985 (incorporating an amendment of FASB Concepts Statement No. 2)

SOP 91-1

|

Software Revenue Recognition

|

issued December 1991

SOP 97-2 (supersedes SOP 91-1)

|

Software Revenue Recognition

|

issued October 1997; effective in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997

SOP 98-4

|

Deferral of the Effective Date of a Provision of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition

|

issued March 1998

SOP 98-9

|

Modification of SOP 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," With Respect to Certain Transactions

|

issued December 1998

EITF Issue No. 00-3

|

Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements That Include the Right to Use 

|

Software Stored on Another Entity's Hardware; discussed January 19-20, 2000; March 16, 2000

EITF Issue No. 00-21

|

Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables

|

discussed July 19-20 2000 through March 20-21, 2002


The challenges that evolve from SAB 101's application to SOP 97-2 involve elevation of the form of the transaction over such substance. "The quality of reliability and, in particular, of representational faithfulness leaves no room for accounting representations that subordinate substance to form." (Statement of Concept 2, paragraph 160) "Adequate definitions are the starting point.  They provide a basis for assessing, for example, the extent to which a particular application meets the qualitative characteristic of representational faithfulness, which includes the notion of reporting economic substance rather than legal form (Concepts Statement 2, paragraphs 63-80 and 160)." Concepts Statement 6, paragraph 59. Depending on the perceptions and stance taken by management, the board, the audit committee, auditors, and other potential advisors, entities have sometimes restated, and at other times have prospectively embraced the SAB 101 guidance. Strategies are likely to have been affected by perceptions as to regulators' actions, the relative conservatism of decision makers, and the scale of the operations affected by the revenue recognition aspects that shifted due to SAB 101 mandates. An irony of the SAB 101 guidance is that it facilitates more control over when revenue is recorded than would result from an evaluation based on economic substance. For example, if a company wished to postpone revenue recognition for itself or another party to a transaction, it need only "sit on the fully negotiated contract" by delaying the signing.

For a discussion of differences in judgment that can arise, see "Skinner's "Interpretation Panel" -- A Means to Balance "Power"" by Wanda A. Wallace, Canadian Accounting Perspectives, Forum in Honour of Ross MacGregor Skinner, FCA, refereed Commentaries section (Vol. 4, No. 2, 2005), pp. 301-20 (includes summary in French on pages 315-318).

Dismissal of the case could have involved considerations of the relative strength of the case, the timing of the case during the holidays, the difference in error and judgment assessments, and the distinction between entity responsibility and assignment of personal responsibility. Discussion should encourage expression of various hypotheses and whether such elements ought to influence activities of regulators and judicial officers.

3. Access Wikipedia and look up an item that would appear to have relevance to the issues involved in the TenFold Corporation research effort. Then look up a subject about which you feel personally well versed. Drawing upon these two results, share your assessment as to the usefulness of this interactive resource and why caution is advised.

Instructors may wish to list the topics the students felt personally well versed about as a starting point for discussion. In critiques of what each one found on their related subject, adjectives will likely emerge that range from accurate to inaccurate, objective to subjective, and complete to incomplete. The positive take on such resources is they represent the result of mass collaboration. However, who is collaborating and the intent of the collaborator are issues to raise. This is an opportunity to discuss the role of quality control in the historical publishing business. Some students may point out the scandals that involved the New York Times reporter and various events involving withdrawal of books by publishers when nonfiction accounts are discovered to be fiction. The point of exploring these ideas is to encourage all readers to be skeptical as they refer to a single source and to exert efforts to cross-corroborate information. Topics relevant to Tenfold would range from initial public offerings to SEC investigations, and encompass general public company concerns alongside industry matters.

•Exercise B - Compare Search Engines
1. Access three different search engines and perform a word search on TenFold Corporation. Indicate how many hits are identified. Peruse the identified links and discuss the extent to which the first 10 sites identified prove to be relevant. Give a Web address for one source identified via the search engine that you find of relevance to your research.  Understand that search engines can change over time, as can the names of web sites; links may be added to resources and databases may change hands through acquisitions and mergers. Browsers from search engines can facilitate locating an updated site that varies in the format of the Internet address, as such change occurs.

A Metasearch on TenFold Corporation performed on August 20, 2006 resulted in the following results:

" Sign in  

    Web    Images    VideoNew!    News    Maps    more »Books

Froogle

Groups

even more »  

    Advanced Search

  Preferences     

Web  Results 1 - 20 of about 508,000 for tenfold corporation. (0.66 seconds)  

TenFoldLooking for TenFold in a nutshell? Look here! TenFold Benefits. Applications developer ... Copyright 2006 TenFold Corporation. Terms of Use · Privacy Policy.

www.10fold.com/ - 20k - Aug 19, 2006 - Cached - Similar pages

Request TenFold White Paper - http://www.10fold.com/requestwhitepaper.htm

News & Events - http://www.10fold.com/pressreleases.htm

Applications - http://www.10fold.com/applications.htm

Company - http://www.10fold.com/abouttenfold.htm

More results from www.10fold.com » 

TenFold Corporation - Securities Class Action<b>Summary:</b> According to a Press Release dated November 6, 2001, a complaint was filed alleging violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the ...

securities.stanford.edu/1021/TENF01/ - 22k - Cached - Similar pages 

[PDF] UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT TenFold Corporation SOUTHERN DISTRICT ...File Format: PDF/Adobe Acrobat - View as HTML

"Offering") of 4700000 shares of TenFold Corporation ("TenFold" or the ... At the time of the Offering, Defendant TenFold was a Delaware corporation with ...

securities.stanford.edu/1021/TENF01/20020419_r01c_019797.pdf - Similar pages 

TENF.OB: Profile for TENFOLD CORP - Yahoo! FinanceSee the company profile for TENFOLD CORP (TENF.OB) including business summary, industry/sector information, number of employees, business summary, ...

biz.yahoo.com/p/t/tenf.ob.html - 26k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corporation Company Profile - Yahoo! FinanceHeadlines for TenFold Corporation. •, TenFold Is Featured on Market News First PR Newswire - Tue Aug 8. •, TENFOLD CORP /UT Files SEC form 8-K, ...

biz.yahoo.com/ic/59/59355.html - 28k - Cached - Similar pages

[ More results from yahoo.com ] 

SOA Company TenFold Appoints Steve Barclay As Director, Enterprise ...TenFold Corporation, provider of EnterpriseTenFold SOA platform for building and implementing SOA-compliant enterprise applications, announced the ...

webservices.sys-con.com/read/235404.htm - 79k - Cached - Similar pages 

Alacra Store - TenFold Corporation Company SnapshotTenFold Corporation Company Profile - View the latest news, market research, credit research, and investment research on TenFold Corporation.

www.alacrastore.com/storecontent/companysnapshot/2100455 - 59k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corporation, et al.: Lit. Rel. No. 17852 / November 20, 2002TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton, Case No. 02-2284 JDB (DDC) ...

ftp.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17852.htm - 9k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corp. NewsTenFold Corp. News. http://www.tenfold.com ... Technology Marketing Corporation, One Technology Plaza, Norwalk, CT 06854 USA Ph: 800-243-6002, 203-852-6800; ...

www.tmcnet.com/tmcnet/snapshots/snapshots.aspx?Company=TenFold+Corp. - 244k - Aug 19, 2006 - Cached - Similar pages 

JavaScriptSearch News: SOA Company TenFold Featured on Market News ...JavaScript Search is your source for hundreds of free JavaScripts, Ajax and JavaScript related information, including scripts, tutorials, FAQ's, tips, ...

www.javascriptsearch.com/news/press/060809TenFold.html - 34k - Cached - Similar pages 

InfoWorld: Product Guide: KnowNow Enterprise Syndication Server ...TenFold and EnterpriseTenFold are trademarks of TenFold Corporation. ... CONTACT: Sally N. White of TenFold Corporation, +1-801-619-8232, swhite@tenfold.com ...

www.infoworld.com/.../product_51006.html?view=8&curNodeId=96&prId=LATU09911042006-1 - Similar pages 

InfoWorld: Product Guide: KnowNow Enterprise Syndication Server ...TenFold and EnterpriseTenFold SOA are trademarks of TenFold Corporation. ... Sally N. White TenFold Corporation 801-619-8232 swhite@tenfold.com ...

www.infoworld.com/.../product_51006.html?view=8&curNodeId=173&prId=LATU08913062006-1 - Similar pages 

Snapshot Page -- Tenfold CorporationTenfold Corporation. The Company's principal activity is to provide ... This analysis report compares Tenfold Corporation with other companies in closely ...

www.corporateinformation.com/corpinfo.asp?cusip=88033A103 - 24k - Cached - Similar pages 

Tenfold Corporation Company Profile - TENF UNITED STATES Market ...Tenfold Corporation. The Company's principal activity is to provide EnterpriseTenFoldTM for building complex, Service Oriented Architecture ('SOA') ...

wrightreports.ecnext.com/coms2/reportdesc_COMPANY_88033A103 - 29k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corporation Jobs: Vault Job & Employment ProfilesGet info on jobs at TenFold Corporation. TenFold Corporation employee surveys give you the inside scoop on jobs and employment at TenFold Corporation.

www.vault.com/jobs-company/TenFold-Corporation.html - 9k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corporation Jobs and Career Information: VaultTenFold Corporation (null) jobs and career information. Get employee surveys, insider job information on salaries, interviews, internships, ...

www.vault.com/companies/company_main.jsp?co_page=1&product_id=7682&ch_id=341 - 34k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold Corporation Company PageTenFold Corporation (TENF.OB), Investor Relations Web site ... 2006 The Thomson Corporation. All Rights Reserved. Terms of Use. Privacy Statement. ...

thestreet.ccbn.com/company.asp?ticker=TENF.OB&coid=105347&client=thestreet - 39k - Cached - Similar pages 

Earnings.com: Event CalendarOB, Q2 2006, Q2 2006 TenFold Corporation Earnings Release, n/a, n/a, n/a, 1-Aug-06 ... OB, Q4 2005, Q4 2005 TenFold Corporation Earnings Release ...

www.companyboardroom.com/company.asp?ticker=TENF.OB&coid=105347&client=cb - 38k - Cached - Similar pages 

Accounting and Accountants - News - Times Topics - The New York ...Your search for TENFOLD CORP in Accounting and Accountants returned 1 articles ... a lawsuit against the former president of the TenFold Corporation. ...

topics.nytimes.com/.../index.html?query=TENFOLD%20CORP&field=org&match=exact - 38k - Cached - Similar pages 

Tenfold Corporation Information | Business.comTenfold Corporation. The Group's Principal Activity is to Provide Universal Application Tm, a Software Applications Platform That Accelerates Development ...

www.business.com/.../computers_and_software/software_applications/custom_applications/tenfold_corporation/ - 33k - Cached - Similar pages Try your search again on Google Book Search"

Continuing with the Top 5 Search Engines, the results that follow the above include:

" Web  Results 21 - 30 of about 508,000 for tenfold corporation. (0.13 seconds)  

Robert W. Felton Elected Chairman of TenFoldTenFold and EnterpriseTenFold are trademarks of TenFold Corporation. All other trademarks and registered trademarks are the property of their respective ...

www.lexdon.com/article/Robert_W._Felton_Elected_Chairman/19204.html - 17k - Cached - Similar pages 

[PDF] TENFOLD CORPORATION CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except ...File Format: PDF/Adobe Acrobat - View as HTML

TENFOLD CORPORATION. CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS. (in thousands, except per share data). (unaudited). Three Months Ended. June 30,. Six Months Ended ...

www.10fold.com/documents/2006Q2EarningsTable.pdf - Similar pages

[ More results from www.10fold.com ] 

IBISWorld US Tenfold Corporation Company ReportIBISWorld provides high-quality industry market research analysis, reports and publications. Our reports include market research on the size, trends, ...

www.ibisworld.com/enterprise/default.aspx?entid=41297 - 39k - Cached - Similar pages 

TenFold and Perot Systems to Deliver New Suite of Patient Care and ...About TenFold Healthcare TenFold Healthcare, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of TenFold Corporation, provides large-scale e-business applications for the ...

www.prnewswire.com/cgi-bin/stories.pl?ACCT=104&STORY=/www/story/04-11-2000/0001188413&EDATE= - 13k - Cached - Similar pages 

PR Newswire Business News: ZapThink Publishes Report on TenFold ...TenFold and EnterpriseTenFold are registered trademarks of TenFold Corporation. All other trademarks and registered trademarks are the property of their ...

news.moneycentral.msn.com/category/topicarticle.asp?feed=PR&Date=20060816&ID=5952869&topic=TO... - 19k - Aug 19, 2006 - Cached - Similar pages 

US Securities And Exchange Commission - The New York Times ...Your search for TENFOLD CORP in Securities and Exchange Commission, ... has dropped a lawsuit against the former president of the TenFold Corporation. ...

topics.nytimes.com/.../index.html?query=TENFOLD%20CORP&field=org&match=exact - 47k - Cached - Similar pages

[ More results from topics.nytimes.com ] 

Marketing Press Releases: Ten Fold CorporationTenFold and EnterpriseTenFold are trademarks of TenFold Corporation. Allother trademarks and registered trademarks are the property of theirrespective ...

www.linesave.co.uk/marketing/2005/10/ten-fold-corporation.html - 15k - Cached - Similar pages 

Line56.com | E-Business Company Profiles - TenFold CorporationTenFold Corporation a provider of large-scale e-business applications for customers in banking, communications, energy, healthcare,i nsurance, ...

www.line56.com/directory/company.asp?CompanyID=2485 - 44k - Cached - Similar pages 

[PDF] TENFOLD CORPORATION Moderator: Robert Felton May 15, 2006 2:00 pm ...File Format: PDF/Adobe Acrobat - View as HTML

and welcome to the TenFold Corporation Q1 Earnings Teleconference Call. At the request of the TenFold Corporation, this conference is being recorded ...

www.tenfold.com/documents/2006Q1Transcript.pdf - Similar pages 

TENF.OB - TenFold Corporation Stock - Talkgold HYIP Investment ForumDefault TENF.OB - TenFold Corporation Stock. Stock Symbol : TENF.OB Company Name : TenFold Corporation Sector : Technology ...

www.talkgold.com/forum/r63220-.html - 44k - Cached - Similar pages" 

These links provide added detail on the SEC matter, financial disclosures by TenFold Corporation, various teleconference calls, and media coverage on the industry and the company's operations. (An example of a February 1, 2005 teleconference call transcript can be found in the TenFold 8-K filed February 3, 2005, retrievable from sec.gov.) 

2. Use the search engines to see if they can assist you in finding Litigation Release No. 17852 (Nov. 20, 2002). [SEC v. TenFold Corp., et al., (D. Utah 2:03-CV-00442 TC)] (LR-19504).


As identified under #1 of this exercise, the search engine includes the entry:

"TenFold Corporation, et al.: Lit. Rel. No. 17852 / November 20, 2002TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P. Hughes, Stanley G. Hanks, and Wynn K. Clayton, Case No. 02-2284 JDB (DDC) ...

ftp.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/lr17852.htm - 9k - Cached - Similar pages" 

3. Identify whether other search engine sites are accessible that provide relevant information.

The example included in these teaching notes under #1 of this exercise draws upon the search capabilities of the Top 5 Search Engines. For comparison, students should be encouraged to use each of the five in isolation and other capabilities in Chapter 2 to explore their relative power and the consistency of results across various search engines.

To extend the search results for such comparison, consider the following:

" Web  Results 31 - 40 of about 508,000 for tenfold corporation. (0.16 seconds)  

TenFold Corporation Business Contacts & Company InformationJigsaw's Online Business Directory offers company & business contact information at VP, Director and Manager Level with complete contact info including ...

www.jigsaw.com/TenFold-Corporation/ID203701/company-information.xhtml - 10k - Cached - Similar pages 

UCSB Commencement SpeakersFrom 2001-2005, she was president and chief operating officer of TenFold Corporation, a $100-million enterprise software company that had failed ...

www.ia.ucsb.edu/commencement/2006/speakers.shtml - 34k - Cached - Similar pages 

WiLife Inc. - Management TeamPrior to NextPage, Mark held numerous positions at TenFold Corporation, an enterprise software application developer. While at TenFold, and just prior to ...

www.wilife.com/Company/Management.aspx - 62k - Cached - Similar pages 

HP Alpha systems - AlphaServer GS Series Quotes: TenFold CorporationTenFold Corporation (Nasdaq: TENF) is a leading provider of large-scale e-business applications for customers in banking, communications, energy, ...

h18008.www1.hp.com/alphaserver/gs/quotes/tenfold.html - 48k - Cached - Similar pages 

IRA Corporate Monitor Demo Report on Tenfold CorporationInstitutional Risk Analytics provides risk analytics and methodology strategy design serving the credit risk, operational risk and financial research ...

us1.institutionalriskanalytics.com/pub/corp.asp?ticker=TENF - 12k - Cached - Similar pages 

TENFOLD CORPORATIONTENFOLD CORPORATION. "We were the first in the industry to guarantee that large-scale application development projects would be delivered on time, ...

www.20minutesfromhome.com/newprofilepages/tenfoldoverview.html - 20k - Cached - Similar pages 

ZapThink Publishes Report on TenFold @ SOA WEB SERVICES JOURNALTenFold(R) Corporation (BULLETIN BOARD: TENF) , provider of the EnterpriseTenFold(R) platform for rapidly building enterprise-scale SOA-compliant ...

webservices.sys-con.com/read/261539.htm - 83k - Cached - Similar pages 

TENFOLD CORP - Detailed Quote | Reuters.comReuters provides stock information including, stocks, stock quotes, stock investment strategies, key company developments.

www.investor.reuters.com/GoTo.aspx?ticker=TENF&.t=%2Fstocks%2Fquickinfo%2Ffullquote - 53k - Cached - Similar pages 

Welcome to ceocfointerviews.com!To find out more about: TenFold Corporation (TENF) you may order the complete text of our interview. To view a copy of this highly informative interview, ...

www.ceocfointerviews.com/interviews/TenFoldCorpCA.htm - 11k - Cached - Similar pages 

Provider ProfileCompany Name:, TenFold Corporation. Company Url:, http://www.tenfold.com. Company Phone:, (678) 777-8090. Sub Category:, Application Development ...

www.techlinks.net/.../ProviderProfile/tabid/207/Default.aspx?CP=P-909-8 - 41k - Cached - Similar pages" 

What is evident is that the deeper one goes in the search engine results listing, the more attention to proprietary information sources and company specific press releases. The 63rd  and 71st link in the search highlight additional examples of each:

" TenFold Corporation (TENF) - Stock Quotes - MSN MoneyTenFold Corporation - Historical stock quote information for TENF. Includes last stock quote price, change, volume, daily high and low, fundamental data, ...

news.moneycentral.msn.com/inc/news/quoteredir.asp?Symbol=TENF - 27k - Cached - Similar pages" 

"Web  Results 71 - 80 of about 508,000 for tenfold corporation. (0.20 seconds)  

TenFold Obtains Interim Financing29 /PRNewswire-FirstCall/ -- TenFold(R) Corporation (OTC Bulletin Board: TENF), provider of the EnterpriseTenFold(TM) platform for building and implementing ...

www.mirrorgeek.com/tenfold-obtains-interim-financing.html - 33k - Aug 18, 2006 - Cached - Similar pages …" 

4. Do you believe "tagosphere" will enhance the quality of Internet research? Explain.

In answering this question, students should be encouraged to use the search engines. For example, if the MSN search engine is used to explore "tagosphere," the following links can be identified (these were as of August 20, 2006):

"Web ResultsPage 1 of 1,553 results containing tagosphere (0.10 seconds)

Results

reveries magazine » Archive » The Tagosphere

A Google spokesperson says the company doesn’t “comment on its competition” but competition it has in the form of a number of fledgling websites using a technique known as ‘tagging’ to try ... 

reveries.com/?p=313 Cached page 

Micro Persuasion: TagFetch Searches the Tagosphere

Micro Persuasion Steve Rubel explores how social media is transforming marketing, media and public relations.

www.micropersuasion.com/2006/06/tagfetch_search.html Cached page 

Shanti’s Dispatches - Tagmania - Rise of the Tagosphere

On Web Apps, Startups, Collaborative Media, Ruby on Rails, Ajax … enough buzzwords? ... On Web Apps, Startups, Collaborative Media, Ruby on Rails, Ajax … enough buzzwords?

sablog.com/archives/2005/01/09/tagmania-rise-of-the-tagosphere Cached page …

redcouch.typepad.com/weblog/2006/01/the_anointing_o.html Cached page 

TagFetch :: Home

Login | Sign Up

www.tagfetch.com Cached page 

ITI NewsLink - Issue 75, January 2006

Into the 'Tagosphere' by Paula J. Hane. I recently went to check out Yet Another Search Engine that had just launched (I call it the YASE phenomenon). But this one had a new twist and some intriguing ... 

www.infotoday.com/newslink/newslink0601.htm Cached page 

Stephen's Lighthouse: Searching the Tagosphere

And all of the other celebrations | Main | While I'm thinking about it.... » December 27, 2005 Searching the Tagosphere. Have you tried the Wink .com beta? It's here

stephenslighthouse.sirsi.com/archives/2005/12/searching_the_t.html Cached page 

Kevin Burton's Feed Blog: Wink is the Technorati of the Tagosphere?

It just dawned on me that Wink could be the Technorati of the tagosphere. Wonder how long until other competitors will pop up? Update: If this is true I wonder how long until they spend 90% of their ... 

www.feedblog.org/2005/12/wink_is_the_tec.html Cached page 

health - Wink 

Wink search is powered by people. If you like a page, add it to your favorites by clicking on the star and tagging it. (Or use the Wink Tag bookmarklet)

wink.com/health Cached page 8/18/2006 

Learn more about the new Windows Live Search.

Pagination

1 2 3 4 5 Next Didn't get the results you expected? Help us improve."

An example of the content of a tagosphere site follows:

" Home       What Is Shadows?       Tour Shadows       Create An Account       Login       

Shadows gives YOU the power. The power to discover and collect the coolest web pages. The power to always find them again. The power to share pages and opinions, and to tap into the wisdom of others like you." … 

"Discover the web you've always wanted but could never find! 

Shadows is the link-sharing website for people. By people. With Shadows, you have the power to discover the web's most fascinating content – the most interesting pages saved, discussed, and rated by you, your friends, and the Shadows community. 

Collect the greatest links of the web!

With Shadows you can collect links for instant retrieval from any computer. You can tap into the collective wisdom and interests of the entire Shadows community. Shadows is the one-stop source for your daily fix of news, diversions, and discussion. 

Share your links and opinions with the world!

Express your individuality through your links, comments, and profile. Join or start a group discussion. Let your voice be heard! Invite friends. Grow your community. 

In Shadows, you can have fun surfing for the web's best links or you can create an account, jump in, add your best links, and become part of our thriving community. 

Enter a topic you are interested in and discover what the Shadows community has for you." 

Among the tools listed is the following menu:

"Tools: 

- Toolbars

- Import Bookmarks

- For Bloggers

- For MySpace

Help: 

- FAQ's

- Tagging Tips

- Support Group

- Manage Your Account view all help topics>>"

The key issue is whether a tailored search might be of lesser quality due to novices' effect on the process. Science values the ability to replicate. The more tailored a search becomes, the less it can be verified by others through the replication process. Yet, with the English language using words for dual purposes, inefficiencies are numerous when such tailoring is not used to enhance the search experience. Instructors should encourage active debate on the pros and cons of such developments on the Internet.

•Exercise C - Use Internet Resources
1. Access the company site for TenFold Corporation and go to In the News. Determine if there are any relevant press releases for your research. Then proceed to use the other investor and financial information links to assess how TenFold Corporation appears to be doing during and in the aftermath of this media event. Consider the level of executives’ compensation as well as the types of compensation arrangements used by TenFold Corporation. Such data can be accessed at investor.reuters.com, clicking on Officers & Directors, then Basic Compensation and Option Compensation.

The Home site map of TENFOLD CORPORATION (www.tenfold.com) (http://www.10fold.com) in July 2006 included sections on "Technology, Applications, Services, Company, Customers, News & Events." Under "Company," the topics on the left side of the site on which users could click included: "About TenFold, TenFold Offices, Management Team, Board of Directors, and Investor Relations." Instructors will wish to emphasize that web sites are reorganized, augmented, and updated frequently, so that information accessible and the format of presentation can change dramatically over time. The company site has press releases archived and retrievable, with the following choices in the summer of 2006:

"Press Releases 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999" 

Such releases include financial results, board appointments, financing events, and product developments, among other topics. Of particular interest to this case are the following press releases in 2002:

"03.20.2002   TenFold Announces Dismissal of Shareholder Lawsuit 

08.15.2002 TenFold Announces Receipt Of De-Listing Notification From Nasdaq

 Smallcap Market 

09.03.2002     TenFold Announces Agreement to Settle Shareholder Class Actions

11.21.2002     TenFold Corporation Settles All SEC Matters 

12.10.2002     TenFold Announces Settlement of Shareholder Class Actions" 

The "About TenFold" section describes how TenFold™ is a software products company, with its headquarters in Salt Lake City and major Research and Development centers in San Francisco and Salt Lake City." See the company web site for further details. 

IDEA: Instructors who wish to test whether students accessed the "About Tenfold" section, may pose the question, what does this company mean by the acronyms SOA and MDA?

The "About Then" section explains the former stands for " Service-Oriented Architecture" and the latter for "Model Driven Architecture."

The sec.gov site has the TenFold DEFINITIVE NOTICE AND PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A in filing DEF 14A, containing a Letter to Stockholders dated April 29, 2005, which describes going concern disclosures and an internal control matter:

"During TenFold’s fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, and the subsequent interim period through February 10, 2003, there were no disagreements between TenFold and KPMG on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to KPMG’s satisfaction, would have caused KPMG to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its reports. 

The audit reports of KPMG on TenFold’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000 did not contain any adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles except that: 

(1) KPMG’s audit report on such financial statements as of and for the fiscal year on ended December 31, 2001 contained a separate paragraph stating, in 

relevant part: 

“The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related financial statement schedule have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company suffered a significant loss from operations during the year ended December 31, 2001, has a substantial deficit in working capital and stockholder’s equity at December 31, 2001, had negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 and is involved in significant legal proceedings that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern”; and 

(2) KPMG’s audit report on such financial statements as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 contained a similar separate paragraph stating: 

“The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related financial statement schedule have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company suffered a significant loss from operations during the year ended December 31, 2000, has a substantial deficit in working capital and stockholder’s equity at December 31, 2000, had negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2000 and is involved in significant legal proceedings that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.” 

There were no reportable events (as defined in Regulation S-K Item 304(a)(1)(v)) during TenFold’s fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, or the subsequent interim period through February 10, 2003, except that, in a 

letter to TenFold’s Audit Committee dated April 9, 2001, KPMG reported that during its audit of TenFold’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, it noted deficiencies in internal controls related to the 

recording of revenue under the percentage-of-completion method of contract accounting. The Audit Committee and TenFold’s management discussed the issue with KPMG and TenFold authorized KPMG to respond fully to the inquiries of Tanner concerning the issue. 

The Registrant requested and received from KPMG a letter addressed to the SEC stating it agreed with the foregoing statements. A copy of such letter, dated February 14, 2003, was filed as Exhibit 16.2 to the related Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 18, 2003, reporting the change in accountants. 

During TenFold’s fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, and the subsequent interim period through February 10, 2003, TenFold did not consult with Tanner regarding any of the matters or events set forth in Regulation S-K Items 304(a)(2)(i) or (ii). 

The audit report of Tanner on TenFold’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 did not contain any adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles except that it contained a separate paragraph stating, in relevant part: 

“The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related financial statement schedule have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company suffered a significant loss from operations, has a substantial deficit in working capital and stockholder’s equity at December 31, 2002, had negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 

2002 and is involved in legal proceedings that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.” 

The audit report of Tanner on the consolidated financial statements of TenFold for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 did not contain any adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles nor did it contain the paragraph immediately above regarding doubt about TenFold’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The audit report of Tanner on TenFold’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 did not contain any adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles except that it contained a separate paragraph stating, in relevant part: 

“The accompanying consolidated financial statements and schedule referred to above have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the 

Company has used significant balances of its cash in operating activities and at present levels of cash consumption will not have sufficient resources to meet 

operating needs. This raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.” 

SEC filings report events involving employment and departure of key executives. For example, the 8-K dated November 17, 2005 reports:

 
"Item 5.02
Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers 

On November 17, 2005, TenFold Corporation issued a press release announcing a change in its President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. A copy of the press release is furnished herewith as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Effective November 17, 2005, Dr. Nancy Harvey has departed from the company and her role as TenFold’s President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Robert W. Felton, age 66, has been named as interim President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of TenFold, effective November 17, 2005. 
 
Mr. Felton was elected Chairman of TenFold’s Board of Directors on November 9, 2005. He has served as a member of TenFold’s Board of Directors since March 1997. Mr. Felton was the founder and served as a member of the Board of Directors of Indus International, Inc., a software applications company, since its inception in 1988 until 2002. From 1988 to January 1999, Mr. Felton also served as Indus’s Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Felton holds a BS in mechanical engineering from Cornell University and an MS in nuclear engineering from the University of Washington. 
 
Mr. Felton, is also the founder and majority shareholder of DevonWay, a TenFold customer. In June 2005, TenFold entered into an agreement with DevonWay, to provide licenses, consulting services, technical support services, and training, for a total of approximately $314,000. In August 2005, TenFold completed a further licensing transaction with DevonWay, resulting in a cash payment to TenFold of $1 million. All disinterested members of our Board of Directors approved of these related party transactions and the general ongoing business relationship with DevonWay. 
 
During September 2005, TenFold entered into additional consulting and training agreements with DevonWay totaling approximately $120,000. 
 
TenFold’s revenues from DevonWay were license revenues of $160,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, and services and other revenues of $216,000 and $332,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively. As of September 30, 2005, TenFold had accounts receivable from DevonWay of $11,000. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, TenFold received cash inflows from DevonWay of $1.3 million and $1.5 million, respectively. 
 
In connection with his appointment as interim President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of TenFold, Mr. Felton resigned as Compensation Committee Chairman, effective November 17, 2005. The Board named existing Compensation Committee member, Ralph W. Hardy, Jr., as Chairman of the Compensation Committee, and named existing Director, Robert E. Parsons, Jr., to the Compensation Committee, effective November 17, 2005. "
The Exhibit 99.1 cited follows:

" Exhibit 99.1 

 

TenFold Announces New Chief Executive Officer 

 

SALT LAKE CITY, Utah – November 17, 2005 – TenFold® Corporation (OTC BB: TENF.OB), provider of the EnterpriseTenFold™ platform for building and implementing enterprise applications, today announced that Dr. Nancy Harvey has departed from the company and her role as TenFold’s President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. 
 

Robert W. Felton, recently elected TenFold Chairman, long-time TenFold Board member, and a substantial TenFold shareholder, has been named as Interim President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of TenFold, effective immediately. Mr. Felton has agreed to lead this transition to help TenFold achieve what he believes is its true destiny as a revolutionary force in the software industry. 
 

Mr. Felton reiterated his commitment to help TenFold secure proper financial backing and then to spend his time working with existing and potential customers to increase the company’s revenues. 
 

Mr. Felton is the founder and Chairman of DevonWay and the former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Indus International, the world’s leading enterprise asset management software provider. Felton was the founder, President, Chief Executive Officer, and venture capitalist for the predecessor of Indus International, The Indus Group, and in 1996, he led Indus through its initial public offering. He was also the founder and CEO of Tera Corporation (Tenera) which he took public in 1983. Mr. Felton has been publicly recognized as an industry visionary and in 1998 he was named Cornell University’s Entrepreneur of the Year. 
 

TenFold’s Board and Jeffrey L. Walker, TenFold’s founder, thanked Dr. Harvey for her service. “We appreciate Dr. Harvey’s service over the last five years helping TenFold resolve legacy issues, restructure, and reposition to emerge as a growth technology company”, said Mr. Walker. 
 

Mr. Felton thanked Dr. Harvey for her years of hard work and commitment to TenFold. He said “Dr. Harvey provided the operational and financial leadership necessary to guide TenFold through a very difficult five years. She stepped up and accepted the Chief Executive Officer position in a time of travail and did a marvelous job of holding the company together through very trying times.” 
Press releases periodically describe the aftermath of such events. For example, a press release by the company entitled "TenFold Announces Results of Stockholders' Vote at Annual Meeting" dated June 29, 2006 explained that on June 27, 2006, "Stockholders elected Stephen H. Coltrin, Robert W. Felton, and Ralph W. Hardy, Jr. to serve as directors until the 2008 Annual Stockholders Meeting. Stockholders ratified the appointment of Tanner LC as the Company's registered independent public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006." Beyond postings to the company web site, these types of announcements are trackable and retrievable from sources such as PRNewswire-FirstCall. 

NOTE:  The SEC has at its web site sec.gov a document entitled: Executive Compensation: A Guide for Investors. It describes executive compensation, including salary; bonus; perquisites (or "perks") and other personal benefits; stock; stock options; and other compensation arrangements. In particular, it states: "The federal securities laws require clear, concise and understandable disclosure about the amount and type of compensation paid to chief executive officers and other highly compensated executives of public companies. This brochure is designed to help you locate this compensation information in company reports." The document includes descriptions of requirements for a Summary Compensation Table, followed by tables containing more specific data on the components of compensation for the last completed fiscal year (including the Option/SAR Grants Table; Option/SAR Exercises and Year-End Value Table; Option/SAR Repricing Table and related information), disclosure about compensation committee interlocks and insider participation in compensation decisions; Board Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation; and the Performance Graph. A supplemental glossary is included. The document can be located at http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/execomp0803.htm. On December 22, 2006, the SEC set forth a change in the guidance on Summary Compensation Tables. Although comments will be accepted for 30 days, the rule change is described as final.  In particular, the treatment of stock options has been more aligned with the SFAS 123(R) approach. A recognition of the role of vesting is reflected in the reporting process, thereby reducing the amount reported and potentially changing which of the executives are reported by a company. Attention is also accorded to whether a grantee is eligible for retiring and permitted to keep the options. In such circumstances the interaction of retirement eligibility with vesting leads to 100 percent reporting at grant. See sec.gov for details. Note that the SEC had argued its earlier guidance though not in accordance with SFAS 123(R) was more consistent with the disclosure objectives of the SEC. This was reversed in the December decision, which indicated the change resulted in fuller and more useful detail. Observers anticipate that the change has a more advantageous effect on companies that accelerated vesting in 2005 and that two CEOs who only differ on whether they are eligible for retirement will be reported quite differently.

IDEA: Instructors who wish to discuss the types of information in public filings when a CEO departs will want to direct students' attention to the 8-K filing regarding May 19, 2006.  As reflected in the following excerpt, further details are provided in the 8-K with very specific delineation of the terms of agreement:

" Item 1.01
Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

On May 19, 2006, TenFold Corporation and Dr. Nancy M. Harvey entered into a Separation Agreement and Release in connection with Dr. Harvey’s departure as President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer on November 17, 2005. As specified in the Separation Agreement and Release, Dr. Harvey resigned as a director of TenFold effective May 19, 2006. 
The Separation Agreement and Release provides Dr. Harvey with a severance benefit aggregating $150,000, company paid health insurance benefits until June 17, 2007, and a lump sum payment of $300,000 to be made on January 2, 2007. In addition, any restrictions on shares of common stock received by Dr. Harvey pursuant to her employment agreement have lapsed and the shares have become fully vested. Furthermore, certain of Dr. Harvey’s stock options have been cancelled and certain others have been modified, all as set forth in the Separation Agreement and Release. Dr. Harvey and TenFold have released each other from any and all claims that they may have against each other as set forth in the Separation Agreement and Release. 
This summary of the Separation Agreement and Release is qualified by reference to the full text of the Separation Agreement and Release which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.20. 
 Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers 

Dr. Harvey resigned as a director of TenFold effective May 19, 2006 in connection with the execution of the Separation Agreement and Release referred to in Item 1.01 above. 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

Exhibit 10.20. Separation Agreement and Release, dated as of May 19, 2006, between TenFold Corporation and Nancy M. Harvey. "

2. Identify the competitors of TenFold Corporation. Give the names of the first five in the alphabetized list accessed on Yahoo! How are competitors defined? What is an effective way of defining competitors? Justify your position. [Check the Industry Center http://biz.yahoo/ic, Sector Technology, for companies matching the Industry: Business Software & Services.] 

Use Yahoo! Finance home page to go to the Industry Center for a particular sector. More information is provided for the industry selected. For example, Information Technology Services can be clicked to obtain an industry summary, related news, leaders and laggards, a company index, and an industry browser. Key industry events and analysts are listed, as are particularly active boards. Related industries are also highlighted. 

Use Yahoo! Inc. Industry Browser - Technology - Business Software & Services to download a Company List (this will be periodically updated, but as of 18-Aug-2006 had 230 companies). See Exercise E2 Instructor Notes herein for further elaboration, including an excerpt of such detail.
Hoover's Industry Watch (www.hoovers.com) identifies the top competitors of TenFold Corporation (OTC: TENF) as Computer Sciences Corp., EDS, and IBM. The web site for Hoovers poses the questions: "Who are TenFold competitors? Who should TenFold consider a competitor? Who are the main competitors in this industry?" Then it states: "TenFold competitors are primarily in the Information Technology Services industry. View more information about TenFold and its competitors." 

The sec.gov site has information of use in identifying competitors, industry relationships, and customer base. Conference call transcripts such as that which occurred when the financial results for the first quarter of 2006 were released can be found as Exhibit 99.1 of an 8-K filing on May 18, 2006. It discusses vendors such as Oracle and SAP, relationships with Perot Systems, and customer prospects in the government and corporate sectors. 

The Yahoo! search results for TenFold provide news on its competitors.

Consider accessing the details on the Industry Sector Components from the Dow Jones Indexes web site, available for downloading at http://www.icbenchmark.com/docs/English_structure-defs.pdf. This may help in identifying the nature of industry definitions and competitors, as well as understanding indices that are directed to industry rather than the broader economy.
3. Access the Yahoo! site and generate a stock price chart that includes price information before and after the November 20, 2002 and the December 19-21, 2005 events. (Also check earnings per share (EPS) information, including estimates and recommendations.) Does the stock market appear to have reacted in any manner to the media coverage?  

November 20, 2002 and the December 19-21, 2005 events can be viewed through use of monthly prices or daily prices. Be certain to discuss the IMPORTANCE OF CONSIDERING GENERAL MARKET MOVEMENTS ON THE DATES OF THE EVENTS OF INTEREST. For example, the daily Wilshire Index in the November 2002 time frame is reported on the Internet:

  
Date


Open

High
Low
Close
Volume
Adj Close*

25-Nov-02


8,783.14

8,846.27
8,723.63
8,813.76
0
8,813.76

22-Nov-02


8,802.07

8,840.10
8,757.30
8,783.13
0
8,783.13

21-Nov-02


8,619.42

8,813.39
8,619.42
8,802.07
0
8,802.07

20-Nov-02


8,458.21

8,621.38
8,445.18
8,619.42
0
8,619.42

19-Nov-02


8,499.01

8,533.62
8,429.19
8,458.21
0
8,458.21

18-Nov-02


8,584.05

8,637.39
8,493.06
8,499.03
0
8,499.03

* Close price adjusted for dividends and splits.

By comparing the movement in the general market to a particular stock, context is provided for considering the import of a stock price change. In this setting, the Wilshire Index from November 19th to November 20th 2002 has a higher closing value. As seen in the following profile of daily stock prices for the company, TenFold has a lower closing price on the 20th than the 19th.

MONTHLY PRICES

DATE
OPEN
HIGH
LOW
CLOSE
VOLUME

Jan-03
0.14
0.25
0.14
0.21
509700

Dec-02
0.25
0.28
0.14
0.14
726400

Nov-02
0.1
0.49
0.09
0.25
1201100

Oct-02
0.13
0.13
0.07
0.09
437300

Sep-02
0.15
0.16
0.1
0.12
317100

DAILY PRICES

Date

Open
High
Low
Close
Volume
Adj. Close*

3-Jan-03

0.16
0.16
0.16
0.16
1000
0.16

2-Jan-03

0.14
0.15
0.14
0.14
47200
0.14

31-Dec-02
0.15
0.16
0.14
0.14
95200
0.14

30-Dec-02
0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15
36300
0.15

27-Dec-02
0.16
0.16
0.15
0.15
16600
0.15

26-Dec-02
0.17
0.19
0.15
0.15
15400
0.15

24-Dec-02
0.17
0.17
0.17
0.17
8200
0.17

23-Dec-02
0.18
0.2
0.17
0.17
73900
0.17

20-Dec-02
0.15
0.16
0.14
0.15
37600
0.15

19-Dec-02
0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15
5000
0.15

18-Dec-02
0.16
0.17
0.15
0.15
93000
0.15

17-Dec-02
0.17
0.17
0.16
0.17
20400
0.17

16-Dec-02
0.19
0.19
0.17
0.17
25100
0.17

13-Dec-02
0.17
0.2
0.17
0.17
18200
0.17

12-Dec-02
0.2
0.23
0.17
0.17
148200
0.17

11-Dec-02
0.21
0.22
0.2
0.21
22100
0.21

10-Dec-02
0.21
0.24
0.21
0.24
41200
0.24

9-Dec-02
0.25
0.25
0.21
0.21
9600
0.21

6-Dec-02
0.21
0.22
0.21
0.22
3300
0.22

5-Dec-02
0.25
0.25
0.21
0.21
3100
0.21

4-Dec-02
0.21
0.26
0.21
0.22
29200
0.22

3-Dec-02
0.22
0.25
0.21
0.21
13600
0.21

2-Dec-02
0.25
0.28
0.22
0.22
11200
0.22

29-Nov-02
0.3
0.32
0.25
0.25
21700
0.25

27-Nov-02
0.22
0.23
0.22
0.22
700
0.22

26-Nov-02
0.22
0.34
0.22
0.3
27500
0.3

25-Nov-02
0.22
0.32
0.22
0.22
8500
0.22

22-Nov-02
0.2
0.34
0.2
0.27
26700
0.27

21-Nov-02
0.2
0.3
0.2
0.2
12000
0.2

20-Nov-02
0.24
0.35
0.2
0.24
43900
0.24

19-Nov-02
0.22
0.3
0.22
0.3
47300
0.3

18-Nov-02
0.16
0.22
0.16
0.17
5800
0.17

15-Nov-02
0.18
0.22
0.16
0.22
18700
0.22

14-Nov-02
0.2
0.23
0.18
0.18
43000
0.18

13-Nov-02
0.27
0.27
0.2
0.25
18700
0.25

12-Nov-02
0.45
0.45
0.18
0.27
244400
0.27

11-Nov-02
0.37
0.49
0.36
0.43
92300
0.43

8-Nov-02
0.29
0.4
0.27
0.4
252600
0.4

7-Nov-02
0.16
0.35
0.16
0.29
136000
0.29

6-Nov-02
0.09
0.16
0.09
0.14
99300
0.14

5-Nov-02
0.1
0.11
0.09
0.1
29200
0.1

4-Nov-02
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1
12300
0.1

1-Nov-02
0.1
0.1
0.09
0.1
60500
0.1

31-Oct-02
0.09
0.09
0.09
0.09
4700
0.09

* Close price adjusted for dividends and splits. 
DAILY PRICES 

Date 

Open High Low Close Volume Adj Close* 

9-Jan-06 
0.25 0.25 0.24 0.25 16,600 
0.25 

6-Jan-06 
0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 18,300 
0.25 

5-Jan-06 
0.25 0.25 0.23 0.23 2,300 
0.23 

4-Jan-06 
0.21 0.25 0.21 0.25 10,300 
0.25 

3-Jan-06 
0.21 0.22 0.21 0.22 5,100 
0.22 

30-Dec-05 
0.23 0.25 0.21 0.21 408,600 
0.21 

29-Dec-05 
0.22 0.27 0.21 0.22 294,600 
0.22 

28-Dec-05 
0.24 0.24 0.22 0.24 69,300 
0.24 

27-Dec-05 
0.25 0.26 0.23 0.24 93,000 
0.24 

23-Dec-05 
0.25 0.25 0.24 0.25 88,300 
0.25 

22-Dec-05 
0.27 0.27 0.25 0.25 32,300 
0.25 

21-Dec-05 
0.27 0.28 0.26 0.28 67,000 
0.28 

20-Dec-05 
0.26 0.27 0.25 0.25 39,700 
0.25 

19-Dec-05 
0.27 0.28 0.26 0.26 88,700 
0.26 

16-Dec-05 
0.27 0.27 0.26 0.27 59,700 
0.27 

15-Dec-05 
0.25 0.26 0.25 0.26 92,600 
0.26 

14-Dec-05 
0.27 0.28 0.26 0.27 74,700 
0.27 

13-Dec-05 
0.27 0.29 0.25 0.27 175,800 
0.27 

12-Dec-05 
0.28 0.29 0.26 0.28 313,900 
0.28 

9-Dec-05 
0.27 0.28 0.24 0.27 136,300 
0.27 

8-Dec-05 
0.28 0.31 0.27 0.29 165,400 
0.29 

* Close price adjusted for dividends and splits. 

Compustat 2001 reports for TenFold Corporation, the following earnings statistics:

Basic EPS Excluding Extra Items

-0.44

Diluted EPS Excluding Extra. Items

-0.44

Shares Used in Computing Basic EPS
35.623

Shares Used in Computing Diluted EPS
35.623

EPS from Operations


-0.32

Basic EPS Including Extra. Items

-0.44

Diuted EPS Including Extra. Items

-0.44

IDEA: Instructors who wish to discuss what causes volatility in stock prices and how changes in stock prices interrelate to liability exposure will find the following disclosure in TenFold's 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (filed 3/31/2006) of use:

"Our stock price may continue to be volatile 
Our stock price has fluctuated widely in the past and could continue to do so in the future. Your investment in our stock could lose value. Some of the factors that could significantly affect the market price of our stock, in addition to those mentioned in this section, include: further decreases in our cash resources, changes in our revenue; changes in our customer base including the loss of a major customer; changes in management; variations in our quarterly financial results; problems implementing our business model; reports or earnings estimates published by financial analysts; changes in political, economic and market conditions either generally or specifically to particular industries; and fluctuations in stock prices generally, particularly with respect to the stock prices for other technology companies. A significant drop in our stock price could expose us to the risk of securities class action lawsuits. Defending against such lawsuits could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources. An unfavorable outcome of such a matter may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity." 
Of interest is a graph of the monthly prices:
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Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)


EPS and estimates thereof can be located both on the Internet and in proprietary databases such as Value Line. See later discussion of Yahoo! excerpt herein under Exercise E2 Instructor Notes.

4. Have blogs addressed any of the events affecting TenFold Corporation? Be specific. Explain the limitations of blogs as a source of information. Why is caution advisable? Which business sites, beyond Yahoo!, are of use in identifying key competitors? How consistent are the sets of competitors identified by the different resources you access? 

A blog search engine known as Technorati is available and reportedly over 55 million blogs are accessible, suggesting they are apt to have described events affecting Tenfold Corporation. A specific example of a blog that would have coverage of events of public companies would be http://norris.blogs.nytimes.com/?ref=business. Floyd Norris often writes on financial matters and directs attention to economy-wide, industry-specific, and company-directed events. Similarly OpinionJournal.com is a blog by the Wall Street Journal that reflects diverse views on current developments. Numerous links such as Blognoggle.com are observable, with coverage of backdating events associated with stock option compensation accessible at The AAO Weblog, among other sites. The media has reported the SEC Commissioner's intent to consider the role of blogs in financial markets, acknowledging their wide use and accessibility. This will be an area of development to follow for class discussion.

Caution is advisable when considering blogs. This view is articulated by Joseph Rago in an Editorial Page article of the Wall Street Journal on December 20, 2006 entitled "The Blog Mob" in which he refers to blogs as "written by fools to be read by imbeciles." Various Letters to the Editor printed on December 29, 2006 (p. A9) point out the ability of blogs to offer diversity of information, without barrier, permitting readers to evaluate their content.

Competitors are accessible at a number of financial sites, as well as in databases such as Compustat. For related details, see instructor resource materials under Exercise E (2) herein. The differences in listings stem from whether an SIC is used, changes in the SIC that a company pursues, the role of attributes such as size of a company, and the timing of the competitor pool, among other factors. 

•Exercise D - Access EDGAR and PCAOB Sites

1. Access the SEC EDGAR site and identify all filings that are contained therein for TenFold Corporation. Indicate the types of filings you find, the number, and the last filing listed on the date you check the filings – including the type of that last filing and the date it was made available on the Web.

The following excerpt is accessible for TenFold Corporation from sec.gov -- hyperlinks are embedded in the SEC web page. Clearly, the results are time dependent, since public filings appear intermittently with key events, quarterly reports, and annual results, among other events. This is a sample to facilitate instructors' discussion. 

"Items 1 - 40

Form
Formats
Description
Filed/Effective
File/Film No

EFFECT
2 KB
Notice of Effectiveness
Acc-no: 9999999995-06-000280 (33 Act) 
2006-06-12

06901161

424B1
1 MB
Prospectus [Rule 424(b)(1)]
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-128165 (33 Act) 
2006-06-12

06899542

S-1/A
95 KB
[Amend]General form for registration of securities under the Securities Act of 1933
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-125827 (33 Act) 
2006-06-07

06891179

S-1/A
1 MB
[Amend]General form for registration of securities under the Securities Act of 1933
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-123618 (33 Act) 
2006-06-02

06883495

8-K
66 KB
Current report, items 1.01, 5.02, and 9.01 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-119542 (34 Act) 
2006-05-25

06867387

8-K
75 KB
Current report, item 2.02 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-115267 (34 Act) 
2006-05-18
06851018

10-Q
311 KB
Quarterly report [Sections 13 or 15(d)]
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-112689 (34 Act) 
2006-05-15

06841129

DEF 14A
330 KB
Other definitive proxy statements
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-094563 (34 Act) 
2006-05-01
06793519

S-1
1 MB
General form for registration of securities under the Securities Act of 1933
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-083614 (33 Act) 
2006-04-20

06768204

3
3 KB
Initial statement of beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-006015
2006-04-19


REGDEX
1 KB
[Paper]Registration of sale of securities [Regulation D and Section 4(6) of the Securities Act of 1933], item 06 
Acc-no: 9999999997-06-016608 (34 Act) 
2006-04-12

06032032

SC 13G
50 KB
Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-076684 (34 Act) 
2006-04-10

06750424

8-K
96 KB
Current report, items 2.02 and 9.01 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-076613 (34 Act) 
2006-04-10

06750180

SC 13G
50 KB
Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-075785 (34 Act) 
2006-04-07

06747711

3
6 KB
Initial statement of beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001181431-06-022926
2006-04-07


SC 13D
46 KB
General statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership
Acc-no: 0001010192-06-000057 (34 Act) 
2006-04-06

06745096

3
9 KB
Initial statement of beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001010192-06-000055
2006-04-06


SC 13D/A
26 KB
[Amend]General statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-005226 (34 Act) 
2006-04-04

06737967

4
8 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-005090
2006-04-03


4
8 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-005089
2006-04-03


4
8 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-005088
2006-04-03


10-K
1 MB
Annual report [Section 13 and 15(d), not S-K Item 405]
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-070813 (34 Act) 
2006-03-31

06729987

POS AM
20 KB
Post-Effective amendments for registration statement
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-070750 (33 Act) 
2006-03-31

06729614

8-K
36 KB
Current report, items 1.01 and 9.01 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-059939 (34 Act) 
2006-03-21

06701415

8-K
36 KB
Current report, items 1.01 and 9.01 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-041298 (34 Act) 
2006-02-28

06651053

4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002645
2006-02-17


4
10 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002638
2006-02-16


SC 13G/A
27 KB
[Amend]Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002473 (34 Act) 
2006-02-15

06618566

SC 13G/A
27 KB
[Amend]Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002467 (34 Act) 
2006-02-15

06618256

SC 13G/A
27 KB
[Amend]Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002460 (34 Act) 
2006-02-15

06618019

SC 13G/A
27 KB
[Amend]Statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership by individuals
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002461 (34 Act) 
2006-02-15

06618017

SC 13D/A
25 KB
[Amend]General statement of acquisition of beneficial ownership
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-002452 (34 Act) 
2006-02-15

06617949

8-K
22 KB
Current report, items 1.01 and 9.01 
Acc-no: 0001193125-06-020805 (34 Act) 
2006-02-06

06582075

4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-001316
2006-02-01


3
4 KB
Initial statement of beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-001165
2006-01-27


4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-000902
2006-01-20


4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-000518
2006-01-11


4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-000517
2006-01-11


4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-000516
2006-01-11


4
5 KB
Statement of changes in beneficial ownership of securities
Acc-no: 0001140361-06-000515

http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/browse-edgar
Home | EDGAR Search Home | Previous Page
Modified:02/06/2006"
2006-01-11


Top of Form

Bottom of Form

END OF EXCERPT FROM SEC.GOV.

Beyond the sec.gov site, other financial resources on the Internet highlight the SEC filings. As an example, consider the following excerpt from InvestorGuide.com:

"Tenfold EDGAR SEC Filings 

SEC Filings MarketWatch   

  Tenfold Corp  OTC BB  TENF      

  Filing Date Document Date 
Type Category  

  08/03/2006 08/01/2006 

8-K Special Events  

  08/03/2006 N/A 

SC 13D/A N/A  

  08/01/2006 06/30/2006 

10-Q Quarterly Reports  

  06/07/2006 N/A 

S-1/A Registration Statement  

  06/02/2006 N/A 

S-1/A Registration Statement  

  05/25/2006 05/19/2006 

8-K Special Events  

  05/18/2006 05/15/2006 

8-K Special Events  

  05/15/2006 03/31/2006 

10-Q Quarterly Reports  

  05/01/2006 06/27/2006 

DEF 14A Proxy Statement  

  04/20/2006 N/A 

S-1 Registration Statement"  

2. Using the EDGAR site, explain what types of SEC filings exist and when they must be filed.

See Securities and Exchange Commission. Descriptions of SEC Forms. Modified 5/29/2001, http://www.sec.gov/info/edgar/forms.htm.

For tips on finding information about a company, see Getting Information About Companies "http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/com.htm." As an example, "Executive Compensation: A Guide for Investors" is at http://ww.sec.gov/investor/pubs/execomp0803.htm. 

The EDGAR home site on July 17, 2006 advises: 

"For detailed descriptions of the different ways you can search EDGAR, please read our Quick EDGAR Tutorial (http://www.sec.gov/edgar/quickedgar.htm). 

Some commercial websites also provide useful company information tools based on SEC filings (http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/morereports.htm). 

See EDGAR Search Updates to review improvements in display and function for EDGAR searches (http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/edgarsearchupdates.htm)."

Also see tips for searching EDGAR at http://www.sec.gov/answers/edgarletters.htm
3. Using the Search capability within EDGAR, type executive compensation, and follow the links to explore where this topic is addressed by SEC filings. Identify the SEC publication you find most instructional. Access the DEF 14A materials for TenFold Corporation to specifically address the compensation practices of the company relative to both its management and board.

DEF 14A Letter to Stockholders dated June 18, 2001 contains information on compensation, an excerpt of which follows, for ease of access by instructors (this and other filings can be downloaded from sec.gov).

"Director Compensation

We do not pay directors who are also officers of TenFold additional compensation

for their service as directors except for reimbursement of reasonable travel

expenses relating to attendance at board and committee meetings. In 2000,

compensation for non-employee directors included the following:

    .    $2,000 for each board meeting attended.

    .    $2,000 for each board committee meeting attended if not on the same day

         as a board meeting, in which case no additional compensation is paid.

    .    expenses of attending board and committee meetings.

Mr. Felton also received in 2000 approximately $29,000 in additional director

fees billed on an hourly basis and reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses

related to additional board related services that he provided to TenFold during

2000.

Non-employee directors may participate in TenFold's stock plans.  In 2000

TenFold did not grant any stock options to non-employee directors.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2000, Robert W. Felton and Ralph W. Hardy, Jr. (both non-employee

directors) served as the sole members of the Compensation Committee.  In

addition, Gary D. Kennedy (former President and CEO) performed compensation

committee functions as to non-executive and non-officer employees.

No member of the TenFold Board of Directors who performed Compensation Committee

functions has a relationship that would constitute an interlocking relationship

with executive officers or directors of another entity.

…

Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

Membership of the Committee

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the ``Compensation

Committee'') is composed of two non-employee directors:  Robert W. Felton and

Ralph W. Hardy, Jr. No member of the Compensation Committee has a relationship

that would constitute an interlocking relationship with executive officers or

directors of another entity. From time to time the President and Chief Executive

Officer, and certain officers of TenFold, attend meetings of the Committee. No

officer of TenFold is present during discussions or deliberations regarding his

or her own compensation.

Responsibilities of the Committee

Acting on behalf of the Board of Directors, the Committee's responsibilities

include the following:

     .   Determines the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer.

     .   Reviews and approves senior management compensation plans and stock

         grants, and establishes performance goals.

     .   Reviews and approves proposed stock option plan changes.

     .   Approves compensation and stock grants intended to qualify as

         performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m).

     .   Reports results of each meeting to the Board of Directors.

Executive Officer Compensation Program

TenFold's executive compensation program is designed to support the achievement

of Company performance goals, to ensure that executive officers' objectives are

aligned with the success of TenFold, and to provide financial opportunities that

will motivate executive officers to achieve outstanding returns for

stockholders. Consistent with these goals, executive pay is based on two

principles. First, a significant portion of their total cash compensation is at

risk and is based on meeting targeted financial objectives established by

management under the direction of TenFold's Board of Directors, and is adjusted

as appropriate for individual performance.  Second, a large portion of executive

officers' total compensation is in the form of stock options.

TenFold's compensation program for executive officers is structured to be

competitive with executive officers in similar positions of comparable companies

within the high technology industry. TenFold has analyzed executive compensation

data from a group of comparable companies in our industry on the basis of

industry segment and competitive employment market to TenFold.

TenFold's executive level positions, including the President & CEO, are compared

to similar positions of the comparable companies and competitive levels are

determined for base salary and target bonus incentives. The Compensation

Committee uses comparative data to set compensation targets that will provide

executive officers with compensation that exceeds the average amounts paid to

similar executives of comparable companies in years in which TenFold achieves

superior performance, and with compensation below the average of amounts paid to

similar executives of comparable companies in years in which TenFold fails to

achieve superior performance.

Market practices with respect to stock option grants are also reviewed based on

comparable companies. Grants under TenFold's stock plans are designed to further

strengthen the linkage between executive compensation and shareholder return, to

provide additional incentives to executive officers tied to growth of stock

price over time and encourage continued employment with TenFold. Stock option

grants are based upon comparable data and individual executive performance.

Stock options generally become exercisable over a five-year period and are

granted at a price that is equal to the fair market value of TenFold's stock on

the date of grant. However, in December 2000 TenFold granted stock options to

its executive officers that become exercisable over a three-year period.

Annual Base Salary

TenFold believes that base salary is frequently a significant factor in

attracting, motivating, and retaining skilled executive officers. Accordingly,

the Compensation Committee reviews base salaries of executive officers annually

and generally sets the base salary of its executive officers at or near the

average of the levels paid by the other companies it reviews. Only one named

executive received a base salary increase in 2000.

Annual Bonus

The Corporate Executive Bonus Plan pays bonuses to executives officers according

to their overall success in meeting financial performance goals and their

success in accomplishing individual objectives. Each executive officer has

an individual bonus target based on their overall responsibility and their

ability to impact TenFold's financial performance. No named executives received

a bonus in 2000.

Stock Options

TenFold believes that significant equity participation creates a vital long-term

partnership between management and other stockholders. Stock option grants were

made to certain of TenFold's executive officers in 2000. To determine the size

of the grants, the committee reviewed the executive officers' unvested stock

options and overall contribution.

2000 CEO Compensation

TenFold's President and Chief Executive Officer in 2000, Gary D. Kennedy, was

compensated based on an employment agreement that was entered into between

TenFold and Mr. Kennedy in September 1996 (see "Employment Agreement"). In 2000,

Mr. Kennedy did not receive a base salary increase or an annual bonus.

Qualifying Compensation

The Committee has considered the potential impact of Section 162(m) of the

Internal Revenue Code (``Section 162(m)'') adopted under the Federal Revenue

Reconciliation Act of 1993. Section 162(m) disallows a tax deduction for any

publicly held corporation for certain executive officers' compensation exceeding

$1 million per person in any taxable year unless it is ``performance based''

within the meaning of Section 162(m). In fiscal 2000, the cash compensation of

each of TenFold's executive officers was below the $1 million threshold and

options granted under TenFold's option plan were designed to meet the

requirement of being performance-based under the provisions of Section 162(m).

TenFold's policy is, to the extent reasonable and possible, to qualify its

executive officers' compensation for deductibility under the applicable tax

laws.

Respectfully submitted,

Robert W. Felton

Ralph W. Hardy

Employment and Severance Agreements

Employment Agreement

In September 1996, TenFold and Mr. Kennedy entered into an employment agreement

providing for Mr. Kennedy's employment as President and Chief Executive Officer

of TenFold for a period of eight years, subject to the right of either party to

terminate the agreement with or without cause upon 30 days' prior written

notice. The agreement provided for an annual base salary of $168,000, subject to

increase in the discretion of the TenFold board of directors, and provides that

Mr. Kennedy shall be entitled to up to six months severance pay and vesting of

half of his unvested shares in the event that he is terminated without cause.

The agreement includes a non-competition agreement which provides that, for a

period of six months after Mr. Kennedy's termination of employment, he will not

compete with TenFold or solicit its customers or employees. In January 2001, Mr.

Kennedy resigned as President, Chief Executive Officer, and a director of

TenFold. The Company and Mr. Kennedy are currently negotiating the severance

compensation that Mr. Kennedy will receive in connection with his resignation.

Effective May 1, 2001, the Company and Bernard C. Mazon entered into an

agreement pursuant to which (i) Mr. Mazon resigned as an employee, officer, and

director of, as the case may be, the Company and TenFold Insurance, Inc., and

(ii) the Company engaged Mr. Mazon as an independent contractor and agreed to

pay him a total of $100,000 (to be paid in 12 equal installments over the next 6

months) to perform consulting services relating to matters arising during or

related to his employment with the Company or TenFold Insurance, Inc., for the

duration of any governmental investigation, litigation, regulatory, or other

proceeding involving the Company or TenFold Insurance, Inc. The agreement

contains a general release by Mr. Mazon of all claims against the Company and

TenFold Insurance, Inc., and requires Mr. Mazon to transfer to the Company

200,000 shares of Common Stock of TenFold Insurance, Inc., which he purchased

pursuant to a Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 18, 2000, in

exchange for the Company agreeing to cause TenFold Insurance, Inc., to reduce

the aggregate amount owed by Mr. Mazon under a Promissory Note dated February

18, 2000, from the principal amount of $960,000, plus accrued interest to $1,000

(and no accrued interest). The agreement also terminates the stock option grant

of TenFold Insurance, Inc., Common Stock dated February 18, 2000, and amends the

stock option grants of Company Stock dated July 22, 1998, January 20, 1999,

August 15, 2000, and December 15, 2000, to permit Mr. Mazon to exercise any

Company option grants vested as of May 1, 2001, within the next 6 months.

None of the Company's Named Executive Officers, other than Messrs. Kennedy and

Mazon, have an employment agreement, severance agreement, or similar

arrangement with the Company. Ms. Harvey, the Company's new President and Chief

Executive Officer, has entered into an employment agreement with the Company.

See "Certain Transactions" for a summary of Ms. Harvey's employment agreement.

Summary Compensation Table

This table shows, for the last three fiscal years, compensation information for

the Company's Chief Executive Officer and the next four most highly compensated

executive officers. We refer to all of these officers as the "Named Executive

Officers."

Summary Compensation Table

                                     Annual Compensation             Long-Term Compensation

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                               Restricted Stock       Securities          All other

Name and Principal Position                                     Awards ($) (1)        Underlying      Compensation ($)

                                 Year  Salary ($)  Bonus ($)                         Options (#)           (2) (3)

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<S>                              <C>   <C>         <C>        <C>                  <C>               <C>

Gary D. Kennedy                  2000    500,000          -                     -         1,000,000               47,620

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Former President                 1999    312,167    382,444                     -                 -                1,920

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

& CEO (4)                        1998    168,000          -                     -                 -                1,900

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Donald R. Jefferis               2000    275,000          -                     -           300,000               46,819

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sr. VP, Chief of Staff, &        1999     71,528    150,000                     -           102,000                  600

 President TenFold Energy,

 Inc. (5)

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                 1998          -          -                     -                 -                    -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sameer E. Shalaby                2000    200,000          -                     -         1,150,000               50,000

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sr. VP (6)                       1999    165,000    103,260                     -            20,000                    -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                 1998    155,000          -                     -           100,000                    -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bernard C. Mazon                 2000    200,000          -                     -           300,000                2,000

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sr. VP & President, TenFold      1999    200,000    200,000                     -            50,000                2,000

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Insurance, Inc. (7)              1998     70,958    100,000                     -           150,000                    -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Adam Slovik                      2000    200,000          -                     -         1,150,000                1,439

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sr. VP (8)                       1999    165,000    103,260                     -            20,000                  949

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                 1998    150,000          -                     -           100,000                    -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(1)  As of December 31, 2000, the Named Executive Officers held 513,010 shares

     of restricted stock, valued at $656,315 (net of consideration paid by the

     Named Executive Officers), based on the December, 29, 2000, closing price

     of $1.50.

(2)  Represents company 401k contributions, relocation reimbursements, loan

     forgiveness, and car allowances.

(3)  Donald R. Jefferis currently holds 200,000 vested and 800,000 unvested

     options to purchase shares of the common stock of TenFold Energy, Inc., a

     subsidiary of TenFold. On February 18, 2000, Bernard C. Mazon exercised

     options to purchase 200,000 shares of the common stock of TenFold

     Insurance, Inc. ("TenFold Insurance"), a subsidiary of TenFold. Mr. Mazon

     currently holds 200,000 shares of the common stock of TenFold Insurance and

     200,000 vested options and 600,000 unvested options to purchase shares of the 

     common stock of TenFold Insurance. However, effective May 1, 2001, the Company 

     will repurchase Mr. Mazon's shares in TenFold Insurance and Mr. Mazon's options

     in TenFold Insurance will be canceled.

(4)  Gary D. Kennedy holds restricted common stock of TenFold as described in

     footnote 4 to the table under Common Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial

     Owners and Management. Mr. Kennedy resigned as CEO and President of TenFold

     in January 2001. The Board of Directors appointed Nancy M. Harvey as the

     President and CEO of TenFold in January 2001.

(5)  Donald R. Jefferis joined the Company in August 1999.

(6)  Sameer E. Shalaby holds restricted common stock of TenFold as described in

     footnote 9 to the table under Common Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial

     Owners and Management.

(7)  Bernard C. Mazon joined the Company in July 1998.

(8)  Adam Slovik holds restricted common stock of TenFold as described in

     footnote 10 to the table under Common Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial

     Owners and Management.

Option Grants

This table shows stock option grants to the Named Executive Officers during the

last fiscal year.

Options granted in 2000
                                                                                                           Potential realizable

                                                                                                       value at assumed annual rates

                                                                                                       of stock price appreciation

                                                        Individual Grants                                   for option term (4)

                        -----------------------------------------------------------------------------  -----------------------------

                              Number of           % of total

                             securities            options

     Name                    underlying           granted to          Exercise or

                               options           employees in         base price      Expiration

                           granted (#) (1)      fiscal year (2)      ($/share)(3)        date              5%                 10%

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<S>                      <C>                  <C>                   <C>                <C>              <C>             <C>

Gary D. Kennedy               1,000,000                 5.86%              49.00        1/17/2010       79,815,837      127,093,381

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Donald R. Jefferis             100,000                 0.59%               7.25        8/15/2010        1,180,949         1,880,463

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                               200,000                 1.17%               1.63       12/15/2010          529,391           842,966

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sameer E. Shalaby              350,000                 2.05%              49.00        1/17/2010       27,935,543        44,482,683

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                               800,000                 4.69%               1.63       12/15/2010        2,117,563         3,371,865

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bernard C. Mazon               100,000                 0.59%               7.25        8/15/2010        1,180,949         1,880,463

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                               200,000                 1.17%               1.63       12/15/2010          529,391           842,966

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Adam Slovik                    350,000                 2.05%              49.00        1/17/2010       27,935,543        44,482,683

                               800,000                 4.69%               1.63       12/15/2010        2,117,563         3,371,865

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(1)  Options granted in 2000 were made under the 1993 Flexible Stock Incentive

     Plan, the 1999 Stock Plan, and the 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan. These

     options:

       .  are generally granted as non-qualified stock options,

       .  are granted at an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market

          value of the common stock on the date of grant, and

       .  expire ten years from the date of grant, unless otherwise earlier

          terminated in certain events related to termination of employment.

(2)  The percentage of total options granted to the Named Executive Officers was

     computed by dividing the options granted to the Named Executive Officers

     shown in the table by 17,061,700, the total number of options to acquire

     TenFold common stock granted in 2000.

(3)  Options with exercise prices of:

         .  $49.00 were granted on January 17, 2000 and vest in 20% increments

            on each anniversary of the grant, subject to the terms and

            conditions of the 1999 Stock Plan,

         .  $7.25 were granted on August 15, 2000 and vest in 20% increments on

            each anniversary of the grant, subject to the terms and conditions

            of the 1999 Stock Plan,

         .  $1.63 were granted on December 15, 2000 and vest 50% on the first

            anniversary of the grants and thereafter vest quarterly in 6.25%

            increments, subject to the terms and conditions of the 1993 Flexible

            Stock Incentive Plan and the 1999 Stock Plan.

(4)  We are required by the SEC to use a 5% and 10% assumed rate of appreciation

     over the ten-year option term. This does not represent the Company's

     estimate or projection of the future common stock price. If the Company's

     common stock does not appreciate, the Named Executive Officers will receive

     no benefit from the options.

Options Exercised

This table shows stock option exercises and the value of unexercised stock

options held by the Named Executive Officers during the last fiscal year.

     Aggregate Option Exercises in 2000 and Fiscal Year-end Option Values
                         Shares acquired      Value          No. of securities underlying         Value of unexercised in-the-money

                         on exercise (#)   realized ($)      unexercised options at fiscal             options at year-end ($)

         Name                                                        year-end (#)

                                                           -------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                           Exercisable        Unexercisable       Exercisable        Unexercisable

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<S>                      <C>               <C>           <C>               <C>                  <C>               <C>

Gary D. Kennedy                         -            -                  -            1,000,000                 -                -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Donald R. Jefferis                      -            -             20,400              381,600                 -                -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sameer E. Shalaby                       -            -             24,000            1,226,000                 -                -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bernard C. Mazon                        -            -             70,000              430,000                 -                -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Adam Slovik                             -            -                  -            1,226,000                 -                -

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

" [END OF EXCERPT]

Such details change over time. Encourage students to access other filings and compare them to the above. For example, access the DEFINITIVE NOTICE AND PROXY STATEMENT 

SCHEDULE 14A in filing DEF 14A containing a Letter to Stockholders dated April 29, 2005. That filing includes the following telling passage:

"Annual Base Salary 

TenFold believes that base salary is frequently a significant factor in 

attracting, motivating, and retaining skilled executive officers. Accordingly, 

the Compensation Committee reviews base salaries of executive officers annually 

and generally sets the base salary of its executive officers at or near the 

average of the levels paid by the other companies it reviews. TenFold 

generally awards base salary increases to individuals who assume significant new 

responsibilities. In order to support TenFold’s cash preservation, in 2002, 

several officers accepted a reduced annual base salary of $150,000. As of 

December 31, 2004, five officers were compensated at this rate." 

This is elaborated upon for the CEO as follows:

"2004 CEO Compensation 

 During 2004, Dr. Nancy M. Harvey served as TenFold’s President, Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Her base annual salary in earlier years was 

$600,000. Since October 16, 2002, however, Dr. Harvey has voluntarily drawn a 

reduced salary based on an annualized amount of $150,000. Dr. Harvey was granted 

stock options as shown below in the section entitled “Option Grants – Options 

Granted in 2004.” Dr. Harvey’s compensation for 2004 was determined based on the 

same general policies and criteria as the compensation for TenFold’s other 

executive officers. In evaluating Dr. Harvey’s 2004 performance to determine her 

compensation and bonus, the Compensation Committee reviewed the following 

factors and accomplishments: Dr. Harvey’s voluntary reduction of cash 

compensation, careful expense control and cash management, broadening awareness 

of and interest in TenFold technology through new and expanded marketing and 

sales initiatives, identifying and establishing business practices and resources 

for handling future growth, maintaining positive relationships with key TenFold 

customers, releasing important technology, recruiting and maintaining executive 

talent, and leadership of TenFold in a challenging economic environment." 

Similarly, access the DEFINITIVE NOTICE AND PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A in filing DEF 14A containing a Letter to Stockholders dated May 1, 2006. An example of its disclosures follows:

"2005 CEO Compensation 

Through November 17, 2005, Nancy M. Harvey served as TenFold’s President, Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Her base annual salary in earlier 

years was $600,000. From October 16, 2002, however, Ms. Harvey voluntarily drew 

a reduced salary based on an annualized amount of $150,000. Ms. Harvey was 

granted stock options as shown in the section entitled “Option Grants – Options 

Granted in 2005.” Ms. Harvey’s compensation for 2005 was determined based on the 

same general policies and criteria as the compensation for TenFold’s other 

executive officers. In evaluating Ms. Harvey’s 2005 performance to determine her 

compensation and bonus, the Compensation Committee reviewed the following 

factors and accomplishments: Ms. Harvey’s voluntary reduction of cash 

compensation, careful expense control and cash management, broadening awareness 

of and interest in TenFold technology through new and expanded marketing and 

sales initiatives, and releasing important technology. 

Ms. Harvey departed from the Company and her role as President, Chief Executive 

Officer, and Chief Financial Officer on November 17, 2005. For the year ended 

December 31, 2005, we recognized estimated severance related charges related to 

her departure totaling $670,000, including an estimated option modification 

charge of $157,000; which represents our best estimate as the separation terms 

have not been finalized. The parties are in settlement discussions but a 

settlement has not been reached. 

Robert W. Felton became President and Chief Executive Officer on November 17, 

2005. Mr. Felton received no compensation for 2005 for these responsibilities. 

We anticipate that he will likely be compensated in the future primarily in the 

form of stock options, however the Compensation Committee has not yet determined 

compensation arrangements with Mr. Felton. He received an option grant earlier 

during 2005 in connection with his role as a director (as did other 

non-management directors) – see the section entitled “Option Grants – Options 

Granted in 2005” for more information. "

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss how financial conditions in a company interrelate with compensation practices. Students will likely find the voluntary concessions made and the shift away from salary to stock options of interest. A real opportunity exists to discuss risk-taking, incentives, ways of managing financial stress, and the role of accounting in disclosure of strategies and consequences. 

4. Access the PCAOB Web site and describe how its guidance relates to TenFold Corporation. Consider issues including the relative size of TenFold Corporation, its events from the initial public offering (IPO) to date, and the applicability of Sarbanes-Oxley related provisions.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act led to the creation of an independent organization known as the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board or PCAOB. That body initially monitored and evaluated the Auditing Standards Board and the activities of the Securities and Exchange Commission's Practice Section of the AICPA Division for CPA Firms. However, instead of merely monitoring such activities, the PCAOB decided to set auditing standards itself and to establish an inspection process.   The SEC's web site under "Regulatory Actions" has a menu item "PCAOB Rulemaking." The PCAOB is not a government agency but instead is a not-for-profit entity.  In December of 2003, the PCAOB issued its first auditing standard calling for a change in future audit reports whereby rather than stating "conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards," the report will read thereafter for public companies as "conducted in accordance with standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board."  In 2004, a second standard had been issued entitled An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction With An Audit of Financial Statements, as had Auditing Standard No. 3 - Audit Documentation.  In 2005, the PCAOB proposed Auditing Standard, Reporting on the Elimination of a Material Weakness that would establish a voluntary audit engagement to report on the elimination of a material weakness, leading to Auditing Standard No. 4 (AS4), Reporting on Whether a Previously Reported Material Weakness Continues to Exist.

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) sets auditing standards for public companies and regulates the public accounting profession. As a result, there may be future effects of the PCAOB's actions that influence the application of accounting principles. Activities of the PCAOB can be monitored at http://www.pcaobus.org. Also see the May 24, 2005 PCAOB's initiation of its first enforcement actions against several accountants and emerging practice questions on how the PCAOB and SEC will coordinate their activities and the resultant costs of apparent reluctance to perform joint investigations (see the related June 6, 2005 Gibson Dunn Update on "PCAOB Initiates Enforcement Investigations" issued by Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, http://www.gibsondunn.com/practices/publications/).

As of March 17, 2005, 1,477 public accounting firms were registered with the PCAOB, 921 of which are domestic and 556 are foreign. The PCAOB has 291 employees of whom 123 are in the inspections group. (These statistics are reported in the Minutes of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council meeting on March 22, 2005 --Attachment A, p. 5.)

RECAP: Public Companies Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)

The Statements on Auditing Standards promulgated by the Auditing Standards Board have been codified into the AICPA Professional Standards, Volume 1, as AU sections 100 through 900 and were adopted on an interim basis in PCAOB Rule 3200T. 

Rule 3201T relates to temporary transitional provision for PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2 (expiring July 15, 2005 -- see the January 21, 2005 Staff Question and Answer at the PCAOB web site for Q37 regarding the temporary transitional rule that explains in A37 that two separate documentation completion dates do not result if the auditor's repot on management's assessment of internal control is released within the time period described), Rule 3300T identifies Interim Attestation Standards, Rule 3400T describes Interim Quality Control Standards, and Rule 3500T details Interim Ethics Standards

Auditing Standard No. 1

Called for a change in future audit reports whereby rather than stating "conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards" the report will read "conducted in accordance with standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board." (December 2003)

Auditing Standard No. 2 - An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction With An Audit of Financial Statements (approved by SEC June 18, 2004)

Auditing Standard No. 3 - Audit Documentation (approved by SEC August 25, 2004)

Proposed Auditing Standard, Reporting on the Elimination of a Material Weakness (PCAOB Release No. 2005-002, March 31, 2005, PCAOB Rulemaking Docket Matter No. 018) -- would establish a voluntary audit engagement to report on the elimination of a material weakness

Auditing Standard No. 4 (AS4), Reporting on Whether a Previously Reported Material Weakness Continues to Exist

.

Release No. 2005-009 "Policy Statement Regarding Implementation of Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial Statements (May 16, 2005)

PCAOB Staff Questions and Answers on Auditing Internal Control Over Financial Reporting were also issued (May 16, 2005, Q38-Q55)



On July 28, 2006, The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) announced that Audit Practice Alerts would be periodically issued by the Board’s staff, highlighting new, emerging, or otherwise noteworthy circumstances that may affect how auditors conduct audits under the existing requirements of PCAOB standards and relevant laws. Audit Practice Alerts will be posted to the Board’s Web site, www.pcaobus.org.  In addition, to increase the likelihood of affecting audit practices in a timely manner, the staff will also transmit Audit Practice Alerts to registered public accounting firms by e-mail whenever possible.

Concurrently, on July 28, 2006, the Board's staff issued Staff Audit Practice Alert No. 1 Matters Related to Timing and Accounting for Option Grants. The PCAOB announced that the Alert had been prompted by recent reports and disclosures about issuer practices related to the granting of stock options, including the “backdating” of such grants. Specific mention is made to restatements and other legal and other contingencies, potentially leading to "recognition of additional expense or disclosure in financial statements."  The press release stated that "The alert advises auditors that these practices may have implications for audits of financial statements or of internal control over financial reporting and discusses factors that may be relevant in assessing the risks related to these matters." 

On June 9, 2006, the PCAOB staff's opinions on implementation issues -- Staff Questions and Answers-- were provided on Adjustments to Prior-Period Financial Statements Audited by A Predecessor Auditor.  In particular, this guidance which is neither issued as rules nor approved by the Board, addresses circumstances in which a change in accounting or a correction of an error arise, affecting respective responsibilities of the predecessor and successor auditors as to engagement scope and communication responsibilities. Content addressed includes matters associated with reissuing reports and not completing an audit. This guidance may be particularly helpful when evaluating a setting involving backdating-related matters, or option associated changes in accounting or correction of errors. 

Advisors to the PCAOB met June 13, 2006 and discussed the legal problems that could arise from spring-loading as well as backdating, potentially posing insider trading concerns. Spring-loading suggests that option grants were ahead of market-moving news. 

Bloomberg published an article by Vineeta Anand, dated July 6, 2006, titled "Timing Option Grants Isn't Insider Trading, SEC's Atkins Says." Yet, the PCAOB advisors appear to have a different opinion (June 13, 2006Reuters article by Kevin Drabaugh and Joel Rothstein, "Audit Panel Advisers Voice Backdating Worries"). It refers to spring-loading and the potential insider trading issue. Of course, the PCAOB may be anticipating the next move in regulation and merely alerting the audit community to the risk exposure from such claims. The SEC's Staff Guidance regarding accounting for grants of stock options (September 19, 2006) suggests that timing of options relative to the timing of information disclosure to the public does not provide a basis for adjusting the stock price at the measurement date. The spring-loading issue discussed by SEC Commissioner Paul Atkins speaks to the idea that better timed and lower-priced options can substitute for more options and thereby reduce the degree of dilution inherent in such an approach to compensation. The article cited relays a sarcastic quote that draws an analogy to the idea that letting employees steal from cash registers likewise reduces what has to be paid. As an example of later media attention to this matter of spring-loading, see "DJ IN THE MONEY: Children's Place Has More Explaining To Do" by Michael Rapoport in A Dow Jones Newswires Column on 09-20-06 at 1020ET.

The PCAOB advisory board member interviewed in the press about the nature of the information that is expected to prompt auditor inquiry suggests that a reported correlation in an academic study does not mean that a restatement will be forced but does mean that an auditor should start asking questions. The PCAOB advisors called for guidance that an audit inquiry be prompted if information becomes available that something may have been amiss.

The working paper "Lucky CEOs" by Lucian Bebchuk, Yaniv Grinstein, and Urs Peyer, revised November 16, 2006, reports that lucky grants analyzed from 1996 to 2005 were substantially tied to backdating rather than spring-loading based on inside information.

On September 19, 2006, The Chairman of the PCAOB Mark W. Olson testified concerning Sarbanes-Oxley Before the Committee on Financial Services United States House of Representatives; on page 6 of the transcript, downloadable from pcaobus.org, mention is made that PCAOB inspections are risk based, focusing on the aspects of audits that present greatest risk.

Examples of PCAOB guidance on independence includes the rules approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 19, 2006, with varying effective dates, found in the document entitled: Ethics and Independence Rules Concerning Independence, Tax Services and Contingent Fees. On 10/31/2006 and again on November 31, 2006, the PCAOB set forth an Implementation Schedule for Certain Ethics and Independence Rules Concerning Independence, Tax Services, and Contingent Fees.  

Developments to Watch: The SEC has announced its intent to improve the efficiency of the internal control related provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, particularly with regard to smaller companies. The ideas set forth on December 13, 2006 included the lack of a need to test controls with low risk of affecting financial statements. The media indicated the SEC's intended reduction of both repeated testing of controls and paperwork demands associated with the internal control provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. A document has been released for comment. Further guidance from the PCAOB that will be subject to approval by the SEC has likewise been announced. Check the sec.gov and pcaobus.org sites for further details. (Nightly Business Report (NBR) (on PBS December 13, 2006) reported on these developments, as did the Wall Street Journal: "SEC to Propose New Guidance on Internal Controls" by Kara Scannell, December 13, 2006, p. C4.) A resource to which Instructors may wish to focus attention is the home page (http://www.coso.org/) which includes publications, articles, conferences, and key concepts associated with controls.

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss the controversy over the PCAOB's formation and powers. See the legal case: Free Enterprise Fund v. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, 06-217, U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia.

NOTE: The AICPA Audit Committee Toolkit is a how-to guide to assist in complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the proposal requirements of the PCAOB and is available free from www.aicpa.org/audcommctr.

•Exercise E (Depending on which Databases are Accessible) - Use Special-Purpose Databases

1. Access the Lexis/Nexis Academic Universe or CD-ROM version, if it is available. Consider the litigation you have seen cited both in the media and among the disclosures in SEC filings. Perform a search of the Lexis portion of Lexis/Nexis to identify the cases and their general nature. 

To do so using Lexis/Nexis Academic Universe, access Legal Research and a descriptive screen on Basic Legal Research will show subheads of Secondary Literature, Case Law, Codes & Regulations, Patent Research, and Career Information. If you select Get a Case, the first bullet under Case Law, then a screen will appear offering the option to retrieve a case by citation or by party name. From the materials you have accessed, you should be able to locate the case caption(s). Note that Lexis/Nexis Academic Universe asks for input of the parties permitting you to type, for example, TenFold Corporation or the SEC as a Party to litigation. In other words, you need not have the legal citation requested. Hit the Search button and under the document list will be the citations, any of which you can choose to review. If Lexis/Nexis is unavailable, check Internet resources such as those described herein and http://www.courtsonline.org. Since you have an interest in a particular case, you could also seek information in hard-copy form from a law library. Moreover, SEC filings will contain descriptions of litigation. When it is the SEC filing the case, sec.gov posts litigation and enforcement releases. 

Compare the description you access from SEC filings to that found in the Lexis/Nexis or similar data source. If you were responsible for drafting the disclosure found in the SEC filing, what adjustments to its content would you recommend?

Using findlaw on the Internet in August 2006, with the search phrase tenfold corporation produces the following citation:

"http://classaction.findlaw.com/cases/securities/sec/sec1/files/2002/lr17852.html 

... District of Columbia against TenFold Corporation ("TenFold"), a software development ... and Exchange Commission v. TenFold ... 

http://classaction.findlaw.com/cases/securities/sec/sec1/files/2002/lr17852.html

http://classaction.findlaw.com/cases/securities/sec/sec1/summary/2002.html ... al. [11/20] LR-17852 TenFold Corporation, Gary D. Kennedy, Robert P ... 15]"

The November 17, 2005 8-K filed by TenFold Corporation can be retrieved from the sec.gov web site. 

Compare the legal allegations to the content found in the November 17, 2005 8-K filed by TenFold Corporation that can be retrieved from the sec.gov web site. Discuss how disclosures are handled for pending legal cases and what challenges arise for the company as well as the user of financial statements.

IDEA: Stanford Law School has reported for 2006 that the total number of shareholder suits filed was about half the level of prior years. Instructors will want to discuss the empirical observation that security class action filings in 2006 in the United States were at a level of 110, compared with 178 in 2005. What types of factors may relate to such statistics? Some have cited the fact that time has distanced cases from the "bubble" pre the 2000 era, while others suggest that the volatility of the market has lessened and the enforcement environment has strengthened. Media coverage can be accessed as background for a discussion of such perspectives. In December of 2006, a class action that accused investment firms of manipulating the price of initial public offerings was not allowed to proceed by the U.S. appeals court in New York. A related discussion of tort reform can be found in the cover story of Business Week, "How Business Trounced The Trial Lawyers" by Michael Orey (January 8, 2007).  
2. Using the COMPUSTAT database, download a report on the information available for TenFold, as well as a similar report for the key competitors within their industry. If COMPUSTAT is unavailable, check to see what resources with company financial information are available at your library. Compare the ease of use, quality of information, and relative advantages and disadvantages of these resources, relative to the Internet sources described herein.

Compustat in 2001 can be used to access TENFOLD CORP, SIC Code 7372, Identification Number 83-0302610; leading to numerous fields for analysis. A sample report of a few descriptives follow: 

Company


TENFOLD CORP

SIC Code


7372 (In millions of Dollars Unless Reported Per Share)

Sales




52.565

Cost of Sales



22.636

Gross Profit




29.929

Gross Profit Margin



56.937

SGA Exp.




29.341

EBITDA




0.588

EBITDA Margin



1.119

Depreciation



6.968

EBIT




-6.38

EBIT margin



-12.137

Int. Exp.




1.249

Nonop Inc. & Exp.



1.441

Special Items



-6.515

Pretax Income



-12.703

Total Taxes




2.965

Minority Int.



0

Net Inc.




-15.668

Cash Preferred Div.



0

Discontinued Operations


0

Extra. Items




0

Basic EPS Excluding Extra Items

-0.44

Diluted EPS Excluding Extra. Items

-0.44

Shares Used in Computing Basic EPS
35.623

Shares Used in Computing Diluted EPS
35.623

EPS from Operations


-0.32

Basic EPS Including Extra. Items

-0.44

Diuted EPS Including Extra. Items

-0.44

Total Assets



27.476

An advantage of COMPUSTAT is the availability of historical information, as well as the defined financial fields. For example, the industry composition and financial profile for 1996 can be accessed. For instructors' ease of availability, the following listing of companies within the industry then associated with TENFOLD (recall the IPO was not until 1999), as well as those associated with the latter years' SIC assigned to TENFOLD was accessed. The information bears out the far larger number of companies competing in the 7372 SIC code classification than in the 7371 SIC. This fact may provide insight as to why the company changed its strategy in later years. A profile of descriptive statistics for sample fields of financial information is likewise presented for each of the SIC codes (generally in millions of dollars, unless per share data are involved -- the company listing was identified in the 2000 time frame and profiled historically, which is why Tenfold Corporation is cited but no financial information is listed in 1996).  

IDEA: An opportunity is at hand to discuss how databases such as COMPUSTAT define the various fields they report and the challenges faced due to the use of diverse line items in financial statements. Encourage students to choose a company of interest and compare that which is reported in Compustat to the same year's 10-K filing. What differences are observed and why?

COMPUSTAT INCLUDES SIC CODE 7372 FOR 828 COMPANIES:

Company
Company
Company

3DO COMPANY
DELTEK SYSTEMS INC
LEGATO SYSTEMS INC

724 SOLUTIONS INC
DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL INC
LEGENT CORP

724 SOLUTIONS INC
DESCARTES SYSTEMS GROUP INC
LERNOUT & HAUSPIE SPEECH PD

ABOVE TECHNOLOGIES INC
DESCARTES SYSTEMS GROUP INC
LHS GROUP INC

ABSOLUTE ENTERTAINMENT INC
DESK TOP FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS
LIBERATE TECHNOLOGIES

ACCELER8 TECHNOLOGY CORP
DIAGONAL DATA CORP
LIFEF/X INC

ACCELGRAPHICS INC
DIEHL GRAPHSOFT INC
LIFERATE SYSTEMS INC

ACCLAIM ENMNT INC
DIGIMARC CORP
LIGHTNING ROD SOFTWARE INC

ACCRUE SOFTWARE INC
DIGITAL LAVA INC
LIGHTSPAN INC

ACTFIT.COM INC
DIGITAL ORIGIN INC
LION BIOSCIENCE AG  -ADR

ACTIONPOINT INC
DIMIS INC
LIONBRIDGE TECHNOLOGIES INC

ACTIVE SOFTWARE INC
DIVERSINET CORP
LIVEPERSON INC

ACTIVEWORLDS.COM INC
DOCENT INC
LOGIC WORKS INC

ACTIVISION INC
DOCUCORP INTERNATIONAL INC
LOGILITY INC

ACTUATE CORP
DOCUMENT SCIENCES CORP
LOISLAW.COM INC

ACTV INC
DOCUMENTUM INC
LOTUS DEVELOPMENT CORP

ADAM.COM INC
DR HOLDINGS/DE
MACROMEDIA INC

ADEPT TECHNOLOGY INC
DR SOLOMONS GROUP PLC  -ADR
MACROMEDIA INC-PROFORMA

ADEXA INC
DSET CORP
MADE2MANAGE SYSTEMS INC

ADOBE SYSTEMS INC
E MEDSOFT.COM
MAGIC SOFTWARE ENTERPRISES

ADVANCED INST MGMT SOFTWARE
E SIM LTD
MAGMA DESIGN AUTOMATION INC

ADVENT SOFTWARE INC
E-CRUITER.COM INC
MANAGEMENT GRAPHICS INC

AETHER SYSTEMS INC
E.PIPHANY INC
MANAGEMENT SCIENCE AMERICA

AGILE SOFTWARE CORP
EAGLE POINT SOFTWARE CORP
MANAGEMENT SUPPORT TECH INC

AHT CORP
EASEL CORP
MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIES INC

ALBARA CORP
EBIX.COM INC
MANUFACTURING DATA SYSTEMS

ALDUS CORP
EBT INTERNATIONAL INC
MANUGISTICS GROUP INC

ALIAS RESEARCH INC
ECAL CORP
MAPICS INC

ALLAIRE CORP
ECOMETRY CORP
MAPINFO CORP

ALTAI INC
EDGEWATER TECHNOLOGY INC
MARCAM SOLUTIONS INC

ALYSIS TECHNOLOGIES INC
EDIFY CORP
MARIMBA INC

AMDOCS LTD
EDMARK CORP
MATHSOFT INC

AMERICAN EDUCATION CORP
EDP SYSTEMS INC
MATRIXONE INC

AMERICAN EDUCATIONAL COMPUTR
EDUNETICS LTD
MAXIS INC

AMERICAN MILLENIUM CORP
EDUSOFT LTD
MCAFEE.COM CORP

AMERICAN SOFTWARE  -CL A
EDWARDS J D & CO
MDL INFORMATION SYS INC

AMHERST ASSOCIATES INC
EFFECTIVE MGMT SYSTEMS INC
MDSI MOBILE DATA SOLUTIONS

AMS/REALSTAR INC
EGAIN COMMUNICATIONS
MDSI MOBILE DATA SOLUTIONS

ANALOGY INC
EGAMES INC
MECA SOFTWARE INC

ANDYNE COMPUTING LTD
EIDOS PLC  -ADR
MECHANICAL DYNAMICS

ANSOFT CORP
ELECTRO BRAIN INTL
MEDICAL DYNAMICS INC

ANSYS INC
ELECTRONIC ARTS INC
MEDICALOGIC/MEDSCAPE INC

APPLIED COMMUNICATIONS INC
ELOQUENT INC
MEDICATION SERVICES INC

APPLIED CONTROL SYSTEMS INC
ELRON ELECTRONIC INDS  -ORD
MEDICUS SYSTEMS CORP

APPLIED DATA RESEARCH INC
ENGINEERING ANIMATION INC
MEMCO SOFTWARE LTD

APPLIED MICROSYSTEMS CORP
ENLIGHTEN SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS
MERANT PLC  -SPON ADR

APPLIX INC
ENTERPRISE SOFTWARE INC
MERCATOR SOFTWARE INC

APROPOS TECHNOLOGY INC
ENTRUST TECHNOLOGIES INC
MERCURY INTERACTIVE CORP

ARCHITEL SYSTEMS CORP
EPIC DESIGN TECHNOLOGY INC
MERIDIAN DATA INC

ARDENT SOFTWARE INC
EPICOR SOFTWARE CORP
MERIT STUDIOS INC

AREMISSOFT CORP/DE
EPIQ SYSTEMS INC
META-SOFTWARE INC

ARGENT CAPITAL CORP
EPRISE CORP
METASOLV INC

ARIBA INC
EROOM TECHNOLOGY INC
METROWERKS INC

ARRAYS INC
ESPS INC
MGI SOFTWARE CORP

ARRAYS INC-NEW
ESYNCH CORP
MICROGRAFX INC

ART TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC
EVOLVE SOFTWARE INC
MICROLEAGUE MULTIMEDIA INC

ARTIFICIAL LIFE INC
EXCELON CORP
MICROLYTICS INC

ARTISOFT INC
EXCHANGE APPLICATIONS
MICROMUSE INC

ASCENDANT SOLUTIONS INC
EXE TECHNOLOGIES INC
MICROPROSE INC

ASHTON-TATE CO
EXPERT SOFTWARE INC
MICROSOFT CORP

ASPECT DEVELOPMENT INC
EXPERTELLIGENCE INC
MICROSTRATEGY INC

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY INC
EXTENSITY INC
MICROTEC RESEARCH INC

ASTEA INTERNATIONAL INC
FDP CORP
MICROWARE SYSTEMS CORP

AT COMM CORP
FILENET CORP
MIDISOFT CORP

ATI NETWORKS INC
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE CORP
MIDWAY GAMES INC

ATRIA SOFTWARE INC
FIREFOX COMMUNICATIONS INC
MIGENT SOFTWARE CORP

ATTUNITY LTD
FIREPOND INC
MIGRATEC INC

AUDRE RECOGNITION SYS INC
FIRSTWAVE TECHNOLOGIES INC
MIND CTI LTD

AURUM SOFTWARE INC
FLEXIINTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE
MINDLEADERS.COM INC

AUTO GRAPHICS INC
FOREFRONT GROUP INC
MINDSCAPE INC

AUTODESK INC
FORTE SOFTWARE INC
MINNESOTA EDL COMPUTING CORP

AUTONOMY CORP PLC  -ADR
FORTEL INC/CA
MISSION CRITICAL SOFTWARE

AVANT CORP
FOUNDRY NETWORKS INC
MOBIUS MGMT SYSTEMS INC

AVANTGO INC
FOURTH SHIFT CORP
MODATECH SYSTEMS INC

AWARD SOFTWARE INTL INC
FRACTAL DESIGN CORP
MOLDFLOW CORP

AXENT TECHNOLOGIES INC
FRAME TECHNOLOGY CORP/CA
MOMENTUM BUSINESS APPS INC

AXIOM SYSTEMS INC
FREY ASSOCIATES INC
MORINO INC

AXS-ONE INC
FRONTSTEP INC
MRO SOFTWARE INC

BAAN COMPANY NV
FTP SOFTWARE INC
MSC SOFTWARE CORP

BACKWEB TECHNOLOGIES LTD
FULCRUM TECHNOLOGIES INC
MULTI SOFT INC

BAKBONE SOFTWARE INC
GAMETEK INC
MULTI SOLUTIONS INC

BANCTEC INC
GENERAL AUTOMATION
MULTICOM PUBLISHING INC

BE INC
GENESYS TELECOMM LABS INC
MUSE TECHNOLOGIES INC

BEA SYSTEMS INC
GENOMICA CORP
MUSTANG.COM INC

BEST SOFTWARE INC
GENSYM CORP
MYND CORP

BGS SYSTEMS INC
GENTIA SOFTWARE PLC  -ADR
MYWEB INC.COM

BINDVIEW DEVELOPMENT CORP
GEOTEL COMMUNICATIONS CORP
NATIONAL HEALTH ENHANCE SYS

BITSTREAM INC  -CL A
GEOWORKS CORP
NATIONAL INSTRUMENTS CORP

BLAZE SOFTWARE INC
GK INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS INC
NCA CORP

BLUE MARTINI SOFTWARE INC
GLOBAL MED TECHNOLOGIES INC
NEON SYSTEMS INC

BLUESTONE SOFTWARE INC
GLOBALINK INC
NESTOR INC

BMC SOFTWARE INC
GMIS INC
NET PERCEPTIONS INC

BOOLE & BABBAGE INC
GOAL SYSTEMS INTL INC
NET.GENESIS CORP

BORLAND SOFTWARE CORP
GRAPHIX ZONE INC
NET4MUSIC INC

BOTTOMLINE TECHNOLOGIES INC
GRAPHON CORP
NETCENTIVES INC

BOUNCEBACKTECHNOLOGIES.COM
GREAT BEAR TECHNOLOGY INC
NETEGRITY INC

BPI SYSTEMS INC
GREAT PLAINS SOFTWARE INC
NETGENICS INC

BRILLIANT DIGITAL ENTMT INC
GREENLIGHT COMMUNICATNS INC
NETGRAVITY INC

BRIO TECHNOLOGY INC
GREYSTONE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY
NETIQ CORP

BROADBASE SOFTWARE
GRIC COMMUNICATIONS INC
NETMANAGE INC

BRODERBUND SOFTWARE INC
GROUP 1 SOFTWARE INC
NETOBJECTS INC

BSQUARE CORP
GROUP 1 SOFTWARE INC-OLD
NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORP

BUILDNET INC
GSE SYSTEMS INC
NETSOL INTERNATIONAL INC

BURNTSAND INC
HAHT COMMERCE INC
NETSPEAK CORP

BUSINESS COMPUTER SOLUTIONS
HARBINGER CORP
NETWORK DATA PROCESSING CORP

BUSINESS OBJECTS SA  -SP ADR
HEALTH OUTCOMES MANAGMNT INC
NETWORK-1 SEC SOLUTIONS INC

C ATS SOFTWARE INC
HEALTH SYSTEMS DESIGN CORP
NETWORKS ASSOCIATES INC

CADENCE DESIGN SYS INC
HEALTHCARE.COM CORP
NEW DIMENSION SOFTWARE LTD

CAERE CORP
HNC SOFTWARE INC
NEW ERA OF NETWORKS INC

CALDERA INTERNATIONAL INC
HOGAN SYSTEMS INC
NEW PARADIGM SOFTWARE CORP

CALI COMPUTER SYSTEMS INC
HOSPLEX SYSTEMS INC
NEWKIDCO INTL INC

CALICO COMMERCE INC
HPR INC
NIKU CORP

CALIFORNIA SOFTWARE CORP
HUMMINGBIRD INC
NOVADIGM INC

CALTON INC
HUMMINGBIRD INC
NOVELL INC

CAMINOSOFT CORP
HYPERION SOFTWARE CORP
NSA INC

CAMINUS CORP
HYPERION SOLUTIONS CORP
NUANCE COMMUNICATIONS INC

CAPTARIS INC
I2 TECHNOLOGIES INC
NUMERICAL TECHNOLOGIES INC

CAPTURA SOFTWARE INC
IBS TECHNOLOGIES LTD
O C G TECHNOLOGY INC

CARECENTRIC INC
IENTERTAINMENT NETWORK INC
OBJECTIVE SYS INTEGRATRS INC

CARESCIENCE INC
IFS INTL HLDGS INC
OBJECTSHARE INC

CARLETON CORP
ILOG S A  -SPON ADR
OBJECTSPACE INC

CARREKER CORP
IMAGE BUSINESS SYS CORP
OCTUS INC

CATALYST INTERNATIONAL INC
IMAGE MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS INC
OMTOOL LTD

CAYENNE SOFTWARE INC
IMANAGE INC
ON TECHNOLOGY CORP

CCC INFORMATION SVCS GRP INC
IMARK TECHNOLOGIES INC
ON-LINE SOFTWARE INTL

CEDARA SOFTWARE CORP
INDEX TECHNOLOGY CORP
ON2 TECHNOLOGIES INC

CENTERSPAN COMMUN CORP
INDUS INTERNATIONAL INC
ONDISPLAY INC

CENTRA SOFTWARE INC
INDUS-MATEMATIK INTL
ONESOFT CORP

CENTURA SOFTWARE CORP
INET TECHNOLOGIES INC
ONLINE GAMING SYS LTD

CHANCELLOR COMPUTER CORP
INFERENCE CORP  -CL A
ONYX SOFTWARE CORP

CHECK POINT SOFTWARE TECHN
INFINITY FINL TECHNOLOGY INC
OPEN ENVIRONMENT CORP

CHEQUEMATE INTL INC
INFINIUM SOFTWARE INC
OPEN MARKET INC

CHEYENNE SOFTWARE INC
INFO DESIGNS INC
OPEN TEXT CORP

CHINATEK INC
INFOCORP COMPUTER SOLUTIONS
OPEN TEXT CORP

CHIPSOFT INC/DE  -CL A
INFOCURE CORP
OPENTV CORP

CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC
INFOGRAMES INC
OPENVISION TECHNLGS

CIMATRON LTD
INFORMATICA CORP
OPENWAVE SYSTEMS INC

CINTECH SOLUTIONS INC
INFORMATICS GENERAL CORP
OPNET TECHNOLOGIES INC

CITRIX SYSTEMS INC
INFORMATION &COMMUN APPLICTN
OPTIKA INC

CLARIFY INC
INFORMATION ADVNTGE SOFTWARE
OPTIO SOFTWARE INC

CLARUS CORP
INFORMATION ARCHITECTS CORP
OPTISYSTEMS SOLUTIONS LTD

CLICK COMMERCE INC
INFORMATION MGMT ASSOC INC
ORACLE CORP

CLICK2LEARN.COM INC
INFORMATION SCIENCE
ORCAD INC

CLICKACTION INC
INFORMAX INC
ORCHESTREAM HLDGS PLC  -ADR

CLICKSOFTWARE TECHNOL LTD
INFORMIX CORP
PACEL CORP

COGNICASE INC
INFORUM INC
PACKETEER INC

COGNICASE INC
INFOVISTA S A  -ADR
PALADYNE CORP

COGNITIVE SYSTEMS INC
INGENUUS CORP
PANSOPHIC SYSTEMS INC

COGNOS INC
INGRES CORP
PAPERCLIP SOFTWARE INC

COGNOS INC
INKTOMI CORP
PARADIGM GEOPHYSICAL LTD

COMMERCE ONE INC
INNOVATIVE SOFTWARE INC
PARAMETRIC TECHNOLOGY CORP

COMPLINK LTD
INNOVATIVE TECH SYSTEMS INC
PASW INC

COMPRESSENT CORP
INNOVEDA INC
PC DOCS GROUP INTL INC

COMPUTER ASSOCIATES INTL INC
INSIGNIA SOLUTIONS PLC  -ADR
PC-TEL INC

COMPUTER DESIGNED SYSTEMS
INTASYS CORP
PDA ENGINEERING

COMPUTER LANGUAGE RESEARCH
INTEGRATED COMPUTER GRAPHICS
PEERLESS SYSTEMS CORP

COMPUTERVISION CORP
INTEGRATED SILICON SYS INC
PEGASYSTEMS INC

COMPUWARE CORP
INTEGRATED SOFTWARE SYS CORP
PEOPLESOFT INC

COMSERV CORP
INTEGRATED SYSTEMS INC
PEREGRINE SYSTEMS INC

COMSHARE INC
INTELIDATA TECHNOLOGIES CORP
PERITUS SOFTWARE SVCS INC

CONCENTRA CORP
INTELLIGENT SYSTEM CP
PERSISTENCE SOFTWARE INC

CONCENTREX INC
INTERACT COMMERCE CORP
PERVASIVE SOFTWARE INC

CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC
INTERACTIVE INTELLIGENCE INC
PFSWEB INC

CONCUR TECHNOLOGIES INC
INTERACTIVE SYSTEMS CORP
PHARMACOPEIA INC

CONNECTINC.COM CO
INTERLEAF INC
PHARSIGHT CORP

CONSCO ENTERPRISES INC
INTERLINQ SOFTWARE CORP
PHASER SYSTEMS INC

CONTINUUM INC
INTERNATIONAL COMPUTEX INC
PHOENIX TECHNOLOGIES LTD

CONTINUUS SOFTWARE CORP
INTERNET SECURITY SYS INC
PHYSICIANS REIMBURSMENT SVCS

CONVERA CORP
INTERPLAY ENTERTAINMENT CORP
PIRANHA INTERACTIVE PUBG INC

COOPER & CHYAN TECH INC
INTERSHOP COMMUN AG  -ADR
PIVOTAL CORP

CORDERO INDUSTRIES INC
INTERSOLV
PIVOTAL CORP

COREL CORP
INTERTRUST TECHNOLOGIES CORP
PLANETCAD INC

COREL CORP
INTERWORLD CORP
PLATINUM TECHNOLOGY INTL INC

CORILLIAN CORP
INTERWOVEN INC
PLAYNET TECHNOLOGIES INC

COVER-ALL TECHNOLOGIES INC
INTEX SOFTWARE SYSTEMS INTL
PORTAL SOFTWARE INC

CREATOR CAPITAL LTD
INTL MICROCOMPUTER SOFTWARE
PORTIVITY INC

CROSSKEYS SYSTEMS CORP
INTRANET SOLUTIONS INC
POWERCERV CORP

CROSSKEYS SYSTEMS CORP
INTUIT INC
POWERSOFT CORP

CROSSWORLDS SOFTWARE INC
IONA TECHNOLOGIES PLC  -ADR
PRACTICEWORKS INC

CRYPTOLOGIC INC
IQ SOFTWARE CORP
PRECIS SMART CARD SYS INC

CRYPTOLOGIC INC
IRONSIDE TECHNOLOGIES INC
PRECISE SOFTWARE SOLTNS LTD

CRYSTAL SYSTMS SOLUTIONS LTD
ISOCOR
PREISS (BYRON) MULTIMEDIA

CT HOLDINGS INC
ISTEC INDUSTRIES & TECH LTD
PREMENOS TECHNOLOGY CORP

CULLINET SOFTWARE INC
IXOS SOFTWARE AG  -ADR
PREVIEW SYSTEMS INC

CUSEEME NETWORKS INC
JACADA LTD
PREVIO INC

CYBEAR GROUP
JDA SOFTWARE GROUP INC
PRIME RESPONSE INC

CYBERCASH INC
JETFORM CORP
PRIMUS KNOWLEDGE SOLUTIONS

CYBERGUARD CORP
KANA COMMUNICATIONS
PRISM SOLUTIONS INC

CYBERMEDIA INC
KFX INC
PRIVATE BUSINESS INC

CYBERTEK CORP
KNOWLEDGEWARE INC  -CL A
PROGRESS SOFTWARE CORP

DALEEN TECHNOLOGIES INC
LANDACORP INC
PUMATECH INC

DATALOGIX INTERNATIONAL INC
LANDMARK SYSTEM CORP
PURCHASESOFT INC

DATASTREAM SYSTEMS INC
LANGUAGEWARE NET CO LTD
PURE ATRIA CORP

DATAWATCH CORP
LASERGATE SYSTEM INC
QAD INC

DAVIDSON & ASSOCIATES INC
LEADINGSIDE INC
QORUS.COM INC

DAVOX CORP
LEARMNTH & BURCHTT MGT  -ADR
QUADRAMED CORP

DEGA TECHNOLOGY INC
LEARN2.COM INC
QUALIX GROUP INC

DELANO TECHNOLOGY CORP
LEARNING CO
QUARTERDECK CORP

DELRINA CORP-OLD
LEARNING COMPANY INC
QUERYOBJECT SYSTEMS CORP

Company
Company

QUEST SOFTWARE INC
SYSTEM SOFTWARE ASSOC INC

QUINTALINUX LTD
SYSTEMS & COMPUTER TECH CORP

QUINTUS CORP
SYSTEMS CENTER INC

RADVIEW SOFTWARE LTD
SYSTEMS OF EXCELLENCE

RADVISION LTD
SYSTEMSOFT CORP

RAINING DATA CORP
SYSTONETICS INC

RAND INFORMATION SYS
T/R SYSTEMS INC

RAPITECH SYSTEMS INC
TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SFTWR

RAPTOR SYSTEMS INC
TALARIAN CORP

RATIONAL SOFTWARE CORP
TANGRAM ENTP SOLUTIONS

REALAX SOFTWARE AG  -SP ADR
TARANTELLA INC

REALNETWORKS INC
TCSI CORP

RED BRICK SYSTEMS INC
TDK MEDIACTIVE INC

RED HAT INC
TECHNOLOGY MODELING ASSOC

REGISTRY MAGIC INC
TECNOMATIX TECHNOLOGIES LTD

REMEDY CORP
TELEGEN CORP

RENAISSANCE LEARNING INC
TELEMATE.NET SOFTWARE

RESONATE INC
TELYNX INC

RETALIX LTD
TEMPLATE SOFTWARE INC

RETEK INC
TENFOLD CORP

RIVERDEEP GROUP PLC  -ADR
TGV SOFTWARE INC

ROGUE WAVE SOFTWARE INC
THQ INC

ROSS SYSTEMS INC
TIBCO SOFTWARE INC

ROXIO INC
TIMBERLINE SOFTWARE CORP

SABA SOFTWARE INC
TIMELINE INC

SABER SOFTWARE CORP
TIVOLI SYSTEMS INC

SAGA SYSTEMS INC
TOP IMAGE SYSTEMS LTD

SAGENT TECHNOLOGY INC
TOP TIER SOFTWARE INC

SAMNA CORP
TOUCHSTONE SOFTWARE CORP

SANCHEZ COMPUTER ASSOCS INC
TOUCHTUNES MUSIC CORP

SANCTUARY WOOD MULTIMEDIA
TRADESTATION GROUP INC

SAND TECHNOLOGY INC  -CL A
TRANSFORM LOGIC CORP

SAP AG  -ADR
TRANSITION SYSTEMS INC/MA

SAPIENS INTL CORP N V
TREND MICRO INC  -SP ADR

SAPIENT CORP
TRIDEX CORP

SATYAM COMPUTER SVC LTD -ADR
TRINAGY INC

SCANSOFT INC
TRINZIC CORP

SCANVEC CO
TRIPOS INC

SCIENTIFIC LEARNING CORP
TRITEAL CORP

SCIENTIFIC SOFTWARE INTERCMP
TRIZETTO GROUP INC

SCOPUS TECHNOLOGY INC
TRNSACTN SYS ARCHTCTS  -CL A

SCRIBE SYSTEMS INC
TRUSTED INFORMATION SYS INC

SCS/COMPUTE INC
TUMBLEWEED COMMUNICATIONS CO

SECTOR COMMUNICATIONS INC
TURBOLINUX INC

SEDONA CORP
UCCEL CORP

SEEBEYOND TECHNOLOGY CORP
ULTICOM INC

SEEC INC
ULTIMATE SOFTWARE GROUP INC

SEER TECHNOLOGIES INC
ULTRADATA CORP

SEGUE SOFTWARE INC
UNIFY CORP

SELECT SOFTWARE TOOLS  -ADR
UNIGRAPHICS SOLUTIONS INC

SELECTICA INC
UNIQUEST INC

SEQUOIA SOFTWARE CORP
UNISON SOFTWARE INC

SERANOVA INC
UNITED SOFTWARE INDS INC

SERENA SOFTWARE INC
UNITED SOFTWARE SECURITY INC

SERVICEWARE TECHNOLOGIES INC
UNITED SYSTEMS TECHNOLOGY

SHAREDATA INC
UNITRONIX CORP

SHOWCASE CORP
US LAN SYSTEMS CORP

SIEBEL SYSTEMS INC
USCS INTL INC

SIERRA ON-LINE INC
USDATA CORP

SIGNALSOFT CORP
USINTERNETWORKING INC

SILICON VALLEY RESEARCH INC
V-ONE CORP

SILKNET SOFTWARE INC
VANTAGEMED CORP

SILVERSTREAM SOFTWARE INC
VANTIVE CORP

SIMULATION SCIENCES INC
VASTERA INC

SIMULATIONS PLUS INC
VERISIGN INC

SIMWARE INC
VERISITY LTD

SISCOM INC
VERITAS SOFTWARE CO

SITE TECHNOLOGIES INC
VERITY INC

SK TECHNOLOGIES CORP
VERSANT CORP

SMALLWORLDWIDE PLC  -ADR
VERSATA INC

SMARTERKIDS.COM INC
VERSATILITY INC

SMARTFORCE PUB LTD  -SP ADR
VERTEL CORP

SMARTSERV ONLINE INC
VERTEX INTERACTIVE INC

SMITH MICRO SOFTWARE INC
VERTICA SOFTWARE INC

SOFTDESK INC
VIADOR INC

SOFTGUARD SYSTEMS-OLD
VIASOFT INC

SOFTIMAGE INC
VIEWLOGIC SYSTEMS INC

SOFTKEY SOFTWARE PRODUCTS
VIEWPOINT CORP

SOFTQUAD SOFTWARE LTD
VIGNETTE CORP

SOFTWARE AG SYSTEMS  -OLD
VIRAGE INC

SOFTWARE ARTISTRY INC
VIRYANET LTD

SOFTWARE PUBLISHING CORP
VISIGENIC SOFTWARE INC

SOFTWARE SERVICES OF AM INC
VISIO CORP

SOFTWARE TOOLWORKS INC
VITAL IMAGES INC

SOFTWARE.COM INC
VITRIA TECHNOLOGY

SOFTWORKS INC
VITRIX INC

SONIC FOUNDRY INC
VIZACOM INC

SOURCINGLINK.NET INC
VOCALTEC COMMUNICATIONS LTD

SPANLINK COMMUNICATIONS INC
VOICENET INC

SPHINX INTERNATIONAL INC
VOXWARE INC

SPINNAKER SOFTWARE CORP
WALKER INTERACTIVE SYSTEMS

SPRINGBOARD SOFTWARE INC
WALL DATA INC

SPSS INC
WANG LABS INC

SPYGLASS INC
WATCHGUARD TECHNOLOGIES INC

SQA INC
WAVEFRONT TECHNOLOGIES INC

SS&C TECHNOLOGIES INC
WEBGAIN INC

STAR TECHNOLOGIES INC
WEBHIRE INC

STARBASE CORP
WEBMETHODS INC

STATE OF THE ART INC
WEBSENSE INC

STERLING COMMERCE INC
WEBTRENDS CORP

STERLING SOFTWARE INC
WINK COMMUNICATIONS INC

STOCKHOLDER SYSTEMS
WITNESS SYSTEMS INC

STORAGEAPPS INC
WONDERWARE CORP

STRUCTURAL DYNAMICS RESEARCH
WORKGROUP TECHNOLOGY CORP

STYLECLICK.COM INC
WORLDS INC

SUMMA TECHNOLOGIES INC
WORLDTALK COMMUNICATIONS CP

SUNHAWK.COM CORP
XCARE.NET INC

SUPPORT.COM INC
XCELLENET INC

SURGICAL SAFETY PRODUCTS INC
XIONICS DOCUMENT TECHNOLGIES

SVI SOLUTIONS INC
XOX CORP

SYBASE INC
XPEDIOR INC

SYMANTEC CORP
ZI CORP

SYNCRONYS SOFTCORP
ZI CORP

SYNOPSYS INC
ZIXIT CORP

SYNPLICITY INC
ZLAND.COM INC

SYNQUEST INC


For 465 of the 7372 SIC Code companies, data sets were available to profile financial statistics in 1996:

SIC 7372
Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin

Average
118.3878319
37.20116379
81.1866681
-31.20158621

Std Dev
542.497688
154.381456
437.9219182
899.6486269

Minimum
0
0
-176.099
-12660.527

Maximum
8671
2001
7846
100

Median
25.8285
6.4965
17.835
70.8475







SIC 7372
SGA Exp.
EBITDA
EBITDA Margin
Depreciation

Average
56.87715733
24.24373491
-156.2203922
5.793364224

Std Dev
255.2657609
203.4179072
1340.61025
29.22611252

Minimum
0
-308.357
-21581.102
0

Maximum
4405
3441
87.097
407

Median
16.575
1.216
6.039
0.9995







SIC 7372
EBIT
EBIT margin
Int. Exp.
Nonop Inc. & Exp.

Average
18.51614655
-168.6128427
0.717696121
2.178461207

Std Dev
176.695402
1410.771944
5.270717849
13.41024485

Minimum
-314.848
-22639.37
0
-6.917

Maximum
3078
87.097
104
271

Median
0.446
2.2435
0.041
0.4285







SIC 7372
Special Items
Pretax Income
Total Taxes
Minority Int.

Average
-5.67187931
14.30293966
7.898394397
-0.005092672

Std Dev
31.16749219
179.3289901
65.99658989
0.181617909

Minimum
-598
-405.451
-46.393
-1.282

Maximum
39.752
3379
1184
3.016

Median
0
-0.0385
0.056
0







SIC 7372
Net Inc.
Cash Preferred Div.
Discontinued Operations
Extra. Items

Average
6.409637931
0.136221983
0.285743534
-0.004931034

Std Dev
115.6831529
1.364343551
8.421790864
0.313784603

Minimum
-405.451
-0.862
-33.799
-4.734

Maximum
2195
22.6
177.29
3.547

Median
-0.1845
0
0
0







SIC 7372
Basic EPS Excluding Extra Items
Diluted EPS Excluding Extra. Items
Shares Used in Computing Basic EPS
Shares Used in Computing Diluted EPS

Average
-1.029049569
-1.015038793
48.24464009
6.163155172

Std Dev
10.56758754
10.56713074
369.656036
22.18905918

Minimum
-224.402
-224.402
0
0

Maximum
2.67
2.67
6055.767
300.908

Median
-0.03
0
10.811
0







SIC 7372
EPS from Operations
Basic EPS Including Extra. Items
Diluted EPS Including Extra. Items
Total Assets

Average
-0.556773707
-1.023954741
-1.008306034
130.4654224

Std Dev
4.909753567
10.57020404
10.5696511
613.1190969

Minimum
-99.001
-224.402
-224.402
0

Maximum
2.67
3.49
3.325
10093

Median
0.04
-0.03
0
31.9495

Note that 248 of these entities in 1996 had net losses, while those with net income averaged 27.47. 

Compustat code 7371 appears for the following 49 companies:

Company
Company

ALLIN CORP
IXL ENTERPRISES INC

ANALYSTS INTERNATIONAL CORP
KEANE INC

APPNET INC
LEVEL 8 SYS INC

COMPLETE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
LOGICON INC

COMPTEK RESEARCH INC
LYNUXWORKS INC

CONSILIUM INC
PINNACLE DATA SYSTEMS INC

CONVERGENT SOLUTIONS INC
PROTOCOM DEVICES INC

CORDATUM INC
SAVILLE SYSTEMS PLC  -ADR

CORIO INC
SCIENTIFIC SYSTEMS  -CL A

COTELLIGENT INC
SIGMATICS

CSK CORP  -SPON ADR
SILVERLINE TECHNOL LTD  -ADR

DATA ARCHITECTS INC
SIMPLEX SOLUTIONS INC

DATA SYSTEMS & SOFTWARE INC
SPEECHWORKS INTL INC

DECISION SYSTEMS INC
TECHNALYSIS CORP

DELSOFT CONSULTING INC
TEKNOWLEDGE CORP

ECOLLEGE.COM
TEKNOWLEDGE INC

EVOLVING SYSTEMS INC
TELLURIAN INC

FORSOFT LTD
TELOS CORPORATION

GENERAL SCIENCES CORP
TSR INC

HOMECOM COMMUNICATIONS INC
VALICERT INC

IGATE CAPITAL CORP
VANGUARD TECH INTL  -CL A

INFORMATION ANALYSIS INC
WALSH INTERNATIONAL INC

INFOSYS TECHNOLOGIES LTD
WIND RIVER SYSTEMS INC

INTELLICORP INC
WIZTEC SOLUTIONS LTD

INTERMETRICS INC


For 24 of the 7371 SIC Code companies, data sets were available to profile financial statistics in 1996:

SIC 7371
Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin

Average
140.74
100.12
40.63
43.12

Std Dev
251.90
190.99
62.82
19.72

Minimum
0.82
0.27
0.53
17.93

Maximum
1,099.59
817.42
282.17
85.53

Median
48.48
19.17
18.47
39.12







SIC 7371
SGA Exp.
EBITDA
EBITDA Margin
Depreciation

Average
28.74
11.89
-15.70
3.04

Std Dev
46.97
18.74
96.13
5.52

Minimum
1.27
-6.10
-454.17
0.02

Maximum
223.83
60.09
28.28
22.76

Median
13.80
4.42
7.04
1.06







SIC 7371
EBIT
EBIT margin
Int. Exp.
Nonop Inc. & Exp.

Average
8.85
-21.28
1.15
-1.58

Std Dev
15.07
106.65
3.66
11.19

Minimum
-6.86
-510.57
0.00
-53.91

Maximum
52.18
24.71
18.09
3.49

Median
3.40
5.74
0.07
0.23







SIC 7371
Special Items
Pretax Income
Total Taxes
Minority Int.

Average
-0.19
5.93
4.59
0.36

Std Dev
0.67
17.39
8.83
1.59

Minimum
-1.97
-36.41
-0.15
-0.11

Maximum
1.70
55.67
35.29
7.80

Median
0.00
2.13
0.82
0.00







SIC 7371
Net Inc.
Cash Preferred Div.
Discontinued Operations
Extra. Items

Average
0.97
0.00
-0.20
-0.05

Std Dev
18.02
0.02
0.72
0.24

Minimum
-71.70
0.00
-3.15
-1.16

Maximum
32.68
0.11
0.00
0.00

Median
1.14
0.00
0.00
0.00







SIC 7371
Basic EPS Excluding Extra Items
Diluted EPS Excluding Extra. Items
Shares Used in Computing Basic EPS
Shares Used in Computing Diluted EPS

Average
-0.04
-0.04
16.14
4.36

Std Dev
0.87
0.87
18.95
14.11

Minimum
-2.81
-2.81
1.53
0.00

Maximum
2.29
2.29
66.45
66.58

Median
0.17
0.17
7.59
0.00







SIC 7371
EPS from Operations
Basic EPS Including Extra. Items
Diluted EPS Including Extra. Items
Total Assets

Average
-0.01
-0.12
-0.12
145.85

Std Dev
0.85
0.92
0.92
458.32

Minimum
-2.67
-2.81
-2.81
1.73

Maximum
2.29
2.29
2.29
2,276.30

Median
0.24
0.07
0.07
30.13

Note that 6 of these entities in 1996 had net losses, while those with net income averaged 0.0987.

Compustat also has a number of indices for which financial information is provided for benchmarking. A sample of these follow, related to both general indices and industry-related performance in 1996. Both 7372 and 7371 SIC referents are among the indices excerpted.

INDEX NOMENCLATURE
SIC Code
Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
5961
3.628
2.17
1.458

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
6035
16.491
9.97
6.521

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
6022
174.299
78.078
96.221

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
6331
937.279
809.727
127.552

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
7370
1.542
1.288
0.254

RUSSELL MIDCAP
4812
1,095.87
259.848
836.024

NASDAQ 100
3674
19.695
6.569
13.126

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
1311
4.475
1.556
2.919

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
7370
20.995
14.424
6.571

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
2750
1.896
1.262
0.634

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
6799
978.62
2.636
975.984

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
6799
949.93
8.962
940.968

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
3841
16.462
8.162
8.3

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
2621
2,590.00
2,091.00
499

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
7372
252.469
156.617
95.852

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
3490
498.242
431.186
67.056

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
3420
47.481
34.114
13.367

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
7363
45.908
22.873
23.035

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
7372
86.483
27.754
58.729

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
3572
933.868
360.358
573.51

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
4841
472.778
194.72
278.058

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
1000
0.876
1.558
-0.682

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
3661
130.193
72.994
57.199

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
3674
6.375
3.342
3.033

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
5812
2,542.30
2,255.96
286.34

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
7372
36.744
5.378
31.366

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
6311
14,507.00
12,398.00
2,109.00

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
3825
58.387
25.315
33.072

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
7380
27.16
14.601
12.559

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
3357
161.868
115.476
46.392

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
7381
210.153
153.82
56.333

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
4513
35.103
28.509
6.594

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
2834
33.925
21.022
12.903

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
2800
13,042.55
7,224.18
5,818.37

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
3949
58.394
33.774
24.62

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
6331
2,062.17
1,851.36
210.803

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
4931
798.361
637.942
160.419

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
2621
309.563
217.863
91.7

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
2621
424
298.4
125.6

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
3990
172.378
115.493
56.885

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
7371
1.344
0.818
0.526

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
5961
35.274
15.232
20.042

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
7600
4.06
2.908
1.152

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
8300
39.599
31.763
7.836

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
1311
0.928
0.511
0.417

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
6035
31
16.771
14.229

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
6798
1.911
0.313
1.598

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
8090
152.282
144.085
8.197







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
Gross Profit Margin
SGA Exp.
EBITDA
EBITDA Margin

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
40.187
1.041
0.417
11.494

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
39.543
2.975
3.546
21.503

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
55.205
46.627
49.594
28.453

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
13.609
0
127.552
13.609

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
16.472
6.712
-6.458
-418.807

RUSSELL MIDCAP
76.288
469.338
366.686
33.461

NASDAQ 100
66.646
9.767
3.359
17.055

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
65.229
0.694
2.225
49.721

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
31.298
6.323
0.248
1.181

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
33.439
0.663
-0.029
-1.53

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
99.731
0
975.984
99.731

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
99.057
0
940.968
99.057

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
50.419
7.67
0.63
3.827

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
19.266
139
360
13.9

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
37.966
191.022
-95.17
-37.696

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
13.459
35.496
31.56
6.334

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
28.152
12.668
0.699
1.472

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
50.176
19.343
3.692
8.042

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
67.908
45.587
13.142
15.196

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
61.412
291.509
282.001
30.197

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
58.814
81.763
196.295
41.519

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
-77.854
0
-0.682
-77.854

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
43.934
35.601
21.598
16.589

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
47.576
4.213
-1.18
-18.51

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
11.263
0
286.34
11.263

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
85.364
23.599
7.767
21.138

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
14.538
0
2,109.00
14.538

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
56.643
19.792
13.28
22.745

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
46.241
8.719
3.84
14.138

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
28.66
26.384
20.008
12.361

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
26.806
49.184
7.149
3.402

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
18.785
4.234
2.36
6.723

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
38.034
10.187
2.716
8.006

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
44.611
3,943.57
1,874.80
14.375

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
42.162
9.112
15.508
26.558

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
10.222
0
210.803
10.222

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
20.094
0
160.419
20.094

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
29.622
15.624
76.076
24.575

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
29.623
21.4
104.2
24.575

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
33
31.64
25.245
14.645

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
39.137
6.63
-6.104
-454.167

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
56.818
15.027
5.015
14.217

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
28.374
1.413
-0.261
-6.429

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
19.788
7.933
-0.097
-0.245

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
44.935
0.328
0.089
9.591

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
45.9
5.823
8.406
27.116

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
83.621
0
1.598
83.621

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
5.383
11.065
-2.868
-1.883







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
Depreciation
EBIT
EBIT margin
Int. Exp.

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
0.046
0.371
10.226
0.026

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
0.165
3.381
20.502
0

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
4.363
45.231
25.95
0

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
4.679
122.873
13.11
14.26

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0.305
-6.763
-438.586
0.045

RUSSELL MIDCAP
146.841
219.845
20.061
108.598

NASDAQ 100
0.567
2.792
14.176
0.106

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
1.891
0.334
7.464
0.505

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.096
0.152
0.724
0.067

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.264
-0.293
-15.454
0.036

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0
975.984
99.731
0.147

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
0
940.968
99.057
7.468

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.43
0.2
1.215
0

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
126
234
9.035
55

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
14.61
-109.78
-43.483
8.756

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
16.591
14.969
3.004
37.493

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0.923
-0.224
-0.472
1.537

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
0.661
3.031
6.602
0.873

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
3.335
9.807
11.34
0

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
28.611
253.39
27.133
2.744

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
78.328
117.967
24.952
242.419

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.049
-0.731
-83.447
0.005

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
0.956
20.642
15.855
0

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.558
-1.738
-27.263
0

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
129.948
156.392
6.152
261.633

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
1.528
6.239
16.98
0

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
41
2,068.00
14.255
811

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.904
12.376
21.196
0

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
1.984
1.856
6.834
0.148

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
3.011
16.997
10.501
0.728

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
2.106
5.043
2.4
1.726

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0.372
1.988
5.663
0

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.95
1.766
5.206
0.441

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
698.853
1,175.95
9.016
192.807

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
4.887
10.621
18.189
1.266

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
51.582
159.221
7.721
32.139

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
65.092
95.327
11.94
66.844

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
16.208
59.868
19.34
0.584

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
22.2
82
19.34
0.8

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
10.988
14.257
8.271
8.897

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
0.758
-6.862
-510.565
0.797

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
4.023
0.992
2.812
0.78

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
0.092
-0.353
-8.695
0.039

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
2.994
-3.091
-7.806
4.231

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0.056
0.033
3.556
0

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0.726
7.68
24.774
0

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
0
1.598
83.621
0

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
1.533
-4.401
-2.89
0.042







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
Nonop Inc. & Exp.
Special Items
Pretax Income
Total Taxes

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
0.003
0
0.348
0

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
-2.962
0
0.419
0.154

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
-9.632
0
35.599
12.396

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
-0.186
0
108.427
34.37

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0.012
0
-6.796
0

RUSSELL MIDCAP
52.723
0
163.97
57.829

NASDAQ 100
0.405
0
3.091
0.456

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.148
0.303
0.28
0.074

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
-0.048
0
0.037
0.029

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.005
0
-0.324
0

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0
0
975.837
368.741

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
0
0
933.5
348.756

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.535
0
0.735
0

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
7
-23
163
59

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
7.948
-158.279
-268.867
-46.393

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
37.55
-9.933
5.093
2.426

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0.449
-1.779
-3.091
0.084

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
0.07
0
2.228
0

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.924
0
10.731
3.624

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
13.297
-92.162
171.781
64.22

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
-6.989
12.151
-119.29
-0.358

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.251
-0.498
-0.983
0

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
0.705
-17.264
4.083
-3.154

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.175
-0.323
-1.886
0

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
3.389
0
-101.852
-16.392

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
1.165
-5.648
1.756
2.855

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
-64
0
1,193.00
264

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
1.116
0
13.492
4.25

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0.257
0
1.965
0.905

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
2.291
0
18.56
7.1

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
0.301
0
3.618
1.447

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0.519
-0.348
2.159
0.836

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.329
-0.677
0.977
0.189

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
104.22
0
1,087.36
304.554

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
0.727
0
10.082
4.4

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0
0
127.082
40.034

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
60.377
0
88.86
19.639

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
-0.511
0
58.773
17.887

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
-0.7
0
80.5
24.5

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
-2.198
-61.341
-58.179
0.755

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
0
-0.661
-8.32
0.027

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
0.008
-11.695
-11.475
-1.523

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
-1.336
0
-1.728
0

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.411
-0.976
-7.887
0

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0.069
0
0.102
0

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
-3.971
0
3.709
1.305

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
0
0
1.598
0

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
0.751
-6.241
-9.933
-1.247







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
Minority Int.
Net Inc.
Cash Preferred Div.
Extra. Items

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
0
0.348
0
0

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
0
0.265
0
0

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
0
23.203
0
0

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
0
74.057
20.245
0

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0
-6.796
0
0

RUSSELL MIDCAP
46.622
59.519
0
0

NASDAQ 100
0
2.635
0
0

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0
0.206
0
0

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0
0.008
0
0

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
0
-0.324
0
0

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0
607.096
0
0

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
0
584.744
0
0

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0
0.735
0
0

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
0
104
0
0

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
-1.106
-221.368
0
0

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
0
2.667
0
0

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0
-3.175
0
0

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
0
2.228
0
0

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0
7.107
0
0

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0
107.561
0
0

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
0
-118.932
0
-11.71

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0
-0.983
0
0

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
0
7.237
0
0

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0
-1.886
0
0

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
0
-85.46
14.175
0

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0
-1.099
0
0

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
0
929
4
0

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0
9.242
0
0

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0
1.06
0
0

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
0
11.46
0
0

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
0
2.171
0
0

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0
1.323
0
0

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0
0.788
0
0

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
19.686
763.122
0
0

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
0
5.682
0
0

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0
87.048
0
0

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
0
69.221
2.408
0

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0
40.886
0
0

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0
56
0
0

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
0.963
-59.897
0.362
0

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
0
-8.347
0.106
0

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
0
-9.952
0
0

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
0
-1.728
0
0

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
-0.076
-7.811
0
0

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0
0.102
0
0

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0
2.404
0
0

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
0
1.598
0
0

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
0
-8.686
0
0







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
Basic EPS Excluding Extra Items
Diluted EPS Excluding Extra. Items
Shares Used in Computing Basic EPS
Shares Used in Computing Diluted EPS

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
0
0
0
0

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
0.03
0.03
8.833
0

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
1.085
1.085
21.341
0

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
0.92
0.94
58.694
78.737

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
-6.48
-6.48
1.049
1.049

RUSSELL MIDCAP
0.5
0.5
118.136
0

NASDAQ 100
0.19
0.19
13.656
0

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.45
0.45
0.444
0.453

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0
0
3.729
0

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
-0.005
-0.005
66.52
0

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.648
0.648
937.91
937.91

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
43.34
43.34
13.491
13.63

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.05
0.05
14.324
0

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
1.17
1.14
88.7
91.5

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
-4.47
-4.47
49.515
0

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
0.23
0.23
11.633
0

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
-0.95
-0.95
3.342
0

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
0.31
0.31
7.235
0

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.49
0.49
14.619
14.619

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0.93
0.93
115.062
0

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
-4.5
-4.5
26.411
0

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
-0.03
-0.03
33.1
0

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
0.105
0.105
68.564
69.25

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
-0.17
-0.17
10.831
0

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
-2.35
-2.35
42.434
42.434

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
-0.053
-0.053
21.21
21.21

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
0.877
0.84
1,054.69
0

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
1.08
1.08
8.591
0

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
5.43
5.43
0.195
0

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
1.232
1.232
9.276
0

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
0.25
0.25
8.557
0

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0.47
0.47
2.794
2.78

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.05
0.05
16.788
0

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
2.68
2.68
284.37
0

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
0.35
0.35
16.434
0

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
11.142
11.142
7.811
0

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
1.14
1.14
58.618
58.618

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
2.34
2.34
17.433
0

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
3.21
3.21
17.433
0

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
-16.24
0
3.714
0

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
-2.81
-2.81
3.008
0

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
-1.03
-1.03
9.65
0

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
-1.72
-1.72
1.003
0

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
-0.79
-0.79
9.889
0

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0.01
0.01
14.023
14.023

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0.655
0.655
3.67
3.67

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
0.99
0.99
1.596
0

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
-2.81
-2.81
3.171
0







INDEX NOMENCLATURE
EPS from Operations
Basic EPS Including Extra. Items
Diluted EPS Including Extra. Items
Total Assets

INDUSTRIAL-SMALL
0
0
0
1.157

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE IND
0.03
0.03
0.03
249.776

DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK
1.085
1.085
1.085
2,079.77

S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX
0.92
0.92
0.94
1,513.76

S&P 500/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
-6.48
-6.48
-6.48
3.951

RUSSELL MIDCAP
0.5
0.5
0.5
2,812.07

NASDAQ 100
0.19
0.19
0.19
34.75

SP1500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0.03
0.45
0.45
13.185

SP500 INFORMATION TECH .S
0
0
0
5.1

SP600 INFORMATION TECH .S
-0.005
-0.005
-0.005
2.564

SP1500 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.648
0.648
0.648
2,991.97

SP1500 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
43.34
43.34
43.34
3,784.04

SP400 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
0.05
0.05
0.05
18.547

SP400 TECHNLGY HDWR&EQ .G
1.32
1.17
1.14
2,499.00

SP600 SOFTWARE&SERVICES .G
-2.39
-4.47
-4.47
239.651

SP1500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
0.78
0.23
0.23
805.749

SP1500 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
-0.6
-0.95
-0.95
27.251

SP1500 SOFTWARE .I
0.31
0.31
0.31
15.855

SP400 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
0.49
0.49
0.49
95.67

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
1.46
0.93
0.93
1,043.49

SP400 SOFTWARE .I
-4.8
-4.94
-4.94
1,643.83

SP500 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
-0.01
-0.03
-0.03
27.528

SP500 SOFTWARE .I
0.18
0.105
0.105
175.679

SP600 COMPUTERS&PERIPH .I
-0.14
-0.17
-0.17
6.165

SP600 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .I
-2.35
-2.35
-2.35
1,687.37

SP600 IT CONSULTING&SVC .I
0.193
-0.053
-0.053
46.691

SP600 SOFTWARE .I
0.877
0.877
0.84
105,027.00

SP1500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
1.08
1.08
1.08
61.718

SP1500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
5.43
5.43
5.43
28.968

SP1500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL.SI
1.232
1.232
1.232
97.923

SP1500 NETWORKING EQUIP .SI
0.25
0.25
0.25
51.953

SP1500 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
0.55
0.47
0.47
11.118

SP400 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
0.07
0.05
0.05
29.817

SP400 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
2.68
2.68
2.68
11,815.65

SP400 IT CONSULTING&SVC .SI
0.35
0.35
0.35
111.935

SP400 SYSTEMS SOFTWARE .SI
11.142
11.142
11.142
4,500.62

SP500 APPLCTN SOFTWARE .SI
1.13
1.14
1.14
2,047.67

SP500 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
2.34
2.34
2.34
403.599

SP500 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
3.21
3.21
3.21
552.8

SP500 COMPUTER&ELEC RTL .SI
-5.495
-16.24
0
375.504

SP500 INTEGRTD TELE SVC .SI
-2.67
-2.81
-2.81
32.677

SP500 INTERNET RETAIL .SI
-0.24
-1.03
-1.03
30.808

SP500 INTERNET SFTWR&SVC .SI
-1.72
-1.72
-1.72
3.386

SP600 COMP STORG&PERIPH .SI
-0.69
-0.79
-0.79
126.536

SP600 COMPUTER HARDWARE .SI
0.01
0.01
0.01
1.728

S&P 400/BARRA GROWTH INDEX
0.655
0.655
0.655
396.755

S&P 600/BARRA VALUE INDEX
0.99
0.99
0.99
17.558

VALUE LINE COMPOSITE
-1.53
-2.81
-2.81
46.457

Note: All discontinued operation values were zero and are not reported.

Yahoo! Inc. Finance home can access Industry Browser - Technology - Business Software & Services to obtain comparative information on the sector, industry, and companies. Note the overlap of companies identified. For example, MicroStrategy Inc. and webMethods are likewise in the Compustat report for the industry 7372. A spreadsheet can be downloaded from Yahoo! Inc., an excerpt from which follows, based on information as of August 18, 2006:

1 Day Price 
Market Cap 
P/E 
ROE % 
Div. Yield % Long-Term 
Price to
Net Profit

Change %




Debt to Equity Book Value 
Margin % (mrq) Price to Free Cash Flow (mrq)

Sector: Technology 
0.36 
4760.2B 
29.95 
14.45 
2.04 
0.68 
4.90 
10.68 

97.29 

Industry: Business 

Software & Services 
0.28 
180.0B 
29.20 
14.20 
0.98 
0.28 
12.40 
11.30 

113.70 

Companies …

Advant-E Corp. 

(AVEE.OB) 
0.00 
12.2M 
15.70 
38.30 
NA 
NA 
5.03 
17.31 

3927.39

…

MicroStrategy Inc. 

(MSTR) 

2.06 
1.2B 
20.86 
49.85 
NA 
NA 
11.26 
22.34 

52.67

…

TenFold Corp. 

(TENF.OB) 
4.35 
11.2M 
NA 
NA 
NA 
0.06 
26.67 
-232.68

 -7.53

… 

webMethods Inc. 

(WEBM)

 0.00 
444.9M 
34.87 
6.47 
NA 
0.00 
2.12 
-12.62 

58.66 

An example of TenFold financial information at Yahoo! as of August 21, 2006, beyond this industry comparison follows [note that mrq is most recent quarter, mrq = Most Recent Quarter (as of 30-Jun-06),  ttm = Trailing Twelve Months (as of 30-Jun-06),  yoy = Year Over Year (as of 30-Jun-06)]:

"Income Statement 

Revenue (ttm): 3.71M 

Revenue Per Share (ttm): 0.08 

Qtrly Revenue Growth (yoy): -58.30% 

Gross Profit (ttm): 2.77M 

EBITDA (ttm): -5.42M 

Net Income Avl to Common (ttm): -7.84M 

Diluted EPS (ttm): -0.17 

Qtrly Earnings Growth (yoy): N/A  

Balance Sheet 

Total Cash (mrq): 3.24M 

Total Cash Per Share (mrq): 0.07 

Total Debt (mrq): 27.00K 

Total Debt/Equity (mrq): 0.064 

Current Ratio (mrq): 1.029 

Book Value Per Share (mrq): 0.009

Cash Flow Statement 

Operating Cash Flow (ttm): -4.88M 

Levered Free Cash Flow (ttm): 2.63M "  
Financial data can be accessed on the Internet at sites such as Bloomberg. Earnings and fundamentals are described, using a search of TENF:US Tenfold Corp. The Company Profile in August of 2006 at Bloomberg described the company as "a software and services company, builds and implements large-scale applications." InvestorGuide.com can be researched for Tenfold (using the ticker TENF), producing results categorized as: "TENF Overview TENF Charts TENF News TENF Profile TENF Analysis TENF Offers." Examples of TENF links include: Quotes at Merrill Lynch, Bloomberg, Wall Street Journal, and PCQuote; Earnings at Smart Money; Financials at BusinessWeek, CNBC, Morningstar, and Yahoo Finance; Dividends & Splits at Yahoo Dividends & Splits as well as Big Charts; Profiles at CNN Money, Forbes, CNET, BarChart, and InvestorWords; Industry Comparison at Yahoo, Zacks, and Stock Selector; Institutional Holdings at MSN Money, Nasdaq, and Quote.com. Excite.com when searched for TENFOLD CORP (OTC BB) provides a menu of links at the left of the page, including: Quote, Basic Charts, News, Analyst, Ratings, Earnings, Events, Profile, Insider Trading, Statistics, Financial Statements, SEC Filings, and Historical -- among others. 

Hoover's Industry Watch (www.hoovers.com) provides statistics on sales and income, referencing numerous financial analyses and market reports.

PCQuote (Money.net) has stock and financial information, with charts, profiles, financial statements, and insider trading details (InsiderScoop.com). TENF fundamentals are listed, as are news and press releases. The August 21, 2006 details indicate the company had 66 employees and that 38 percent of the outstanding shares were held by insiders.

Reuters.com provides information on TENF.OB, including describing its management team and how long the individuals have been associated with the company (director details are reflected).  Press releases (e.g., " TenFold Corporation Appoints CFO-Form 8-K 10 Jan 2006"), financial synopsis, and industry information are accessible. 

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss why certain types of information are provided. For example, reuters.com lists the age of managers and directors. Why might this be of interest to investors?  An opportunity is at hand to discuss the role of experience, and the observation that dates since the individual joined the particular company are likewise noted. You might explore how that provides insight as to whether the experience gained is specific to the company. An opportunity is at hand to explore what types of biographical information the students would find of relevance to decision makers and why. For ease of reference, the following excerpt accessed on August 21, 2006 at reuters.com for TenFold Corporation is cited for use by instructors in preparing for discussion:
"Name 

Age Officer 
Since 
Current Position Details 

Felton, Robert W. 
67 
2005 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer    

Hughes, Robert P. 
46 
2006 Chief Financial Officer,Chief of Staff    

Walker, Jeffrey L. 
63 
1993 Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer, Director    

Hodges, William  

2006 Senior Vice President of Sales    

Chadovich, Alexei 
46 
2002 Senior Vice President, Research and Development    

Diab, Samer 
  
46 
2004 Vice President, Customer Services    

Trounce, Robert 
  
35 
2005 Vice President, Consulting    

White, Sally 
  
45 
2002 Vice President - Business Development    

Hardy, Ralph W. 
  
65 
1998 Director    

Parsons, Robert E. 
50 
2004 Director    

Coltrin, Stephen H. 
60 
2005 Director    

Hardy, Ralph W. 
  
65 
1998 Director    

Bennett, Richard H. 
59 
2002 Director"    

Financial information is accessible from sec.gov, including conference call transcripts that accompany earnings releases. As one example, an 8-K filed April 10, 2006 includes a Conference Call Transcript accompanying the fourth quarter of 2005 release. It contains the news: 

"For the calendar year 2005, our revenues were 5.7 million, operating loss was 6.6 million, net loss was 5.4 million and diluted loss per share was 12 cents.

These are not the results of a healthy company. It’s clear from our 2005 results that we will not survive for long. We were stalled, our business prospects were poor and our ability to attract capital was limited."

These observations can be compared with those in a second example, found in Exhibit 99.1 of an 8-K filing on May 18, 2006. It begins with a summary of financial results, elaborating on how capital was raised and sales strategy altered: 

"In the first quarter, we reported revenues of $599,000, an operating loss of $1.9 million, net loss of $1.9 million, and net loss applicable to common shareholders of $3.7 million. 

    The net loss applicable to common shareholders is after reflecting a non-cash deemed dividend of $1.8 million related to the warrants issued with preferred stock and the beneficial conversions feature of our preferred stock from our recent capital raising transaction. 

    Our Q1 ending cash balance was $5.2 million, resulting from that capital raising that we closed on March 30. 

    Q1 was our first quarter for implementing the new stock option accounting rules. Our operating expenses in the first quarter include $502,000 of stock based compensation expense from that adoption, effective January 1 of this year. 

…

Since taking over as Chairman and CEO in November of last year, we had two major tasks to accomplish. 

    First we had to secure financing so we could survive. I’m pleased that we were able to do that on March 30. 

    I’m especially pleased that our board stepped up to support TenFold. 

    Because I’m sure you know the board put in the majority of the funding that kept the company going and frankly, it allows for me to be here talking with you today. 

    This includes major past investors such as First Media, which is an investment vehicle for Richard Marriott and new investors such our board member Steve Coltrin of Coltrin and Associates, and Samer Diab, one of the members of our management team. 

    The financing also included some outside investors including some who’ve been stockholders for several years now. 

    In addition, I personally invested along side those investors to show my total faith in both the technology and the people of TenFold. 

    Our second task was to rekindle our sales. 

    In order to do this, we had to change both our sales strategy and the way we represented our selves." 

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss how financial information takes a variety of forms, including SEC filings, press releases, and transcripts of conference calls. Since Q&A formats are common in conference calls, the nature of the discussion often depends on the participants. This is an opportunity for instructors to discuss Regulation Fair Disclosure requirements of the SEC. For a discussion of "Regulation FD and the Financial Information Environment: Early Evidence" (by Frank Heflin, K.R. Subramanyam, and Yuan Zhang) see The Accounting Review (Vol. 78, No. 1, January 2003), pp. 1-37. Also see Brian J. Bushee, Dawn A. Matsumoto, and Gregory S. Miller, Managerial and Investor Responses to Disclosure Regulation: The Case of Reg FD and Conference Calls, 79, 3, The Accounting Review (July 2004), pp. 617-643.

Condensed financial statements appear in quarterly filings (e.g., see TenFold's 10-Q For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2006, filed 5/15/2006).

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss how the Sarbances-Oxley Act has affected public filings, including the certifications now required. Examples of such certifications from the March 31, 2006 10-Q for TenFold follow: 

"EX-31.2 3 dex312.htm CERTIFICATION OF CFO 

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Robert P. Hughes, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of TenFold Corporation; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Robert P. Hughes

Robert P. Hughes

Chief Financial Officer and Chief of Staff

May 15, 2006

EX-32.1 4 dex321.htm CERTIFICATION OF CEO 

Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of TenFold Corporation (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert W. Felton, Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Robert W. Felton

Robert W. Felton

Chairman of the Board of Directors, President, and Chief Executive Officer

May 15, 2006

EX-32.2 5 dex322.htm CERTIFICATION OF CFO 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of TenFold Corporation (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert P. Hughes, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Robert P. Hughes

Robert P. Hughes

Chief Financial Officer and Chief of Staff

May 15, 2006"

3. Using CRSP, download all information available for TenFold (i.e., all stock prices since its IPO). Also download a market index accessible through CRSP. If CRSP is unavailable, check to see what resources with companies’ stock price data are available at your library and how they compare to the information accessible on the Internet. You should be able to locate both a time-series database of the stock prices of TenFold since its IPO and a market index for the same time frame on the Internet.

Remember that the DEF 14A contains a stock performance graph. For example, that DEF 14A with a Letter to Stockholders dated June 18, 2001 contains such a graph with the following related disclosures, included here for ease of access by instructors (this and other filings can be downloaded from sec.gov).

"Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return data for

TenFold's Common Stock since May 20, 1999 (the date on which TenFold's Common

Stock was first registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended) to the cumulative return over such period of (i) the Standard

& Poor's 500 Index, and (ii) the Nasdaq Computer & Data Processing Stocks Index.

The graph assumes that $100 was invested on May 20, 1999, the effective date of

TenFold's initial public offering, and in each of the comparative indices.  The

graph further assumes that such amount was initially invested in Common Stock of

TenFold at a per share price of $17.00, the price at which TenFold first offered such stock to the public, and reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

                       [PERFORMANCE GRAPH APPEARS HERE]

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                 Nasdaq Computer and Data Processing

       Date                TenFold               S&P 500                        Stocks

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<S>                  <C>                   <C>                   <C>

5/21/99                           100.000               100.000                               100.000

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

5/28/99                           118.579                97.872                               100.681

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

6/30/99                           138.798               103.235                               113.089

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

7/30/99                           121.311               100.106                               106.391

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

8/31/99                           119.399                99.601                               112.041

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

9/30/99                           115.847                96.842                               117.766

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

10/29/99                          102.732               103.035                               126.612

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

11/30/99                          131.694               105.194                               147.053

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

12/31/99                          174.590               111.453                               198.149

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1/31/00                           187.705               105.871                               175.045

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2/29/00                           219.399               104.003                               207.399

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3/31/00                           264.481               114.280                               195.741

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4/28/00                           111.749               110.651                               150.019

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

5/31/00                            76.230               108.150                               131.701

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

6/30/00                            71.858               110.897                               159.780

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

7/31/00                            39.617               109.407                               143.492

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

8/31/00                            29.508               116.347                               161.709

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

9/29/00                            19.399               110.213                               147.796

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

10/31/00                           18.852               109.754                               135.322

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

11/30/00                            5.601               101.038                                98.150

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

12/29/00                            6.557               101.524                                91.292

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

" [End of Excerpt]

Similarly, access the DEFINITIVE NOTICE AND PROXY STATEMENT SCHEDULE 14A in filing DEF 14A containing a Letter to Stockholders dated May 1, 2006. It reports subsequent developments in its performance graph, with disclosures as follow:

"TENFOLD CORP 

Produced on 04/13/2006 including data to 12/30/2005 

      Legend

      Symbol  CRSP Total Returns Index for:

12/2000
12/2001
12/2002
12/2003
12/2004
12/2005

        TENFOLD CORP.  

     

100.0
44.0
9.3
217.3
60.7
14.0

        NYSE/AMEX/Nasdaq Stock Market (US Companies)  
100.0
89.3
70.9
93.4
104.9
111.3

        Nasdaq Computer and Data Processing 

Stocks SIC 7370—7379 US & Foreign  

100.0
80.5
55.5
73.2
80.6
83.3"
… [see related notes, including acknowledgment "Prepared by CRSP (www.crsp.uchicago.edu), Center for Research in Security Prices, Graduate School of Business"

Price data can be accessed on the Internet at sites such as Bloomberg. Use TENF:US Tenfold Corp as your search and you will see the identified Industry as Applications Software. High and low for 52-weeks as well as volume statistics are reported. The MSN site permits downloading of price information for specified time frames, an example of which follows, in reverse chronological order:

Tenfold Corp 

Date     High   Low    Open   Close  Volume 

Aug-2006 0.3000 0.2200 0.2300 0.2400 150,400 

Jul-2006 0.3200 0.2100 0.3000 0.2700 129,800 

Jun-2006 0.3500 0.2100 0.3000 0.3000 367,400 

May-2006 0.4000 0.3000 0.3400 0.3500 241,900 

Apr-2006 0.5000 0.3100 0.3300 0.3800 721,100 

Mar-2006 0.4000 0.2800 0.4000 0.3000 523,700 

Feb-2006 0.4500 0.2000 0.2300 0.4000 938,800 

Jan-2006 0.2500 0.2000 0.2100 0.2200 508,500 

Dec-2005 0.3100 0.2100 0.3100 0.2100 2,405,800 

Nov-2005 0.3500 0.2200 0.3100 0.3000 1,617,200 

Oct-2005 0.4000 0.3000 0.3700 0.3100 474,000 

Sep-2005 0.4000 0.3500 0.3700 0.3900 248,700 

Aug-2005 0.4100 0.3200 0.3300 0.4000 423,400 

Jul-2005 0.4000 0.3100 0.3600 0.3100 356,800 

Jun-2005 0.4100 0.3500 0.4100 0.3600 479,400 

May-2005 0.4100 0.3400 0.4100 0.4000 1,961,100 

Apr-2005 0.5900 0.3500 0.5900 0.3900 716,700 

Mar-2005 0.6100 0.4100 0.4500 0.6000 2,962,300 

Feb-2005 0.9400 0.3600 0.9400 0.4100 3,070,200 

Jan-2005 1.0100 0.7600 0.9000 0.9500 915,000 

Dec-2004 1.1700 0.8900 1.0600 0.9000 1,388,900 

Nov-2004 1.1600 0.6000 1.0100 1.0300 2,604,300 

Oct-2004 1.3500 0.9300 1.3300 0.9800 1,709,100 

Sep-2004 1.5000 1.2500 1.2700 1.3500 877,500 

Aug-2004 1.7600 1.0500 1.1400 1.3000 1,701,400 

Jul-2004 1.5000 1.0600 1.2800 1.1100 860,700 

Jun-2004 1.7700 0.8800 1.7500 1.2700 2,046,600 

May-2004 2.0900 1.4800 1.8500 1.7500 1,183,400 

Apr-2004 2.6800 1.7900 2.6300 1.9500 1,828,100 

Mar-2004 3.5500 2.5500 3.3700 2.6700 1,363,400 

Feb-2004 4.1800 2.6100 3.9700 3.2500 2,647,100 

Jan-2004 5.1100 3.3000 3.4000 4.1200 5,213,800 

Dec-2003 3.4100 2.1300 2.1300 3.2600 4,382,800 

Nov-2003 2.4500 1.9500 2.3800 2.1300 1,565,400 

Oct-2003 2.6800 1.8500 1.9800 2.4000 3,059,300 

Sep-2003 2.1000 1.4800 1.5000 1.9700 1,713,200 

Aug-2003 2.6000 1.2300 2.4900 1.5000 4,178,700 

Jul-2003 2.7700 2.0000 2.3100 2.4300 2,115,900 

Jun-2003 3.0000 1.7000 1.8800 2.3000 3,915,500 

May-2003 2.0700 0.4400 0.6100 1.9200 4,390,000 

Apr-2003 0.6900 0.3000 0.3000 0.6000 1,216,600 

Mar-2003 0.3900 0.1900 0.2000 0.2900 782,400 

Feb-2003 0.2200 0.1500 0.1800 0.2000 231,900 

Jan-2003 0.2500 0.1400 0.1400 0.2100 509,700 

Dec-2002 0.2800 0.1400 0.2500 0.1400 726,400 

Nov-2002 0.4900 0.0900 0.1000 0.2500 1,201,100 

Oct-2002 0.1300 0.0700 0.1300 0.0900 437,300 

Sep-2002 0.1600 0.1000 0.1500 0.1200 317,100 

Aug-2002 0.2200 0.1000 0.2000 0.1500 316,600 

Jul-2002 0.4000 0.1900 0.3700 0.2000 264,200 

Jun-2002 0.5000 0.3500 0.4600 0.3700 357,400 

May-2002 0.7700 0.3900 0.5000 0.4700 782,500 

Apr-2002 0.6600 0.4500 0.5700 0.5000 561,300 

Mar-2002 0.8700 0.3700 0.4000 0.5700 980,100 

Feb-2002 0.5500 0.3400 0.4900 0.3800 1,153,100 

Jan-2002 0.6600 0.4300 0.6000 0.5300 471,200 

Dec-2001 0.7500 0.5000 0.6100 0.6600 1,206,500 

Nov-2001 0.9700 0.5000 0.6800 0.5400 604,500 

Oct-2001 1.1500 0.5800 0.9500 0.7100 455,400 

Sep-2001 1.2900 0.4400 0.7800 0.9500 871,600 

Aug-2001 2.0100 0.7400 1.6800 0.8000 2,020,400 

Jul-2001 1.6000 0.3400 0.4000 1.4700 1,467,600 

Jun-2001 0.5500 0.3300 0.4200 0.4300 885,900 

May-2001 0.7400 0.3300 0.3600 0.4300 1,621,900 

Apr-2001 0.5500 0.1875 0.2813 0.3700 1,657,100 

Mar-2001 2.0625 0.2500 1.9688 0.3125 1,847,800 

Feb-2001 2.9375 1.5000 2.8750 2.0000 556,000 

Jan-2001 4.0000 1.0000 1.6875 2.6875 1,962,200 

Dec-2000 2.8750 1.0313 1.5000 1.5000 3,248,700 

Nov-2000 4.3125 1.2500 4.3125 1.2813 1,739,400 

Oct-2000 5.8125 3.8750 5.0000 4.3125 1,310,200 

Sep-2000 7.0625 3.7500 6.9375 4.4375 2,329,300 

Aug-2000 9.1875 6.6250 9.1875 6.7500 3,019,300 

Jul-2000 18.3750 7.5000 17.9375 9.0625 12,663,400 

Jun-2000 24.3750 16.1250 17.5625 16.4375 6,405,000 

May-2000 31.1250 15.2500 25.6250 17.4375 4,125,500 

Apr-2000 61.2500 20.1250 60.0625 25.5625 4,826,300 

Mar-2000 76.8750 45.1250 50.0000 60.5000 3,758,900 

Feb-2000 67.9375 43.9375 49.6875 50.1875 5,663,300 

Jan-2000 52.5000 38.5000 43.5625 42.9375 3,232,400 

Dec-1999 44.1250 25.0625 30.3750 39.9375 4,446,700 

Nov-1999 41.0000 23.1875 23.6875 30.1250 3,955,700 

Oct-1999 28.0000 17.0000 26.5000 23.5000 3,393,100 

Sep-1999 33.1250 23.0000 27.1563 26.5000 994,200 

Aug-1999 31.5625 24.0000 27.3750 27.3125 1,078,400 

Jul-1999 39.5000 25.0625 31.2500 27.7500 2,360,200 

Jun-1999 32.7500 22.7500 27.5000 31.7500 2,722,200 

May-1999 28.0625 21.5000 25.0000 27.1250 7,809,200 

Relative movement of the stock to the total market is reflected in the reported Beta of 4.35, also retrievable from the MSN site, among others.  Yahoo! similarly permits downloads of prices for specified date ranges, choosing among Daily, Weekly, Monthly, and Dividends Only, providing: Date, Open, High, Low, Close, Volume, and Adj Close* (where the * represents Close price adjusted for dividends and splits). 

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss developments that could change such ease of accessibility of market prices. The Wall Street Journal, p. A1, on January 4, 2007 reported that the SEC is reviewing its approval of a rule that let the NYSE charge for data that had been free, due to protests by Internet firms. More details are in a p. C2 article by Jed Horowitz entitled "SEC Reviewing Its Data Fees Ruling -- Web Groups Challenge Big Source of Revenue." The NetCoalition is cited, noting its trustees include Google, Yahoo!, and Bloomberg, among others. In the appeal is included a request that a full vote by the five SEC Commissioners be taken on such matters of broad consequence, rather than having staff approve rules "by delegated authority".
4. Access FARS. 

(a) Open the Financial Accounting Research System (FARS) main menu. Click on the Topical Index. After refreshing yourself by reading the Primer (Chapter 1) coverage of searches and use of the topical index, click on R and explore the issue of revenue recognition. Explain your findings on guidance relevant to your curiosity regarding revenue recognition, particularly as it relates to TenFold Corporation.

The Topical Index materials under R associated with Revenue Recognition in FARS follow:

"REVENUE RECOGNITION

See Interest Income





See Leases





See Real Estate: Sales Other Than Retail Land Sales





See Sales





Accounting by a Grantee for an Equity Instrument to Be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods of Services
EITF.00-8


Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor

EITF.02-16


Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions



EITF.99-17


Accounting for Barter Transactions Involving Barter Credits


EITF.93-11


Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives



EITF.01-9


Accounting for Fees and Costs Associated with Loan Sydications and Loan Participations after the Issuance of Statement 125





EITF.97-3


Accounting for Free Products or Services to Be Delivered in the Future


EITF.00-22


Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs


EITF.00-10


Amortization of Amount Received from Investor for Future Revenue


EITF.88-18


Banking and Thrift Industries





. . Sale of Servicing Rights on Mortgages Owned by Others


EITF.85-13


Computer Software





. . Applicability of SOP 97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing More-Than-Incidental Software






EITF.03-5


Consideration Given by a Service Provider to Manufacturers or Resellers of Equipment Necessary for an End-Customer to Receive Service from the Service Provider



EITF.06-1


Deferred Postcontract Customer Support Revenue of a Software Vendor in a Business Combination
EITF.04-11


Deferred Revenue of an Acquiree in a Business Combination


EITF.01-3


Equipment Sales





. . Sales Arrangements That Include Specified Price Trade-in Rights


EITF.00-24


. . Sales of Fractional Interests in Equipment



EITF.01-4


Equipment Sold and Subsequently Repurchased Subject to an Operating Lease

EITF.95-4


Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts





. . Definitions
FTB90-1, ¶2
R75.502




FTB90-1, ¶4
R75.504



. . Incremental Direct Acquisition Costs
FTB90-1, ¶4
R75.504




FTB90-1, ¶12




. . Loss Recognition
FTB90-1, ¶5
R75.505



. . Recognition of Revenues and Costs
FTB90-1, ¶1-5
R75.501-505



Franchisors





. . Cost Recovery Method
FAS45, ¶6
Fr3.102



. . Installment Recovery Method
FAS45, ¶6
Fr3.102



GNMA Dollar Rolls


EITF.84-20


Grantor Trust





. . Sales between Trust and Company



EITF.84-15


Guidance for Applying Recognition Criteria
CON5, ¶84




Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for 'Out-of-Pocket' Expenses Incurred






EITF.01-14


Installment Method of Accounting
APB10, ¶12
R75.103



Invasion of a Defeasance Trust


EITF.86-36


Leases





. . Accounting for Contingent Rent


EITF.98-9


. . Equipment Sold and Subsequently Repurchased Subject to an Operating Lease
EITF.95-4


. . Recognition of Receipts from Made-up Rental Shortfalls

EITF.85-27


. . Sale-Leaseback with Guaranteed Residuals


EITF.86-17


. . Sale-Leaseback with Repurchase Option


EITF.84-37


. . Sales with a Guaranteed Minimum Resale Value

EITF.95-1






EITF.03-12


Loan, Commitment, and Syndication Fees





. . Accounting for Fees and Costs Associated with Loan Syndications and Loan Participations after the Issuance of Statement 125




EITF.97-3


. . Interest Method
FAS91, ¶17-20
L20.116-119A




FAS140, ¶14





FAS156, ¶4




Loan Guarantee Fees



EITF.85-20


Loan Sales





. . Sale of Bad-Debt Recovery Rights


EITF.86-8


. . Sale of Loan to Special-Purpose Entity


EITF.84-30


Loyalty Programs



EITF.00-22


Management Fees Based on a Formula


EITF.D-96


Master Limited Partnership (MLP)





. . Gain Recognition on MLP Units Received in Exchange for Future Fees
EITF.88-14


Mutual Fund Distributors





. . Fees Received from No-Load Funds


EITF.85-24






FSP.EITF 85-24-1


Nonmonetary Transactions





. . Determining Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction is an Exchange of Similar Productive Assets
EITF.01-2


. . Exchange of Assets for Noncontrolling Equity Interest in New Entity


EITF.01-2


. . Use of Fair Value




EITF.01-2


Nonutility Generators (NUGs)





. . Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease


EITF.01-8


. . Long-Term Power Sales Contracts of Nonutility Generators


EITF.91-6


. . Revenue Recognition under Long-Term Power Sales Contracts That Contain both Fixed and Variable Pricing Terms






EITF.96-17


Options





. . Options to Purchase Stock of Another Entity



EITF.85-9


. . Repurchase Option in Sale-Leaseback Transaction


EITF.84-37


Preferred Stock





. . Acquisition of a Subsidiary's Mandatorily Redeemable Stock


EITF.86-32


Product Financing Arrangements
FAS49, ¶6
D18.104



Profit Recognition
ARB43, Ch.1A, ¶1
R75.101




APB10, ¶12





FAS111, ¶8




Real Estate





. . Antispeculation Clause in Sales Contract



EITF.86-6


. . Construction of House on Builder's Lot



EITF.86-7


. . Recognition of Receipts from Made-up Rental Shortfalls


EITF.85-27


. . Sale of Builder's Land and Related Construction Contract


EITF.86-7


. . Sale with Graduated Payment Mortgage or Insured Mortgage


EITF.84-17


. . Sale-Leaseback with Repurchase Option



EITF.84-37


Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent


EITF.99-19


Relation to Contractor Accounting: Construction-Type Contracts
ARB45, ¶4-6
Co4.103-110




ARB45, ¶9-12





ARB45, ¶15




Relation to Contractor Accounting: Government Contracts
ARB43, Ch.11A, ¶19-20
Co5.106-107



Relation to Franchising: Accounting by Franchisors
FAS45, ¶12-14
Fr3.108-110



Reseller Income Statement Characterization of Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers







EITF.03-10


Revenue and Expense Recognition for Freight Services in Process


EITF.91-9


Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables


EITF.00-21


. . Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing More-Than-Incidental Software




EITF.03-5


Sale of Marketable Securities with a Put Option



EITF.84-5


Sale of Mortgage Servicing Rights



EITF.95-5


Sale of Preferred Stocks with a Put Option



EITF.85-25


Sale of Real Estate





. . Antispeculation Clause in Sales Contract



EITF.86-6


. . Negative Amortization




EITF.84-17


Sale of Servicing Rights on Mortgages Owned by Others


EITF.85-13


Sales with a Guaranteed Minimum Resale Value



EITF.95-1







EITF.03-12


Seasonal Revenue





. . Interim Financial Reporting
APB28, ¶18
I73.110



Securitization





. . Credit Card and Other Receivable Portfolios



EITF.88-22


. . Effect of a "Removal of Accounts"    Provision



EITF.90-18


Television Barter Syndicators





. . Advertising Time for Television Programming



EITF.87-10


Transition Provisions





. . Application of Certain Transition Provisions of SAB 101


EITF.D-85


Unrealized Profits





. . Nonrecognition
ARB43, Ch.1A, ¶1
R75.102



Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid to a Customer

EITF.01-9


When Right of Return Exists
FAS48, ¶6-8
R75.107-109



. . Scope of Accounting and Reporting Requirements
FAS48, ¶3-4
R75.105-106"


This topical index entry bears out the prevalence of EITF guidance on the topic of revenue recognition, as well as the substantial attention accorded to computer software and related IT issues.

Idea: Instructors wishing to explore another revenue recognition issue involving the computer industry, evolving in the 2007 time frame, may wish for students to read "Dell's Woes Mount as Investors File Improper-Accounting Suit," by Don Clark, Christopher Lawton, and John R. Wilke, the Wall Street Journal (February 2, 2007), p. A4. Among the allegations are questions as to the proper accounting and disclosure practices for quarterly rebates from Intel and customer service problems.

(b) Alternatively, use the search capabilities. Specifically, click on Open, FARS, Open, Nfo, Open, FASB-OP (amended), and click Search at the top of the toolbar. Select Query and then type computer programming services revenue recognition timing and click on OK. Select the Document view (using the tabs toward the bottom of the screen). Identify the relevant guidance, as cited in the top bar of the view, and describe what must be the criteria met for revenue recognition. Compare and contrast with SAB 101, downloadable from sec.gov. 

FAS 86 is a primary resource that is identified by the search phrase. The dissent addresses a number of issues.  The Q&A 86 Implementation Guide -- Computer Software: Guidance on Applying Statement 86 Overview is likewise identified.  

Securities and Exchange Commission, Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements 17 CFR Part 211 (1999) was followed by a series of associated questions and answers, and postponement. The accounting profession reacted by noting that rather than merely interpreting GAAP, the SEC was suggesting changes to GAAP in its guidance. For contemporaneous media coverage, see Jonathan Weil, "Many Companies Fail to Heed the SEC On Its Revenue Recognition Guidelines," Heard On the Street, the Wall Street Journal (December 14, 2000), pp. C1, C4. Among other aspects, SAB 101 clarified how the SEC staff expected such earlier guidance as SOP 97-2 to have been applied. (See earlier discussion of SAB 101 herein under Exercise A2 Instructor Notes.)
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Rights of return are described in SFAS 48, paragraphs 6-8:

"6.
If an enterprise sells its product but gives the buyer the right to return the product, revenue from the sales transaction shall be recognized at time of sale only if all of the following conditions are met:

a.
The seller's price to the buyer is substantially fixed or determinable at the date of sale.

b.
The buyer has paid the seller, or the buyer is obligated to pay the seller and the obligation is not contingent on resale of the product.

c.
The buyer's obligation to the seller would not be changed in the event of theft or physical destruction or damage of the product.

d.
The buyer acquiring the product for resale has economic substance apart from that provided by the seller.FAS48, Footnote 2 

e.
The seller does not have significant obligations for future performance to directly bring about resale of the product by the buyer.

f.
The amount of future returnsFAS48, Footnote 3 can be reasonably estimated (paragraph 8).

Sales revenue and cost of sales that are not recognized at time of sale because the foregoing conditions are not met shall be recognized either when the return privilege has substantially expired or if those conditions subsequently are met, whichever occurs first.

7.
If sales revenue is recognized because the conditions of paragraph 6 are met, any costs or losses that may be expected in connection with any returns shall be accrued in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.  Sales revenue and cost of sales reported in the income statement shall be reduced to reflect estimated returns.

8.
The ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of future returns depends on many factors and circumstances that will vary from one case to the next.  However, the following factors may impair the ability to make a reasonable estimate:

a.
The susceptibility of the product to significant external factors, such as technological obsolescence or changes in demand

b.
Relatively long periods in which a particular product may be returned

c.
Absence of historical experience with similar types of sales of similar products, or inability to apply such experience because of changing circumstances, for example, changes in the selling enterprise's marketing policies or relationships with its customers 

d.
Absence of a large volume of relatively homogeneous transactions

The existence of one or more of the above factors, in light of the significance of other factors, may not be sufficient to prevent making a reasonable estimate; likewise, other factors may preclude a reasonable estimate.

FAS48, Footnote 2--This condition relates primarily to buyers that exist "on paper," that is, buyers that have little or no physical facilities or employees.  It prevents enterprises from recognizing sales revenue on transactions with parties that the sellers have established primarily for the purpose of recognizing such sales revenue.

FAS48, Footnote 3--Exchanges by ultimate customers of one item for another of the same kind, quality, and price (for example, one color or size for another) are not considered returns for purposes of this Statement."

 The general conceptual framework for revenue recognition is set forth in SFAC 5, paragraphs 83-84:

"83. …Revenues and gains of an enterprise during a period are generally measured by the exchange values of the assets (goods or services) or liabilities involved, and recognition involves consideration of two factors (a) being realized or realizable and (b) being earned, with sometimes one and sometimes the other being the more important consideration.

a.
Realized or realizable.  Revenues and gains generally are not recognized until realized or realizable.CON5, Foornote 50 Revenues and gains are realized when products (goods or services), merchandise, or other assets are exchanged for cash or claims to cash.  Revenues and gains are realizable when related assets received or held are readily convertible to known amounts of cash or claims to cash.  Readily convertible assets have (i) interchangeable (fungible) units and (ii) quoted prices available in an active market that can rapidly absorb the quantity held by the entity without significantly affecting the price.

b.
Earned.  Revenues are not recognized until earned.  An entity's revenue-earning activities involve delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or other activities that constitute its ongoing major or central operations,CON5, Footnote 51 and revenues are considered to have been earned when the entity has substantially accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the benefits represented by the revenues.  Gains commonly result from transactions and other events that involve no "earning process," and for recognizing gains, being earned is generally less significant than being realized or realizable.

84.
In recognizing revenues and gains:

a.
The two conditions (being realized or realizable and being earned) are usually met by the time product or merchandise is delivered or services are rendered to customers, and revenues from manufacturing and selling activities and gains and losses from sales of other assets are commonly recognized at time of sale (usually meaning delivery). CON5, Footnote 52 

b.
If sale or cash receipt (or both) precedes production and delivery (for example, magazine subscriptions), revenues may be recognized as earned by production and delivery.

c.
If product is contracted for before production, revenues may be recognized by a percentage-of-completion method as earned—as production takes place—provided reasonable estimates of results at completion and reliable measures of progress are available. CON5, Footnote 53 

d.
If services are rendered or rights to use assets extend continuously over time (for example, interest or rent), reliable measures based on contractual prices established in advance are commonly available, and revenues may be recognized as earned as time passes.

e.
If products or other assets are readily realizable because they are salable at reliably determinable prices without significant effort (for example, certain agricultural products, precious metals, and marketable securities), revenues and some gains or losses may be recognized at completion of production or when prices of the assets change.  Paragraph 83(a) describes readily realizable (convertible) assets.

f.
If product, services, or other assets are exchanged for nonmonetary assets that are not readily convertible into cash, revenues or gains or losses may be recognized on the basis that they have been earned and the transaction is completed.  Gains or losses may also be recognized if nonmonetary assets are received or distributed in nonreciprocal transactions.  Recognition in both kinds of transactions depends on the provision that the fair values involved can be determined within reasonable limits. CON5, Footnote 54 

g.
If collectibility of assets received for product, services, or other assets is doubtful, revenues and gains may be recognized on the basis of cash received. 

CON5, Footnote 50--The terms realized and realizable are used in the Board's conceptual framework in precise senses, focusing on conversion or convertibility of noncash assets into cash or claims to cash (Concepts Statement 3, par. 83).  Realized has sometimes been used in a different, broader sense:  for example, some have used that term to include realizable or to include certain conversions of noncash assets into other assets that are also not cash or claims to cash.  APB Statement 4, paragraphs 148-153, used the term realization even more broadly as a synonym for recognition.  

CON5, Footnote 51--"Most types of revenue are the joint result of many profit-directed activities of an enterprise and revenue is often described as being 'earned' gradually and continuously by the whole of enterprise activities.  Earning in this sense is a technical term that refers to the activities that give rise to the revenue--purchasing, manufacturing, selling, rendering service, delivering goods, allowing other entities to use enterprise assets, the occurrence of an event specified in a contract, and so forth.  All of the profit-directed activities of an enterprise that comprise the process by which revenue is earned may be called the earning process" (APB Statement 4, par. 149).  Concepts Statement 3, paragraph 64, footnote 31, contains the same concept. 

CON5, Footnote 52--The requirement that revenue be earned before it is recorded "usually causes no problems because the earning process is usually complete or nearly complete by the time of [sale]"  (APB Statement 4, par. 153).

CON5, Footnote 53--If production is long in relation to reporting periods, such as for long-term, construction-type contracts, recognizing revenues as earned has often been deemed to result in information that is significantly more relevant and representationally faithful than information based on waiting for delivery, although at the sacrifice of some verifiability.  (Concepts Statement 2, paragraphs 42-45, describes trade-offs of that kind.)

CON5, Footnote 54--APB Opinion 29."

Revenues are defined in SFAC 6:

"CON6, Highlights

— Revenues are inflows or other enhancements of assets of an entity or settlements of its liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or other activities that constitute the entity's ongoing major or central operations."

Revenue recognition interacts with the recording of costs and expenses, as well as the definition of product and period costs. Basically, product costs are inventoried. [Common examples of allocations include assigning manufacturing costs to production departments or cost centers and thence to units of product to determine "product cost." (Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts 6 Elements of Financial Statements, Paragraph 2).] Period costs are expensed as incurred. The concept of matching underlies accrual accounting, whereby expenses incurred are matched with revenues earned to communicate the link between revenues and activities necessary to generate such revenues. "In its broadest sense, matching refers to the entire process of income determination—described in paragraph 147 of APB Statement No. 4 as "identifying, measuring, and relating revenue and expenses of an enterprise for an accounting period."  Matching may also be used in a more limited sense to refer only to the process of expense recognition or in an even more limited sense to refer to the recognition of expenses by associating costs with revenue on a cause and effect basis." FAS 5 Accounting for Contingencies Paragraph 77. Revenue recognition requires professional judgment to be exercised within the framework of generally accepted accounting principles. This process permits estimations, expects attention to economic substance, and recognizes context matters.

In 2004, the SEC exerted pressure for domestic companies to disclose more details on how they recognize revenue, citing such recognition to have been a problem area. In 2006/2007 the FASB continues to direct attention to revenue recognition. In The FASB Report (Financial Accounting Series No. 285 October 2006), the Board described its "Revenue Recognition/Liability Extinguishment" project (pp. 6, 7) indicating it has identified two alternative models of revenue recognition -- a fair-value-based model and a customer consideration model -- about which agreement will be sought. A Preliminary Views document is expected in the fourth quarter of 2007. Check fasb.org for subsequent developments.

IDEA: Instructors will want to discuss developments in the past in the area of revenue recognition to bear out the role of judgment and changes that have evolved. The movie industry offers an example of extremely diverse revenue recognition practices. Consider the revenue anticipated from eventual sale of the movie to television. Some movie studios contended that the total revenue stream automatically included the television revenues and that the earnings process could be at such times as buying the script of a hit movie, hiring the box office stars that seemingly ensured success, signing the contract with the television network, shooting the movie, having the edited film complete, distributing the film to theaters, sending the film to the television network, or having the movie air on television. Each of these stages arguably represents substantial accomplishments toward the realization of the revenue stream tied to the eventual showing of the movie on television. As is usually the case, such diversity in practice led to increased guidance in the form of SFAS 53 Financial Reporting by Producers and Distributors of Motion Picture Films in December 1981 that was not superseded until 2000. As an example, this guidance prescribed that "Exhibition rights transferred under license agreements for television program material shall be accounted for like sales by the licensor." (Summary)  The sale shall be recognized by the licensor when the license period begins and certain specified conditions have been met: consensus was reached that the preferred point of substantial completion of the earnings process for television revenues for a particular film was when the film itself was delivered to the television network. It was recognized that at such a time the film was complete and available to the network. However, it was likewise recognized that contracts may not have included any cash payment schedule prior to delivery, they may restrict showing of the film on television until a considerable lapse of time, and they likely set a limit on the number of times a particular film can be shown. The wording found in SFAS 53, par. 6 follows:

"A licensor shall recognize revenue from a license agreement for television program material when the license period begins and all of the following conditions have been met:

a.
The license fee for each film is known.

b.
The cost of each film is known or reasonably determinable.

c.
Collectibility of the full license fee is reasonably assured.

d. The film has been accepted by the licensee in accordance with the conditions of the license agreement.

e.
The film is available for its first showing or telecast.  Unless a conflicting license prevents usage by the licensee, restrictions under the same license agreement or another license agreement with the same licensee on the timing of subsequent showings shall not affect this condition."

The Appendix A Glossary, paragraph 26 defines "License Agreement for Television Program Material":

"A typical license agreement for television program material covers several films (a package) and grants a broadcaster (licensee) the right to telecast either a specified number or an unlimited number of showings over a maximum period of time (license period) for a specified fee.  Ordinarily, the fee is paid in installments over a period  generally shorter than the license period.  The agreement usually contains a separate license for each film in the package.  The license expires at the earlier of the last allowed telecast or the end of the license period.  The licensee pays the required fee whether or not the rights are exercised.  If the licensee does not exercise the contractual rights, the rights revert to the licensor with no refund to the licensee.  The license period generally is not intended to provide continued use of the film throughout that period but rather to define a reasonable period of time within which the licensee can exercise the limited rights to use the film."

This licensing of movie viewing rights to a television network explains the enormous variety of earnings activities that merit consideration in approaching revenue recognition practices. Keep in mind that the television revenue is only one aspect of the total revenue streams being accounted for by a film studio--consider the bundle of revenue sources from the box office and those tied to endorsements, related merchandise and promotion events, and various pay per view arrangements with hotels, Internet providers, satellite, and cable programmers, as examples.

Of particular interest is the Dissent to FAS 86 that states: 

"In discussing the first point, the requirement in this Statement that either a detail program design or a working model be completed before capitalization can begin is likely to result in expensing most computer software costs, even though software is a significant, and often the only, revenue-generating asset of many companies.  Assessing the probability of future benefits from computer software is difficult in the software industry, but no more difficult than in some tangible output industries such as fashion clothing and oil and gas drilling, or even in other creative process industries such as motion pictures.  In each of these cases, capitalization of costs is accepted despite the inherent uncertainties."

In July 26, 2002, The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in its publication THE FASB REPORT--Financial Accounting Series No. 234-A, p. 16--explained why the Board proposed on January 9, 2002, a potential agenda project Issues Related to the Recognition of Revenues and Liabilities. In its explanations it describes activities of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF):

"Because no comprehensive standard on revenue recognition exists, there is a significant gap between the broad conceptual guidance in the FASB's Concepts Statements and the detailed guidance in the authoritative literature. Most of the authoritative literature provides detailed implementation guidance that applies to specific transactions or industries, and it has been developed largely on an ad hoc basis and issued in numerous pronouncements having differing degrees of authority. Each pronouncement focuses on a specific practice problem and has a narrow scope, and the guidance is not consistent across pronouncements.

The SEC sought to fill the gap in the accounting literature with Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, (issued in December 1999) and the companion document, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements--Frequently Asked Questions and Answers (issued in October 2000). SAB 101 reflects the SEC staff's view that the four basic criteria for revenue recognition in AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, should be a foundation for all basic revenue recognition principles. Some have criticized SAB 101 citing among other things that the criteria in SOP 97-2 were developed for a particular industry and that broader application of those criteria was neither contemplated nor intended.

The EITF has been asked to address a number of issues about both when and how much revenue should be recognized. While the EITF has been able to reach consensus on some issues, it has been unable to do so on others. Moreover, the EITF has been hampered in developing guidance in the absence of a general standard on revenue recognition on which to base its discussion and decisions. Lacking that, the EITF is in the position of having to make fundamental decisions about GAAP that have not been subject to the FASB's due process."

This background provides a vantage point regarding the evolution of revenue recognition standards. A related issue alluded to in the quote was added to the research agenda of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (Financial Accounting Standards Board, Financial Accounting Series No, 234-A July 26, 2002, THE FASB REPORT, p. 17):

"In January 20002, the Board agreed to undertake the following actions in response to concerns raised by constituents about the quantity, complexity, and lack of easy retrievability of the body of U.S. accounting literature including guidance issued by the EITF, AICPA, and SEC…."

In The FASB Report (Financial Accounting Series No. 285 October 2006), the Board described its Codification project and indicated the draft is not expected until late 2007 for an extended verification period (p. 15). See fasb.org for subsequent developments

(c) Describe how you would suggest finding accounting guidance within FARS relative to the disclosures associated with risks that are described in the SEC's litigation release. Be specific as to the search you perform and what you locate in terms of guidance. 

The SEC release makes reference to the disclosure of contracts, the acceleration of revenue, the allotment of shares on an initial public offering (IPO), false or  misleading conference calls, and problems with the completion of software development.

Using the FASB-OP (amended) infobase in FARS and advanced query finds a hit for the word false that identifies a similar issue as to whether clarity of financial picture results from the reporting approach, although the focus is for nonprofit entities:

FAS 124, par. 38: "Some respondents were concerned primarily about reporting unrealized changes in fair value in their financial statements.  Some that supported fair value measures said that changes in the fair values of securities should not be reported in the statement of activities until realized.  They argued that the volatility that results from reporting unrealized gains and losses in change in net assets is unrepresentative of the results of operations of the organization and presents a false picture of the organization's stewardship abilities. Other respondents that favored cost-based measures said that not-for-profit organizations invest for long-term returns that support program activities and that temporary fluctuations in market values are irrelevant to managing the organization or its investment portfolio.  They argued that fair value measures ignore those considerations.  In their view, fair value measures focus on the effects of transactions and events that do not involve the organization and report opportunity gains and losses that should not be recognized until realized." 

The advanced search misle* ties to mislead, misleading, and misled. The context of the word usually involves misleading inferences or implications, misleading comparisons, and misleading statements or results. CON 2, par. 162 specifically integrates the public company guidance of the SEC: 

"162.
Those who turn to SEC Regulation S-X for help in understanding the concept of materiality learn that a material matter is one "about which an average prudent investor ought reasonably to be informed" (Rule 1-02) and that material information is "such . . . information as is necessary to make the required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made not misleading" (Rule 3-06).  But those statements are not really definitions of materiality in that they provide only general guidance in distinguishing material from immaterial information."

Conference call only appears once and has to do with the FASB processes rather than the notion of disclosure practices via such a medium. The search of IPO has one hit that includes the definition of IPO as initial public offering and is found at FAS 128, par. 172. The phrase initial public offering identifies a dozen links, including: FAS 123(R), par. C25 which elaborates on the incidence of share-based compensation relative to IPO events: 

"C25.
In May 2004, the FASB Small Business Advisory Committee met in Connecticut to discuss, among other things, matters related to the accounting for share-based compensation.  During that meeting, committee members indicated that only a small percentage of small businesses issue share options, but they noted that behavior changes if the business plans to have an initial public offering.  In August 2004, the Board undertook additional cost-benefit procedures to obtain additional information related to the concerns of small businesses.  Interviews were conducted with various constituents, selected to provide a broad coverage of concerns related to small businesses.  Board members also met in both private and public sessions with representatives of small businesses, including the National Venture Capital Association and the AICPA’s Technical Issues Committee." FSP 123(R)-4 holds "a cash settlement feature that can be exercised only upon the occurrence of a contingent event that is outside the employee's control does not meet the condition in paragraphs 32 and A229 until it becomes probable that the event will occur." Footnote 18A is added to par. 32 of FAS 123(R) and specifically refers to "a contingent event that is outside the employee's control (such as an initial public offering)."

Literature to which instructors may with to direct their students' attention includes: "Existing Disclosure Challenges of IPO Allocations: A Research Report" (co-authored by Denise A. Jones and Wanda A. Wallace), Research in Accounting Regulation (Volume 18, 2005), pp. 107-126.

Using the advanced query phrase accelerat* of revenue identifies FTB90-1, par. 17 that states: 

"17. Some respondents commented that deferring the stated contract price is inappropriate because expected costs under the contract are insignificant relative to the contract price.  As a result, they commented that the balance sheet liability is significantly overstated.  However, paragraph 197 of Concepts Statement 6 states that prepayments for services to be provided qualify as liabilities because an entity is required to provide services to those who paid in advance.  This Technical Bulletin concludes that the stated price of the contract is the appropriate basis for deferral and rejects the viewpoint that revenue recognition should be accelerated because future contract costs are expected to be insignificant.  Revenue is earned over the period in which the enterprise is required to provide services." The precise content of CON 6, par. 197 follows: "Deposits and prepayments received for goods or services to be provided—"unearned revenues," such as subscriptions or rent collected in advance—likewise qualify as liabilities under the definition because an entity is required to provide goods or services to those who have paid in advance.  They are mentioned separately from other liabilities only because they have commonly been described in the accounting literature and financial statements as "deferred credits" or "reserves."  Comments on the Discussion Memorandum and earlier Exposure Drafts have manifested some misunderstanding: some respondents apparently concluded that all or most "deferred credits" and "reserves" were precluded by the definition of liabilities." 
Use of the advanced query phrase complet* software develop* has 15 hits on the FASB-OP (amended) infobase). They all tie to FAS 86 and the associated Implementation Guide Q&A. The FAS 86 Summary specifically states: 

"This Statement specifies that costs incurred internally in creating a computer software product shall be charged to expense when incurred as research and development until technological feasibility has been established for the product.  Technological feasibility is established upon completion of a detail program design or, in its absence, completion of a working model.  Thereafter, all software production costs shall be capitalized and subsequently reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value.  Capitalized costs are amortized based on current and future revenue for each product with an annual minimum equal to the straight-line amortization over the remaining estimated economic life of the product." 

Paragraphs 4 and 5 of FAS 86 elaborate: 

"a.
If the process of creating the computer software product includes a detail program design:

(1)
The product design and the detail program design have been completed, and the enterprise has established that the necessary skills, hardware, and software technology are available to the enterprise to produce the product.

(2)
The completeness of the detail program design and its consistency with the product design have been confirmed by documenting and tracing the detail program design to product specifications.

(3)
The detail program design has been reviewed for high-risk development issues (for example, novel, unique, unproven functions and features or technological innovations), and any uncertainties related to identified high-risk development issues have been resolved through coding and testing.

b.
If the process of creating the computer software product does not include a detail program design with the features identified in (a) above:

(1)
A product design and a working model of the software product have been completed.

(2)
The completeness of the working model and its consistency with the product design have been confirmed by testing.

FAS86, Par. 5

5.
Costs of producing product masters incurred subsequent to establishing technological feasibility shall be capitalized.  Those costs include coding and testing performed subsequent to establishing technological feasibility.  Software production costs for computer software that is to be used as an integral part of a product or process shall not be capitalized until both (a) technological feasibility has been established for the software and (b) all research and development activities for the other components of the product or process have been completed."

Paragraph 23 of FAS 86 explains that changes were made between the Exposure Draft and the final pronouncement: 

"23.
After considering the comment letters and testimony received, the Board concluded that a final Statement should be issued.  The principal changes in this Statement from the Exposure Draft are:

a.
Completion of a detail program design or, if a company's software product process does not include a detail program design activity, completion of a working model is the minimum requirement to establish technological feasibility.  The minimum requirement to establish technological feasibility under the Exposure Draft was the completion of a product design.

b.
All software creation costs incurred prior to establishing technological feasibility are charged to expense when incurred as research and development costs.  Under the Exposure Draft, the costs of coding and testing after establishing technological feasibility but prior to demonstrating recoverability would have been charged to expense as other than research and development.

c.
All software creation costs incurred subsequent to establishing technological feasibility are capitalized and reported at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  The Exposure Draft would have required capitalization of software production costs after meeting recoverability criteria consisting of technological, market, and financial feasibility and management commitment, with capitalized costs reviewed periodically for recoverability." 

IDEA: The front page of the Wall Street Journal on January 20-21, 2007 (Sat/Sun edition) reported that Apple had cited accounting rules as the reason for imposing a fee to download a software enhancement and that accounting experts were rejecting such reasoning. The detailed story is on page B3 by David Reilly and is entitled "Apple Gets a Bruise by Blaming a $1.99 Fee on Accounting Rules." Encourage students to read the account because a number of points are made regarding GAAP for software revenue recognition. A sort of Catch-22 is asserted whereby (1) since the company did not have a market price for the enhancement, it was unable to quantify an amount for deferred revenue at the time the computers were sold; (2) the alternative to no market price would defer all revenue associated with the time of sale until the enhancement was distributed; and (3) an absence of revenue from the enhancement at the time of distribution could serve as a basis for auditors' insistence on a restatement of past reported revenues, in reflection of that portion of the revenue that should have been deferred due to its relationship to the enhancement. Consider these points in disclosures by the company, as well as the article's discussion of various parties' related viewpoints.

•Exercise F - Identify the Acronym - Internet Puzzle

#
Across
Down

1

Bank for International Settlement's Committee on the Global Financial System

2

Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts

3
Government Finance Officers Association


4

International City Management Association

5

FASB Interpretation

6

Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

7

Financial Accounting Research System

8
Healthcare Financial Management Association


9
Internal Revenue Service


10

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

11

Certified Public Accountant

12
Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council


13
National Council on Governmental Accounting
National Council on Governmental Accounting Interpretation

14
Accounting Series Release


15

Regulatory Accepted Accounting Principles

16
Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards


17

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

18
structured query language or structured English query language


19
The Government Accounting Standards Advisory Council
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Concepts Statements

20
The International Association of Insurance Supervisors


21

International Accounting Standards Board

22

The National Association of State Auditors, Comptrollers and Treasurers

23
International Standard on Auditing


24

National Association of Local Government Auditors

25
Accounting Principles Board


26
National Association of State Boards of Accountancy


27
International Accounting Standards
International Federation of Accountants

28
Accounting Principles Board Opinions


29
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Interpretations


30
AICPA Accounting Interpretation
American Accounting Association

31
Council of Institutional Investors


32

International Monetary Fund

33
Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements
Statement on Auditing Standards

34

Emerging Issues Task Force

35
North American Industry Classification System (successor to SIC)


36

Statement of Position issued by the AICPA (stopped in 2003)

37
International Auditing Practice Statements


38

Standards Advisory Council (to the IASB)

39
SEC's Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release


40

Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System (SEC filings at sec.gov)

41
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards
SEC's Staff Accounting Bulletin

42
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991


43

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

44

Association for Investment Management and Research (renamed May 2004 to CFA Institute)

45

Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts

46
Governmental Accounting Standards Board staff Technical Bulletins


47

Technical Information Service

48

Bank for International Settlements

49
Financial Accounting Foundation


50

Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

51
The Institute of Internal Auditors


52

Accounting Research Bulletin

53
American Institute of Accountants


54

Association of Certified Fraud Examiners

55
FASB's Financial Accounting Research System


56

Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of  Certified Public Accountants 

57

United States Securities and Exchange Commission

58
Institutional Shareholder Services


59
Investor Responsibility Research Center


60
European Commission or European Community (since 1993)


61
International Organization of Securities Commissions
Institute of Management Accountants (predecessor was NAA)

62

Office of Management and Budget

63
Standard Industry Classification (predecessor of NAICS); also Special Investigation Committee of the SECPS of the AICPA


64

Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position

65
Financial Reporting Release issued by the SEC


66

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' data base incorporating auditing standards, audit and accounting guides, and associated guidance

67
eXtensible Business Reporting Language


68

Regulatory Accepted Accounting Principles

69
International Consortium for Government Financial Management
International Accounting Standards Committee (predecessor of IASB)

70

Management's Discussion and Analysis

71

National Council on Governmental Accounting Statements


72
Public Oversight Board (dissolved - preceded the PCAOB)


73

AICPA's Codification of Auditing Standards

74
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts


75
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the IASB

76

Weighted Average Cost of Capital

77
National Association of College and University Business Officers


78

Discounted Cash Flows

79
Committee on Accounting Procedures


80

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

81
National Association of Accountants (predecessor of IMA)
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

82
Quality Control Inquiry Committee


83
Securities Industry Association


84

Accounting and Auditing Policy Committee

85
Regulation Fair Disclosure -- requirements of the SEC


86

Derivatives Implementation Group

87
AICPA Industry Audit Guide for State and Local Governments


88
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission


89

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

90
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
Over-the-Counter

91
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Academy of Accounting Historians

92

Cost Accounting Standards Board

93

American Stock Exchange (also AMEX)

94
Association for Budgeting and Financial Management
Association of Government Accountants

95

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

96
Financial Times
Financial Executives International

97
Chartered Financial Analyst
Cost Accounting Standards

98
Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of  Certified Public Accountants that issued SOPs


99

Certified Internal Auditor

100
Inspector general


101
European Economic Community (consolidated in 1967 to form EC)


102
APB Statement (descriptive, rather than prescriptive)


103
Auditing Standards Board
Accounting Technical Bulletin

104
query-by-example
FASB Staff Implementation Guide

105
Arbitrage Pricing Theory


106

Private Companies Practice Section of AICPA

107
Association for Budgeting and Financial Management


108
SEC Practice Section of the Division for CPA Firms of AICPA


109

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 [Consider how and why pressures arise at times to change acronyms -- SOX relative to SOA!]

110
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 [Consider how and why pressures arise at times to change acronyms -- SOX relative to SOA!]


The Blank Crossword Puzzle Format that Accompanies the following Listing format is provided to permit its "forward" use, in contrast to the acronym "work backwards" format of the Mastery assignment. 

Check Your Acronym Acumen!
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#
Across

3
Government Finance Officers Association

8
Healthcare Financial Management Association

9
Internal Revenue Service

12
Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council

13
National Council on Governmental Accounting

14
Accounting Series Release

16
Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards

18
structured query language or structured English query language

19
The Government Accounting Standards Advisory Council

20
The International Association of Insurance Supervisors

23
International Standard on Auditing

25
Accounting Principles Board

26
National Association of State Boards of Accountancy

27
International Accounting Standards

28
Accounting Principles Board Opinions

29
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Interpretations

30
AICPA Accounting Interpretation

31
Council of Institutional Investors

33
Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements

35
North American Industry Classification System (successor to SIC)

37
International Auditing Practice Statements

39
SEC's Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release

41
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards

42
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991

46
Governmental Accounting Standards Board staff Technical Bulletins

49
Financial Accounting Foundation

51
The Institute of Internal Auditors

53
American Institute of Accountants

55
FASB's Financial Accounting Research System

58
Institutional Shareholder Services

59
Investor Responsibility Research Center

60
European Commission or European Community (since 1993)

61
International Organization of Securities Commissions

63
Standard Industry Classification (predecessor of NAICS); 

              also Special Investigation Committee of  the SECPS of the AICPA

65
Financial Reporting Release issued by the SEC

67
eXtensible Business Reporting Language

69
International Consortium for Government Financial Management

72
Public Oversight Board (dissolved - preceded the PCAOB)

74
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts

75
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

77
National Association of College and University Business Officers

79
Committee on Accounting Procedures

81
National Association of Accountants (predecessor of IMA)

82
Quality Control Inquiry Committee

83
Securities Industry Association

85
Regulation Fair Disclosure -- requirements of the SEC

87
AICPA Industry Audit Guide for State and Local Governments

88
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

90
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

91
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

94
Association for Budgeting and Financial Management

96
Financial Times

97
Chartered Financial Analyst

98
AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee that issued SOPs

100
Inspector general

101
European Economic Community (consolidated in 1967 to form EC)

102
APB Statement (descriptive, rather than prescriptive)

103
Auditing Standards Board

104
query-by-example

105
Arbitrage Pricing Theory

107
Association for Budgeting and Financial Management

108
SEC Practice Section of the Division for CPA Firms of AICPA

110
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

#
Down

1
Bank for International Settlement's Committee on the Global Financial System

2
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts

4
International City Management Association

5
FASB Interpretation

6
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

7
Financial Accounting Research System

10
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

11
Certified Public Accountant

13
National Council on Governmental Accounting Interpretation

15
Regulatory Accepted Accounting Principles

17
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

19
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Concepts Statements

21
International Accounting Standards Board

22
The National Association of State Auditors, Comptrollers and Treasurers

24
National Association of Local Government Auditors

27
International Federation of Accountants

30
American Accounting Association

32
International Monetary Fund

33
Statement on Auditing Standards

34
Emerging Issues Task Force

36
Statement of Position issued by the AICPA (stopped in 2003)

38
Standards Advisory Council (to the IASB)

40
Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System (SEC filings at sec.gov)

41
SEC's Staff Accounting Bulletin

43
The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

44
Association for Investment Management and Research (renamed May 2004 to CFA Institute)

45
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts

47
Technical Information Service

48
Bank for International Settlements

50
Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

52
Accounting Research Bulletin

54
Association of Certified Fraud Examiners

56
Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of  Certified Public

               Accountants 

57
United States Securities and Exchange Commission

61
Institute of Management Accountants (predecessor was NAA)

62
Office of Management and Budget

64
Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position

66
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' data base incorporating auditing standards, 

               audit and accounting guides, and associated guidance

68
Regulatory Accepted Accounting Principles

69
International Accounting Standards Committee (predecessor of IASB)

70
Management's Discussion and Analysis

71
National Council on Governmental Accounting Statements


73
AICPA's Codification of Auditing Standards

75
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the IASB

76
Weighted Average Cost of Capital

78
Discounted Cash Flows

80
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

81
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

84
Accounting and Auditing Policy Committee

86
Derivatives Implementation Group

89
The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

90
Over-the-Counter

91
Academy of Accounting Historians

92
Cost Accounting Standards Board

93
American Stock Exchange (also AMEX)

94
Association of Government Accountants

95
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

96
Financial Executives International

97
Cost Accounting Standards

99
Certified Internal Auditor

103
Accounting Technical Bulletin

104
FASB Staff Implementation Guide

106
Private Companies Practice Section of AICPA

109
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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		SOP 98-1		Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use		issued March 1998
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US-TENF

		US and Canadian historical stock prices and US indices prices provided by CSI, Inc.

		US historical mutual fund and industry prices provided by Media General Financial Services.

		International stock prices and International indices prices provided by Interactive Data Corporation.

		Tenfold Corp (US:TENF)

		Monthly prices
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		May-06		0.35		241900

		Apr-06		0.38		721100

		Mar-06		0.3		523700

		Feb-06		0.4		938800

		Jan-06		0.22		508500

		Dec-05		0.21		2405800

		Nov-05		0.3		1617200

		Oct-05		0.31		474000

		Sep-05		0.39		248700

		Aug-05		0.4		423400

		Jul-05		0.31		356800

		Jun-05		0.36		479400

		May-05		0.4		1961100

		Apr-05		0.39		716700

		Mar-05		0.6		2962300

		Feb-05		0.41		3070200

		Jan-05		0.95		915000

		Dec-04		0.9		1388900

		Nov-04		1.03		2604300

		Oct-04		0.98		1709100

		Sep-04		1.35		877500

		Aug-04		1.3		1701400

		Jul-04		1.11		860700

		Jun-04		1.27		2046600

		May-04		1.75		1183400

		Apr-04		1.95		1828100

		Mar-04		2.67		1363400

		Feb-04		3.25		2647100

		Jan-04		4.12		5213800

		Dec-03		3.26		4382800

		Nov-03		2.13		1565400

		Oct-03		2.4		3059300

		Sep-03		1.97		1713200

		Aug-03		1.5		4178700

		Jul-03		2.43		2115900

		Jun-03		2.3		3915500

		May-03		1.92		4390000

		Apr-03		0.6		1216600

		Mar-03		0.29		782400

		Feb-03		0.2		231900

		Jan-03		0.21		509700

		Dec-02		0.14		726400

		Nov-02		0.25		1201100

		Oct-02		0.09		437300

		Sep-02		0.12		317100

		Aug-02		0.15		316600

		Jul-02		0.2		264200

		Jun-02		0.37		357400

		May-02		0.47		782500

		Apr-02		0.5		561300

		Mar-02		0.57		980100

		Feb-02		0.38		1153100

		Jan-02		0.53		471200

		Dec-01		0.66		1206500

		Nov-01		0.54		604500

		Oct-01		0.71		455400

		Sep-01		0.95		871600

		Aug-01		0.8		2020400

		Jul-01		1.47		1467600

		Jun-01		0.43		885900

		May-01		0.43		1621900

		Apr-01		0.37		1657100

		Mar-01		0.3125		1847800

		Feb-01		2		556000

		Jan-01		2.6875		1962200

		Dec-00		1.5		3248700

		Nov-00		1.28125		1739400

		Oct-00		4.3125		1310200

		Sep-00		4.4375		2329300

		Aug-00		6.75		3019300

		Jul-00		9.0625		12663400

		Jun-00		16.4375		6405000

		May-00		17.4375		4125500

		Apr-00		25.5625		4826300

		Mar-00		60.5		3758900

		Feb-00		50.1875		5663300

		Jan-00		42.9375		3232400

		Dec-99		39.9375		4446700

		Nov-99		30.125		3955700

		Oct-99		23.5		3393100

		Sep-99		26.5		994200

		Aug-99		27.3125		1078400

		Jul-99		27.75		2360200

		Jun-99		31.75		2722200

		May-99		27.125		7809200






